Public Document Pack

Notice of meeting and agenda

Regulatory Committee
2.00 pm Thursday, 31st March, 2022

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the webcast
live on the Council’s website.

The law allows the Council to consider some issues in private. Any items under “Private
Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be recorded in the minute.

Contacts
Email: rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk / matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk
Tel: 0131 529 4107

*€DINBVRGH-*

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL




1. Order of Business

1.1 Including any notices of motion and any other items of business
submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting.

2. Declaration of Interests

21 Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests
they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying
the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest.

3. Deputations

3.1 If any.

4. Minutes

4.1 Minute of the Regulatory Committee of 28 February 2022 — 5-8
submitted for approval as a correct record

5. Rolling Actions Log

5.1 None.

6. Business Bulletin

6.1 None.

7. Executive Decisions

71 Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 — Sexual 9-136
Entertainment Venues — Proposed Resolution, Policy and
Conditions — Update — Report by the Executive Director of Place

7.2 Short Term Lets: New Licensing Powers Consultation — Report by 137 - 144
the Executive Director of Place

7.3 Animal Welfare Regulations — Report by the Executive Director of 145-170

Place

Regulatory Committee - 31 March 2022

Page 2 of 4



7.4 Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance Indicators 171 - 188
as at 26 January 2022 - Referral from the Governance, Risk and
Best Value Committee

8. Routine Decisions

8.1 None.

9. Motions

9.1 None.

Nick Smith

Service Director, Legal and Assurance

Committee Members

Councillor Catherine Fullerton (Convener), Councillor Denis Dixon (Vice-Convener),
Councillor Scott Arthur, Councillor Max Mitchell, Councillor Joanna Mowat, Councillor
Susan Rae, Councillor Cameron Rose, Councillor Neil Ross and Councillor Donald
Wilson

Information about the Regulatory Committee

The Regulatory Committee consists of 9 Councillors and is appointed by the City of
Edinburgh Council.

This meeting of the Regulatory Committee is being held virtually by Microsoft Teams.

Further information

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact
Rachel Gentleman, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Business Centre
2.1, Waverley Court, 4 East Market Street, Edinburgh EH8 8BG, Tel 0131 529 4107,
email rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk / matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk.

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council
committees can be viewed online by going to the Council’s online Committee Library.

Live and archived webcasts for this meeting and all main Council committees can be
viewed online by going to the Council’s Webcast Portal.

Regulatory Committee - 31 March 2022 Page 3 0of 4


https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Webcasting of Council meetings

Please note this meeting may be filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the
Council’s internet site — at the start of the meeting the Convener will confirm if all or part
of the meeting is being filmed.

The Council is a Data Controller under current Data Protection legislation. We
broadcast Council meetings to fulfil our public task obligation to enable members of the
public to observe the democratic process. Data collected during this webcast will be
retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy including, but not limited to,
for the purpose of keeping historical records and making those records available via the
Council’s internet site.

Any information presented by individuals to the Council at a meeting, in a deputation or
otherwise, in addition to forming part of a webcast that will be held as a historical
record, will also be held and used by the Council in connection with the relevant matter
until that matter is decided or otherwise resolved (including any potential appeals and
other connected processes). Thereafter, that information will continue to be held as
part of the historical record in accordance with the paragraphs above.

If you have any queries regarding this, and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or
storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial
damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services
(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk).

Regulatory Committee - 31 March 2022 Page 4 of 4



Regulatory Committee
9.30am, Monday 28 February 2022

Present

Councillors Fullerton (Convener), Dixon (Vice-Convener), Arthur, Mitchell, Rose, Neil
Ross and Wilson.

1. Minutes

Decision

To approve the minute of the Regulatory Committee of 2 December 2021 as a correct
record.

2. Rolling Actions Log

The Regulatory Committee Rolling Actions Log for February 2022 was submitted.
Decision
1) To agree to close the following actions:
e Action 5 — Licensing Service — COVID-19 Recovery Plan
e Action 6 — Raising HMO Standards — Response to Motion
2) To otherwise note the remaining outstanding actions.
(Reference — Rolling Actions Log, submitted.)

3. Business Bulletin

The Regulatory Committee Business Bulletin for December 2021 was submitted.
Decision
1) To note the Business Bulletin.

2) To thank the Convener for writing to the Minister for Social Security and Local
Government.

3) To note and welcome the response received from the Minister and look forward
to proposals to address this issue.

4) To note a report would be brought back to a future meeting of the Culture and
Communities Committee to address the above and the implementation of parts
(h) and (i) of the motion concerning engagement with buskers and reporting by
residents approved by Council on 28 October 2021.

Page 5 *€EDINBVRGH:

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL




(Reference — Business Bulletin, submitted.)

4. Houses in Multiple Occupation — Raising HMO Standards

Information was provided to the Committee in response to a motion by Councillor Neil
Ross to Council on 28 October 2021 which sought landlord and letting agent standards
in Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) licensing to be improved. The report
presented the intentions of the Licensing Service to improve these standards as well as
an update on the review of the existing HMO licence application fee structure.

Decision

1) To note the advice contained in the report and agree that officers should develop
a best practice guide for licence holders and agents.

2) To agree to separately consult on whether conditions 011 and 012 of the House
in Multiple Occupation standard conditions should be amended to require
licence holders, and agents acting on their behalf, to provide adjoining properties
with emergency contact details annually.

3) To note that a further report reviewing the existing HMO licence application fee
structure and a future work programme for the Committee to consider its
priorities would be developed and submitted to a future meeting following the
local government elections.

4) To share the proposed consultation questions with Committee members prior to
launching the public consultation.

(Reference — Report by the Executive Director of Place, submitted.)

5. Demand for Taxi Licences

Proposals on how new taxi licence applications would be considered and determined in
advance of grant or refusal were presented to the Committee for approval.

Decision
1) To note the content of the report.

2) To note that, on 8 March 2021, the Committee agreed to maintain the limitation
policy and to fix the number of available licences at 1,316.

3) To note that no change was proposed to the limit of 1,316 on the number of taxis
to be licensed in the city.

4) To agree that for new taxi vehicle licences:

1. Applicants would be required to provide details of a compliant
vehicle on the application form and pay the required fee.

2. Applications would be processed and determined in the
chronological order received.

3. Applications would be determined by officers, provided that there
were no objections and that granting of the licence would not
increase the number of licences beyond the limit of 1,316.

Regulatory Committee — 28 February 2022 Page 2 of 3

Page 6



(Reference — Report by the Executive Director of Place, submitted.)

6. Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance
Indicators as at 5 November 2021

The Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee had referred a report on Internal
Audit Overdue Findings and Key Performance Indicators as at 5 November 2021 for
information.

Decision
To note the report.

(References — Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee, 14 December 2021 (item
5); report by the Executive Director of Corporate Services, submitted.)

Regulatory Committee — 28 February 2022 Page 3 of 3

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7.1

Regulatory Committee

2.00pm, Thursday, 31 March 2022

Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 — Sexual
Entertainment Venues — Proposed Resolution, Policy
and Conditions — Update

Executive/routine
Wards All
Council Commitments

1. Recommendations

1.1 Regulatory Committee is asked to:

1.1.1 Agree to resolve that Schedule 2 of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982
(‘the 1982 Act’) shall be effective within the City of Edinburgh for the purpose
of licensing Sexual Entertainment Venues and to make a resolution to license
Sexual Entertainment Venues (as set out at Appendix 11) from 1 April 2023,
and accordingly to adopt a scheme to license Sexual Entertainment Venues in
terms of the 1982 Act from the said date thereafter;

1.1.2 Note that, if 1.1.1 above is agreed, Committee is required to determine a
Sexual Entertainment Venues number appropriate for the City of Edinburgh
Council area and to produce and publish a Sexual Entertainment Venue
Licensing Policy for the said area all in terms of the 1982 Act;

1.1.3 Note the updated advice received from officers in respect of what should be
considered if the Committee introduces a limit for the number of Sexual
Entertainment Venues permitted to operate in Edinburgh and to determine the
number from the two options set out in paragraphs 4.16 — 4.30;

1.1.4 Agree to the proposed Sexual Entertainment Venues licensing policy
statement set out at Appendix 9;

1.1.5 Agree that the policy shall include a statement that any area in the city other
than in the city centre ward will not be considered suitable for the operation of
a Sexual Entertainment Venue;

Page 9



1.1.6 Agree to the proposed standard licensing conditions for Sexual Entertainment
Licences set out at Appendix 10; and

1.1.7 Note that, if recommendations 1.1.1 — 1.1.2 and 1.1.4 — 1.1.6 are approved,
officers will advertise the resolution and publish the Licensing Policy
Statement as required in terms of the 1982 Act.

Paul Lawrence
Executive Director of Place
Contact: Andrew Mitchell, Head of Regulatory Services

E-mail: | Tel: 0131 469 4208

Page 10



Report

Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 — Sexual
Entertainment Venues — Proposed Resolution, Policy
and Conditions - Update

2. Executive Summary

2.1  The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 (‘the 2015 Act’) adds new
sections to the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (‘the 1982 Act’), enabling local
authorities to introduce a discretionary licensing system for sexual entertainment
venues (‘SEVS’). In October 2019, the Regulatory Committee (‘Committee’) agreed in
principle to introduce a licensing system for SEVs and instructed officers to prepare
draft licensing conditions and a licensing policy statement for consultation.

2.2 Two public consultations on a proposed resolution, policy and licensing conditions
framework have previously taken place. Additionally, Committee held three evidence
sessions with public sector partners, stakeholders, owners and performers of
venues.

2.3 In December 2021, Committee agreed to continue consideration of the introduction
of a SEVs licensing scheme, resolution, SEV licensing policy and licence conditions.

2.4  This report recommends that Committee agrees to make a SEV licensing resolution,
and thereafter determines the limit on the number of SEV premises permitted to
operate in Edinburgh and adopts a SEV policy statement and standard licensing
conditions. In particular, this report provides further advice to Committee in respect
of issues which should be considered if Committee is minded to make a resolution
and thereafter determines the limit on the number of SEV premises permitted to
operate in Edinburgh.

3. Background

3.1  Section 76 of the 2015 Act adds new sections (45A to 45C) to the 1982 Act, in order
to introduce a discretionary licensing regime for SEVs. Section 76 also amends
section 41 of the 1982 Act to specifically exclude SEVs from the definition of ‘places
of public entertainment’, meaning that a public entertainment licence cannot also be
required for those venues. A SEV licence will only be required where a local authority
makes a resolution to license SEVs under the new section 45B of the 1982 Act.

Page 11



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

On 21 March 2019, a Commencement Order was laid before the Scottish Parliament
which provided local authorities with the necessary powers to introduce a
discretionary licensing regime for SEVs.

The key aims of civic licensing are the preservation of public safety and the
prevention of crime and disorder. A specific licensing regime for SEVs allows local
authorities to promote these aims by considering local circumstances and being able
to exercise appropriate control and regulation of SEVs, including setting the number
of venues able to operate within their areas. In terms of the 1982 Act, a published
SEVs policy statement will be required which sets out how the Council will promote
the statutory licensing objectives detailed in the 1982 Act, along with how the
licensing scheme will operate within the Council’s area. It should include examples of
licensing conditions, together with details of how the licensing scheme will be
enforced. The policy should also demonstrate how the local authority intends to help
protect the safety and wellbeing of performers, customers and the wider public.

Where a local authority opts to license SEVS, the provisions at section 45A of the
1982 Act require a SEV licence for premises where the sexual entertainment is
operated live, is for the direct or indirect financial benefit of the organiser, and is for
the sole or principal purpose of sexual stimulation of members of the audience.

The Scottish Government published guidance on 28 March 2019 called '‘Guidance on
the Provisions for Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues and Changes to
Licensing of Theatres (‘the guidance’) (Appendix 13). The guidance states that local
authorities are best placed to reflect the views of the communities that they serve, to
determine whether SEVs should be licensed within their areas, and if so, under what
conditions and the limit on the numbers. The guidance requires licensing authorities
to balance this consideration against other legal duties and guidance. The guidance
refers to legislation including the EU Services Directive, the Regulatory Reform
(Scotland) Act 2014 and the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR). The
guidance explains that local authorities have to consider the rights SEV operators
may have under Article 1, Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of possessions and Article
10 (freedom of expression) of the ECHR. Article 1, Protocol 1 is engaged where
there are already premises operating as SEVs prior to the Council resolving to
license SEVs and to introduce a licensing scheme. The guidance explains that the
rights of SEVs under the ECHR should be balanced against the human rights of
others.

A local authority licensing SEVs will have to publish a SEV policy statement,
developed in consultation with such persons or bodies as the local authority
considers appropriate (this is likely to include violence against women partnerships,
trade organisations and other similar groups). The SEV policy statement is intended
to provide local communities with a clear indication of the local authority’s policy. As
set out in the 1982 Act, in preparing a SEV policy statement, a local authority must
consider the impact of licensing SEVs, and in particular to have regard to how it will
affect the objectives of:

3.6.1 Preventing public nuisance, crime and disorder;

Page 12



3.7

3.8

3.6.2 Securing public safety;
3.6.3 Protecting children and young people from harm; and
3.6.4 Reducing violence against women.

Appendix 9 sets out the proposed policy for the licensing of SEVS and Appendix 10
details the proposed set of standard conditions for the licensing and regulation of
SEVs, following consideration of the consultation responses and the impact that
licensing SEVs will have on the licensing objectives set out in the 1982 Act. Appendix
11 sets out the proposed resolution.

In considering whether to make a SEV licensing resolution and developing a policy
and licensing conditions framework, Committee has held two rounds of public
consultation on whether to license SEVs, and if so the terms of the policy statement
and appropriate conditions in relation to the implementation of a licensing scheme.
Furthermore, Committee held a series of evidence sessions with relevant
stakeholders and interested parties. Details of all consultation undertaken are
included at Appendix 14.

Main report

4.1

4.2

4.3

As directed by Committee following its consideration of a report on 2 December
2021, officers have liaised with colleagues in Legal Services in order to provide
further advice on the issues to consider when deciding whether to license SEVs, and
if so, thereafter determining the appropriate limit on the number of SEVs in
Edinburgh. Set out below are the issues which Committee should take into account,
when considering the proposed resolution and, if minded to agree this, the
determination of an appropriate numbers limitation, terms of the licensing policy
statement to be published, and standard conditions to be applied to licences.

Adopting a Licensing System

As previously reported to Committee in December 2021 (see section 8), it is clear
from consultation responses that there is significant support for the introduction of a
licensing system for SEVs. The initial public consultation on the issue of SEV
licensing showed that 65% of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that the
Council should license SEVs. The Committee will also be aware that Police Scotland,
operators and performers have been supportive of this, arguing that it would make
venues better regulated and safer. These themes link directly to the key aims of the
1982 Act and are consistent with the specific licensing objectives regarding SEVs set
out in the 1982 Act and at paragraph 3.6 above.

It is clear from the consultation process that parties who are generally against the
operation of SEVs also agree that the Council should license SEVs. However, whilst
they support the Council adopting a licensing scheme, they would like the Council to
fix the number of SEVs in the city at zero.

Page 13



4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

Separately, the operators of venues and performers appearing in the venues are also
generally supportive of the introduction of a licensing scheme. They have, however,
raised concerns about their right to continue operations without unnecessary
interference in what is currently a legal activity. They are therefore strongly opposed
to the Council setting a limit of zero for the number of SEVs in the city.

In deciding whether to pass a resolution, a local authority should consider whether it
will wish to control SEVs either now or in the future. Each of the four premises
currently operating in the city which would be defined as a SEV, hold Premises
Licences under the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 for the sale of alcohol and are
overseen by the Edinburgh Licensing Board in that regard. If there is no resolution in
place, then no licence is required to operate a SEV. If the Council does not adopt this
discretionary power, SEVs will continue to operate without any direct regulation from
the Council in relation to sexual entertainment.

Resolving to license SEVs will result in such premises being subject to further
regulation and will give the Council additional powers to regulate SEV premises in
areas such as performer and customer safety, along with the further powers to
address concerns from residents or neighbours. The introduction of regulation will
also assist the Council to contribute further to limiting the risk of criminality and
human trafficking within the city. Clear support from a wider range of respondents for
the introduction of a licensing scheme has been consistent throughout the
consultation process, although there are different views as to how it should be
applied in terms of the number of premises able to operate.

For the reasons set out above, it is recommended that Committee agree to adopt a
resolution and to introduce a SEV licensing system. Committee is asked to note that
these reasons include: (1) the clear support for a SEV licensing system from the
majority of respondents to the consultation; (2) that a decision to license would be
consistent with the licensing objectives in the 1982 Act, in particular (but not limited
to) for the purposes of preventing crime and disorder and improving public safety as
set out in paragraph 3.6 above; and (3) the introduction of a SEV licensing system is
a proportionate way of achieving the licensing objectives.

Requirement to set an appropriate number of licensed SEVs

Should Committee make a resolution to introduce a licensing scheme for SEVs, the
Council will have to set a limit on the number of SEV premises permitted in the city.
Any decision made by Committee in respect of determining a limit on the number of
licensed SEVs in Edinburgh must be based on an assessment of the evidence
gathered. This would include information from the consultation exercises which took
place in 2019 and 2021, and evidence sessions with stakeholders, in addition to any
other relevant material contained within previous Committee reports on this issue.

Members must also consider the legislative requirements, the guidance, and the
Scottish Government's strategy ‘Equally Safe; Scotland’s strategy for preventing and
eradicating violence against women and girls’.

Page 14



4.10

411

4.12

4.13

4.14

Consultation has shown that there is a broad range of views with respect to the
setting of limits on SEV premises in the city generally, and in certain localities in
particular. The consultation responses demonstrated that views on what any limit
should be are polarised. Some responses have advocated that a zero limit should be
introduced, which would create a rebuttable presumption against granting any SEV
licence. Other respondents clearly favour no limit being introduced on the number of
premises. As noted in the December 2021 report:

e 44.5% agreed or strongly agreed that there should be a limit on the number of
SEVs;

e 37% agreed or strongly agreed that there should be no limit on the number of
SEVs;

e When asked what number any limit should be set at, 20% said zero but 40% said
that there should be no limit;

e When asked what the limit should be, no option other than ‘zero’ and ‘no limit’
received more than 8% support.

Members will recall that the previous consultation in 2019 found that 61% of
respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that the Council should set a maximum
number for SEVs in certain localities. 31% disagreed or strongly disagreed. The 2019
consultation had a response rate of 806, much higher than the 2021 consultation
which had a response rate of 89.

Committee will be aware of evidence about the operation of the SEVs currently
operating in the city, and has heard from Police Scotland and Licensing Standards
Officers that these premises are generally operating without issues.

Committee members will also recall some of the evidence that they have heard,
including responses to the most recent consultation, which argued strongly that the
limit should be set at zero as sexual entertainment contributes directly to gender
inequality and is contrary to the policy objectives set out in the Equally Safe Strategy.

The tension between potentially licensing SEVs, including permitting a number to
operate, and these concerns, are specifically addressed in the guidance which
states:

20 Equally Safe: Scotland's strategy for preventing and eradicating violence
against women and girls was first published in 2014 and updated in 2016 and
again in 2018. It sets out a definition of violence against women and girls
which includes ‘commercial sexual exploitation, including prostitution, lap
dancing, stripping, pornography and human trafficking’.

21 Whilst recognising the conflict between this definition and the licensing of
SEV, this guidance will help to ensure that such activities take place in safe
and regulated environments. When deciding whether to licence, and whether
to limit, SEV in their area, local authorities will need to consider the
interaction with their own local policies and strategies, as well as the legal

Page 15



4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

implications around limiting a legitimate business activity to minimise the risk
of legal challenge’.

Therefore, Committee will have to balance competing views and to determine
whether any limit which is imposed will be, on balance, appropriate and proportionate
in order to support the Council’s objectives in adopting a licensing system. The
Committee must base its decision on the evidence available in the consultation
responses, taking account of the relevant legislation and guidance. The Committee
should exclude moral opinion in its decision-making process and make a decision
based on the evidence before it. Committee will be required to weigh up the evidence
provided and to set out why they have preferred one body of evidence over another.
By introducing legislation, the Scottish Government has agreed that the operation of
SEVs is a lawful activity which is best controlled at a local level by councils which
have knowledge and understanding of local circumstances. Accordingly, should
factors other than those considered relevant, as set out in the legislation and
guidance, be seen to influence the determination of a numbers limit by the Council,
then this would increase the risk of a successful legal challenge to any decision.

Option of Setting a Limit of Four SEVs

In making a decision on the limit to set for SEVs, Committee must be able to
demonstrate that it has weighed up the evidence before it and has reached a
decision that is both rational and proportionate. Committee must also refer to the
promotion of the licensing objectives set out in the 1982 Act and which are set out at
paragraph 3.6 above. Specifically, Committee should consider whether there a
sufficiency of evidence available to it that would enable it to decide that a
proportionate limit on the number of SEVs should be four.

Setting a limit of four SEVs being permitted to operate in Edinburgh would allow the
Council to regulate the operation of existing premises, if applications for SEV
licences by existing premises were to be granted by the Licensing Sub-Committee.
Specifically, a limit of four would allow existing operators to apply for a SEV licence
without creating a rebuttable presumption against the grant of a licence. It should be
stressed that any such application will also be required to be considered on its own
merits and take into account all the other discretionary grounds for refusal set out
under the 1982 Act. If a SEV licence was granted, this would result in further
regulation of such premises, as the Council would have powers to raise standards
within the sector and seek to address any local concerns.

As with any licensing policy, any application by new operators would be required to
be considered on its individual merits and operators would be entitled to make a case
for exemption from any numbers limitation, i.e. the Licensing Sub-Committee could
determine if a case had been made by an applicant to be considered an exception to
the numbers limitation. Any increase in the number of SEVs seeking to operate
within the city would therefore be controlled by the Committee.

The limit of four reflects the number of premises currently operating in Edinburgh. A
fifth SEV premises has previously been known to operate and to hold a licence under

Page 16



4.20

421

4.22

4.23

the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005. However, it has not operated for some
considerable time.

The Council should periodically review the policy and any numbers limitation, in line
with the guidance and the 1982 Act.

During consultation, Committee has heard from those who oppose a limit being set
which could prevent SEV premises from operating. In summary, those respondents
have raised the following issues:

4.21.1 Crime rates showing that SEVs are amongst the safest venues for female
workers within the night-time economy due to CCTV, security and regulation
and that further regulation, in the form of a licensing scheme will help to raise
standards within the sector;

4.21.2 A zero-limit policy would force women into unemployment and/or poverty by
limiting the employment opportunities of women, and will expose them to a
heightened risk of poverty;

4.21.3 A zero-limit policy risks creating more dangerous unregulated venues and/or
private parties which would expose to a greater risk of violence against
woman and girls (‘VAWG’);

4.21.4 Performers are not coerced into working in SEVs. Performers chose to enter
this industry for reasons such as a degree of flexibility in working life and
combining it with studies or childcare; it can provide a supplementary
income; and it is a method of creative expression;

4.21.5 The imposition of a zero-limit breaches equalities legislation because it is
(amongst other things) indirect sex discrimination. This would result in period
of uncertainty for performers in and employees of SEV premises, as a zero-
limit would likely result in a legal challenge by the performers and venues;

4.21.6 Zero-limit supporters do not support the closure of nightclubs where VAWG
overwhelmingly occurs; and

4.21.7 Reference to academic studies which show no link between SEVs and an
increase in reported rapes in areas of London.

Committee is asked to take the considerations set out at 4.16 - 4.21 above into
account when reaching a determination on the appropriate number of SEVs within
Edinburgh, namely: 1) weighing up the representations received in response to the
consultation; 2) consistency with the licensing objectives; and 3) proportionality in
terms of achieving the licensing objectives and balancing the rights of SEVs
operators and performers against the rights of those opposed to SEVs.

Setting a Zero Limit for SEVs

As with determining a numbers limit of four, in making a decision on the limit to set
for SEVs at zero, Committee must be able to demonstrate that it has weighed up the
evidence before it and reached a decision that is both rational and proportionate. The
Committee must also refer to the promotion of the licensing objectives set out in the

Page 17



4.24

4.25

4.26

4.27

1982 Act and which are detailed at section 3.6 of this report. Specifically, Committee
should consider: is there a sufficiency of evidence available to it that would enable it
to decide that a proportionate limit on the number of SEVs is zero? There is some
evidence suggesting that there may be wider policy concerns about the
appropriateness of SEV-style venues and their place in modern society, Paragraph
45 of the guidance states that the Council should:

“...reflect on whether reducing the number of venues, or setting the number at zero,
in their area will have a disproportionate effect on business. The local authority
should also consider whether reducing the number of SEV in their area or setting the
number at zero would create a risk of legal challenge (for example under ECHR or
on grounds of reasonableness)’.

The Scottish Government guidance further states at paragraph 46:

“...In setting the number at zero, a local authority will require to demonstrate
proportionality by evidencing that the competing interests of SEV operators alongside
those of the community had been fairly considered and appropriately balanced.”

In adopting a licensing scheme, the Council is required to take into account the
socio-economic and public sector equality duties in the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 2010
Act’) as well as human rights legislation. The Council is also prohibited from indirectly
discriminating against a group which shares a protected characteristic, unless that
discrimination can be objectively justified. Section 19 of the 2010 Act provides that
indirect discrimination arises where a provision, criterion or practice (‘PCP’) that
applies in the same way for everyone has the effect of putting a group of people who
share a protected characteristic (e.g. sex) at a particular disadvantage. By setting a
zero limit in respect of SEVs, a PCP would be created for the purposes of the 2010
Act.

If it can be clearly demonstrated that a zero-limit policy is justifiable in that it is a
proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim, it will not amount to unlawful
discrimination. In doing so, Committee must have considered the evidence which has
been gathered throughout the consultation process and consider whether there is an
evidential basis to demonstrate that a zero-limit policy would be a proportionate
means of achieving a legitimate aim. Further, Committee should also have
considered whether a less discriminatory means (e.g. setting a limit of two SEVSs)
could achieve the same objective.

A limit of zero creates a rebuttable presumption against the grant of SEV licences in
the Council’s area, which could ultimately result in the closure of existing premises
and a loss of income for operators, performers and employees of those premises.
The Committee will also recall hearing evidence which suggested that a zero limit
could lead to SEV activities taking place in unregulated and unsafe environments.
Members should also refer to the Integrated Impact Assessment (Appendix 12) for a
detailed assessment of what impact the licensing policy could have in this regard.

Page 18



4.28

4.29

4.30

4.31

Both human rights legislation (and in particular Protocol 1, Article 1 of the ECHR —
the right to peaceful possession) and the guidance make clear that, in limit-setting,
Committee must consider any impact on existing operators. In the event of a zero
limit being set, this would not have an immediate impact, since operators could
continue until the new regime had commenced and applications for licences were
finally determined. However, ultimately it could lead to the closure of the SEVs in the
event that they were refused a licence by the Licensing Sub-Committee because of
the zero cap on SEVs within the Council's area.

During consultation, Committee heard from those who are in favour of the a zero-limit
being introduced for SEVs. In summary, those respondents raised the following
issues:

o Sexual Entertainment is a key contributing factor to wider gender inequality in
society;

o The Scottish Government’s Equally Safe Strategy which defines sexual
entertainment as a form of VAWG;

o Experiences in other countries which have taken similar steps, such as Sweden
and Iceland, which have criminalised the purchase of sex and outlawed similar
premises respectively;

o Women being pushed towards the sex industry as a result of the health
pandemic;

o Anecdotal experiences reported in the media;

o The Lileth Project in London which saw an increase of reported rapes in the
vicinity of SEVs; and

o Reference to academic texts that argue that SEVs normalise behaviours and
interactions between men and women that would normally be considered as
sexual harassment, violence and gender discrimination in any other setting.

Members will be aware that some other local authorities have set the limit at zero but
that so far these have only been those authorities which did not have any SEVs
operating. At the time of drafting this report, Glasgow and Aberdeen have decided
the numbers issued in their area, and in effect have allowed existing premises to
continue to operate within any cap.

Committee is asked to take the considerations set out at 4.23 - 4.30 above into
account when reaching a determination on the appropriate number of SEVs within
Edinburgh namely: 1) weighing up the representations received in response to the
consultation; 2) consistency with the licensing objectives; and 3) proportionality in
terms of achieving the licensing objectives and balancing the rights of SEVs
operators and performers against the rights of those opposed to SEVSs.

Page 19



4.32

4.33

4.34

4.35

4.36

Draft Policy: Suitability of areas of the city in which to locate a SEV

In addition to setting a numbers limitation for the city, Committee will be able to set
out a specific limit of SEVs in any identified locality within the city. Responses have
generally shown that the only area of the city in which there is any level of support for
SEVs to be located is the city centre, which is consistent with responses to the
previous consultation. The results of the second consultation indicated that 40% of
respondents thought that there should be no limit for SEVs in the city centre, while
20% thought that a zero limit should be introduced for this locality. Furthermore, 38%
of respondents thought that there should be no limit for SEVs operating in a busy,
late night economy area such as the Grassmarket or George Street, while 21% of
respondents thought that a zero limit should be introduced in such a locality. Whilst
having residents living within it, the city centre - ward 11 (as identified in Appendix 1
of the draft policy) - also has considerable commercial and hospitality activity,
including a significant number of the city’s late night economy venues. Additionally, it
is the location in which the current SEV premises have operated for decades.

It should be noted that the proposed policy includes specific sections which would
allow a future Licensing Sub-Committee to determine whether the location of a SEV
would be suitable, notwithstanding the numbers limitation in place The policy
explicitly states that factors such as whether the area is residential, closeness to any
school or place of worship or any other building of significance nearby, are among
the factors that will be weighed up when deciding whether a location is suitable. This
provides applicants with clear notice of the types of issue that the committee will
have in mind when considering any application for a SEV licence.

The consultation responses indicated that there would be some support for SEV
premises to operate in a commercial or industrial area. However, given that there are
currently no SEVs in industrial areas and that the classification of these areas can
alter through regeneration and development, it is considered that this type of area is
not suitable for this type of activity. It is also recommended that these areas are not
suitable as they can sometimes be isolated or quiet after normal business hours, and
thus would not be appropriate locations having regard to the safety of performers.

In summary, it is recommended that the policy should clearly state that the only
locality within the city that would be considered a suitable location for a SEV would
be the city centre (ward 11) (per Appendix 1 of the draft policy) and that no other
locality is considered suitable. It should be noted that any application for a licence
would be considered on its own merits and the suitability of a SEV premises location,
whether in the city centre or not, would still form part of any application process and
ultimate determination.

Draft Policy: Suitability of Applicants

As part of the consultation process, Committee has been provided with oral and
written evidence from performers, to the effect that SEV premises operators
sometimes impose arbitrary fines on performers which could result in them losing
significant income. Furthermore, it was explained that ‘house fees’ in SEV premises

Page 20



4.37

4.38

4.39

could sometimes increase at short notice for performers through various
circumstances, such as sporting events taking place in the city, which negatively
affects the performers’ income. Accordingly, the SEV policy has been drafted to
make it clear that the Council does not expect the practice of fining performers to
take place, and that any fees charged to performers should be transparent and
agreed in advance and not subject to change at short notice.

Where examples of fining or issues with house fees are brought to the attention of
the Council, Committee could take this into account when considering whether an
applicant is or remains fit and proper to hold a SEV licence.

Appeals Process for SEVs

If Committee agrees to pass the resolution and adopt a licensing system, then the
new scheme will come into effect on 1 April 2023 and the Licensing Sub-Committee
will be required to consider applications made for SEV licences after that date. If an
application were to be refused, then an applicant would have the opportunity to
challenge that decision. In many cases, this will be by raising an appeal in the Sheriff
Court.

Additionally, it is likely that the two most contentious issues that Committee will
consider in relation to applications made for SEVs will relate to the determinations
made by Committee following on from a decision to license SEVs: setting a numbers
limitation for SEVs in the city; and identifying the locality in which it can operate.

Next Steps

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

It is recommended that Committee agrees to make the proposed resolution,
determines an appropriate number of SEVs for the City of Edinburgh, and thereafter
to adopt the proposed licensing policy statement and standard conditions framework.

Where a local authority passes a resolution, it must specify a date from when it is to
take effect in their area. This must be at least one year from the date the resolution is
passed. The local authority must also publish notice that it has passed a resolution
not less than 28 days prior to the date the resolution is to take effect. The notice must
state the general effect of the licensing procedure and provisions at Schedule 2 of
the 1982 Act, as modified for SEVs, and be published either electronically or in a
local newspaper.

At the same time as the local authority publishes notice of its resolution it must also
publish its SEVs licensing policy statement.

If Committee approves the recommendations in this report, the proposed date on
which this resolution would come into effect would be 1 April 2023. Officers will take
the necessary steps to carry out both advertisement of the resolution and publication
of the licensing policy statement.

Page 21



Financial impact

6.1

6.2

The Council’s scale of fees for licensing applications was approved with effect from 1
April 2022. Any costs incurred by implementing policy are, at present, not included
within the service budget.

If Committee agrees to adopt a licensing scheme for SEVs, officers will carry out
work to devise a new fee structure for SEVs to ensure that all costs are fully
recovered and will bring this back to the Committee for approval.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

It is recognised that concerns have been raised previously that SEV activity may be
commercial sexual exploitation, encourages unhealthy attitudes towards women, and
therefore damages society.

The Scottish Government stated during the passage of the 2015 Act that it
acknowledges, through the introduction of this legislation, the freedom of adults to
engage in legal activities and employment. Nevertheless, it continues to promote
gender equality and actions that tackle outdated attitudes that denigrate or objectify
groups or individuals, through all relevant means.

A methodical and robust approach to obtaining evidence and information on the
subject was carried out in order to minimise the risk of legal challenge to any policy
or Committee decision. Evidence sessions were webcast in order to aid transparency
and to provide a record of the evidence received.

All premises which could be affected by a SEV policy were written to and advised of
the consultation. The Committee consulted with the trade and other interested parties
throughout this process to ensure that all views are taken into account when forming
a draft policy statement and licensing conditions framework.

Equally Safe: Scotland’s strategy for preventing and eradicating violence against
women and girls was first published in 2014 and was last updated in 2018. It sets out
a definition of violence against women and girls, which includes ‘commercial sexual
exploitation, including prostitution, lap dancing, stripping, pornography, and human
trafficking’. Whilst recognising the conflict between this definition and the licensing of
sexual entertainment venues, the Scottish Government intends that it will help to
ensure that such activities take place in safe and regulated environments.

Following a period of consultation, at the Regulatory Committee meeting on 3
February 2013 the Committee agreed to amend the Public Entertainment Resolution
to remove premises used as ‘saunas or massage parlours’ from the requirement to
obtain a public entertainment licence. Any new regulatory regime which is introduced
will not apply to such premises.

A full equalities impact assessment has been completed as part of the statutory
consultation process and is attached at Appendix 12.

Page 22



8. Background reading/external references

8.1 Air Weapons and Licensing Scotland Act 2015 - Sexual Entertainment Venues
Proposed Resolution 2021 report to Regulatory Committee on 2 December 2021

8.2  Equally Safe: Scotland’s strategy for preventing and eradicating violence against
women and girls

8.3  Human Trafficking and Exploitation Strategy

8.4  Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 — Commencement of Sexual
Entertainment Venues licensing provisions report to Regulatory Committee on 11
March 2019

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix 1 - Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs) Consultation

9.2  Appendix 2 - Brief Summary and Full Results of SEVs Consultation Results

9.3  Appendix 3 - Police Scotland Consultation Response

9.4  Appendix 4 - Scot PEP Consultation Response

9.5 Appendix 5 - Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee Consultation Response

9.6 Appendix 6 - Comments on Proposed SEVs - Written Responses

9.7 Appendix 7 - Comments on SEVs Conditions - Written Responses

9.8  Appendix 8 - Any Other Comments — Written Responses

9.9 Appendix 9 - Proposed SEV Policy

9.10 Appendix 10 - Proposed SEV Licence Conditions

9.11 Appendix 11 - Proposes SEV Resolution

9.12 Appendix 12 - Integrated Impact Assessment

9.13 Appendix 13 - Scottish Government Guidance on the Provisions for Licensing Of
Sexual Entertainment Venues

9.14 Appendix 14 — SEV Consultation Key Dates

Page 23


https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40954/7.4%20Sexual%20Entertainment%20Venues%20-%20Update%20After%20Consultation%20on%20Proposed%20Resolution%20Policy%20Conditio.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s40954/7.4%20Sexual%20Entertainment%20Venues%20-%20Update%20After%20Consultation%20on%20Proposed%20Resolution%20Policy%20Conditio.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/equally-safe-scotlands-strategy-prevent-eradicate-violence-against-women-girls/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/equally-safe-scotlands-strategy-prevent-eradicate-violence-against-women-girls/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/trafficking-exploitation-strategy/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Regulatory%20Committee/20190311/Agenda/item_72_-_air_weapons_and_licensing_scotland_act_2015_-_commencement_of_sexual_entertainment_venues_licensing_provisionspdf.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Regulatory%20Committee/20190311/Agenda/item_72_-_air_weapons_and_licensing_scotland_act_2015_-_commencement_of_sexual_entertainment_venues_licensing_provisionspdf.pdf

Appendix 1

Appendix 1

Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues 2021

Overview

In October 2015, the Regulatory Committes agreed in principle to introduce 2 licensing
scheme for Sexuzl Entertainment Yenues (SEVs) in Edinbungh following the introdusction of
reew legislation which allows locl authorities to lioense such venues and an initial public

cornsultztion exertse. The definition of 2 SEV is provided by legislation and is aimed 2t
premises prosiding sexual erbertainment often refermed o as lap dandng”.

The effects of the DOVID-19 pandemic hanse resutbed in 2 defay to the Committes further
oorsidering the implementation of a licensing scheme for SEVs. Aomordingly. the Commithes
have instructed that o further consulztion take place on this izsve to zllow stakeholders
another opportunity to enpzge. This approsch recognises that businesses most directhy
affected by 2 new licensing regime have been dosed sinoe Mardh 2000 ard may reguire:
further support to effectively engape with the consultation.

Thiis consukztion asks for views on z proposed licensing policy and proposed set of licensing
oorditions for Semual Entertainment Venwes, should the Committes agres to implement 2
licensing scheme. [ is important to note at the outset that if the Council dhooses not to
adopt these powers, premises which offer this type of entertzinment cin continue to
operafe a5 they do cumenthy.

Adoption of the powers to lioense SEVs does not imply approval of these premises by the
Coundil.

Premises used as massage parlours or sawnas zne not included in this legislation or in the
definition of sevual enterizinment and will not be affeded by these proposis.

wWhy are we consulting?

The aim of the consuation is:

s Toseek community and business viesws on the proposed licensing policy and
conditions framework in respect of Sewual Entertainment WVenwes in Edinburgh.

Controlling the Mumber of SEVs

If the Council chooses to zdopt this licensing scheme, it can choose 2 limit to the number of
SEWE im any locslity. The Cowndl will still be requined to consider individual icenos
appliations even if it adopts 2 number limit

Currerrthy. the city oertre has four premises which offer services which weould it within the
definition of seaual enterizinment venues. There are oumenity no SEVs operating in
loclities outside of the oty centre.

Chuestion 1

Page 24




Do you agree that the Council should limit the maximum number of SEVS for any loclities in
Edinburgh?®

Strongly agres — Agree — Neither agree nor disagree — Disagree — Strongly dissgres

Dection X
If a lio=nsing scheme is approved for 5EVE, the Cowncil oould et limit for the numbser of SEY

premises in a locality. What number do you think the Coundl should set for the: following
loczlities?

ﬂl!!-l!lﬂ?‘ﬂﬂ-rm
Bk
e OOOO0OOOQOOOOOO
g OOOO0OO0O0OOOOOO
A, tmrky Lt Al Goohnmy
A LN

i ddad d @M OO P P

B, WO M s Tl SV
g Soarn Dussnalemy,
Portcbrelic Firkliason

D AT DT D P

L R T

Ewauw aniwl o'y zew Faes

RIS R T e o ] -I'___:I

0
O
»
O
0
0
0
0
0
0
O

0
0 0
0 0O
C 0
Q0 0
0 0
o 0
0 0
0 0
0 0
0 0

FRET DT o B T

(Dhesttion 5
Please consider the type of areas whene 3 5EY might operzte, and tell us whether you agree
that the following arezs would normally be suitzble for SEVE to operate:

Page 25




Ok g

cgz;

Th= oy cerrrs o ~
Cop o e e il -

& rural e =’ r -~
& Dol e T

e D O - O -

i ]

Farwrer arwra i ey e

& e o e g
hrmed gl Fap ooy

M o o {2 2 L 2
Frirbaberi  Fors ke

Amaar g = s
e

A TR M
e A & O = O .
=-unl N

4 e wtrall o
ey el

A PR R L
L

Fain |
L]
-
L=

- o 2l

Ouestion 4
Do you have any comments on the proposed Sexusl Entertainment Policy® The proposed
policy is attached below.

Ouestion 5
Do you have ary comments onthe proposed set of axnditions for Sexual Ertertainmert
Wenues? The proposed set of conditions for SEVs is attached below.

Ouestion &
Would you like to make zmy further comments on these proposals?

Page 26




Appendix 2
Results of SEVs Consultation

Brief Summary

e There were 87 responses in total. 74% of respondents were from residents and 9%
classified themselves as ‘other’, giving descriptions including ‘dancer’, ‘performer’,
‘tourist’, and ‘trade representative’, among others.

e 35% of respondents either agreed or strongly agreed that the Council should set a
maximum number of SEV licences in Edinburgh. 31% disagreed or strongly
disagreed.

e 40% of respondents thought there should be no limit on the number of SEV premises
based within a city centre locality. 20% thought that a zero limit should be introduced
for this locality.

Page 27



Licansing of Saxual Enfertalnment Venwes 2021: Summary report

T mmor] wrmm cramied o Mondey 05 July S0 2 71718 sndl nohodes S8 responssn

Tiom cormuliwicn man from DRG0 &0 OV
Contants

Ousmbion 1: Wl in your smma T
HEmE
Dusmmbon 2 Wes in vour srml scdem?
Lormi
Cummbon 3 VWesd in vour crgEnimean - i ssvenl T
SIgEniRET
Ousmtion & Fasss chooss w&ict o Ba following spsilen b you.
Hmporndsnl orge-mehon
Further detuiln
‘Dusmton & Oo yeu sgres Bat e Coundl shoukd sl 0 mexmen nunbs: of S5 for aey kool in Edinkarg®s T
Sgres mw rmz . S0 T
Oummbon B H w kcsnsing schame in sppoasd o 2%, e Dourssl ool s 8 b o B rambasr of S5 Y pramisss 0§ ooslby
‘Wiml nambar de you Bink e Coorel shculd st for e following iooaisa™
~ow mary woem T - e cky cerkm
o8 FIECY WoErE T - A e areE
o8 FIECY WOET T - A Sony e kgl sEsnoTTy arem Ay Georgs Sresl G
o8y FIECY woer T - A e oenbredSigh sbesl g, South Oussoerismy, Foricbelc, Firdsion
o8 FECy woam T - A ssadentisl e osei e oty st
o8 FIECY WoEr T - Anrcusitisl or coTsscE aee
Ousmtion . Do you heres sy commssis on e propossd Seousl Enfertsinmant Poiicy T The propossd jpolicy i aeched belos.
Msmms D/ LB P coImrands
usmbon B Oo you hervs sy comvmssia on e propossd st of cordora for Sexanl E-fsrtwinms-t Ve ? T8 procoasd) sl of
mrdifomm i sdeched balow.
oerTTECDE o conditione Y
Ousmbion B Wioukd you ol mekes sy Sudher comemecin on e poscm T
Aurtter onTEIy
Oummbon 10 @l i your siric groue T | Chooss ONE mschon bom & ko £ G- ok ORE bex whes b describam poun sthne
‘Froup r g ool
Eshnicity |4 - #hits)
Difwr whils sthee goop, pleass weis =
Cinciy | s o mulSpis sthac groopd
Sy mibed or Tulichs SN groups, piaess wrie -
Eshnicity [Samn, Asien SooiSsh, Setere Brisah)
Dttwr, plesss wis i=
Eshnicity (D - Akioes, Carbtesn or B
Dttwr, plesss wis i=
Eshnicity [E - O
Dttwr, phenss wis i
Ousmmbon 11 @%wl i your seroml orisrstion T
Sar mir
Cummbion 12 ‘Wt i your g
How oid sre youT
Dusmmbon 17 How weoukd vou Sescrba vour ~sborml entdy? |Piess boc ml Sol apply
Hmbiorml ldentiy
Dttwr, plesms wis i=
Cusmbion 14 ‘#twt i your perdec?
Crandat
ummbion 18 ‘Wl religicr, eligoum dsromiqmicn or bady de you belong oF
Msligecn
Srpitar religios (pless axeoty

oad B R R R B R R R B R

LU U LU R T

sasaav

Faga 1

Page 28



Guacton 1: What s your naene?

SHamw

Tesrs wirs 7 cemsc ress T b pae of B g usston

Quacticn 2: What s your amall asdracs T

Emad

Toarw wsrs B8 “enccrees 0 i pac of Ba g ussthon

Guscticn 3 What s your crganication (H redevant] T
o n

Tesrw wirs 16 -smzc ress 0 e pae of B g ussbon

Quaction 4: Plescs ohooce which of the following appllec to you.

Treds orge-Eeion [zlEmss gres detmiie beice)
e SoETEsS | e pive Cetele sow]
e pemss pres cstmle balow]

Hol Armeymresd

Furtbs delais

Trars wears 2] sssccress o P pas of Be qussbon

“areeng

A%

4%
LEE- o
-

Page 29



GQuaction 6: Do you agres that the Cownoll chowld c=4 3 maxnum nemesr of 3EVe Tor any ooalitess. In Edinburgh’?

Apres sal mie ra. SEVET

Hedter agrss ror J Emgres 12 AT
Umsgress B §UHE
Seorgly dinsg res = MR
Hof Armeyersd 2 LIE%

G B e R oY AU e oot oot Mt g o

Jre ey wimr e - T oty cartre

Page 30



HETHE IR

unl.ﬂ:ﬂflnzﬂﬂl

(=] L e ] =i - L] L-] =

e iy T - A L

]

mvn..::.q_.._l.rln

Pugs 4

Page 31



Tieenguegasly

mzﬂqllllnnlzﬂ

f
-

-
m i
TEEEEEETEEE

e iy i w T - A by i kgl ecosory are g Decrpe S ineet, G manh e’

Fags 5

Page 32



SRR TR

mm1ﬂ|.ﬂ.ﬂ|n=.ﬂ==

Mol Srmeysred

-
m i
DM A T D0 b E

o L3 L L] o

=] -

Az mwcry et - A dowr cartretriol sireed a g, Soorl Cossenalery, Forfobailo, Kekiaion

Page 33



!H'HIHU-II-HH-CIE

Kz limi
Hol Armeysred

Dl iy evrw T - A Faskclantial afee Sutedlh B O p caelre

- b
1390
N

SEHEEY

Page 34




!I'\fﬂl.ll-ll-HH-lUi

S iy T - AN kel o Coerrier Ci e

§gaRRRERUREG]

Page 35




Dptior Tokal Percerd
=] E IR
1 Y =
] 2 T
3 3 ITER
4 o U
& 4 4.7,
] 3 TEE
7 o U
= o U
= 3 ITER
Yo i k- I8 90%
Yol Armwsred 2 T

@uaction T: Do you have any oomemente on the propoced Seoual Erderialnment PolloyT The propocad palloy ks
attaohed Ealow.

Flasss DN US pOW CODTTHATS.
Temrs wes 4L =azcress o e pas of B gussbon

Quaction B: Do you have any oomemente on the propoced et of condflone for Saxsal Entartalrmmsnt Vanises T The
propocsd oot of sconditione ko attachad balow.

v Gn oo Do

Toatw wmts 40 emoc rmen 2 e pac of B g usadon

Quaction B Would you llks fo maks any furithsr commsrnic on thecs propocsic 7
S e Com ol

Thars wsrs 1 censcress S P part of Ba o usebon

Guscticn 10: What ls your sthnlo growp? [Choocs OME caotion from A fo E. than tiek ONE box which bact
descorib-sc yowur sthinla group or baoskgrownd] E

Extweicitly (4 - Wihilsl

1} =

Page 36



Dplior Tobtad  Pecem

Soidmh 51 HLT
it Hrimh 14 IEEs.
Irimh 3 L
Oopmy | Travvelisr 1] f=le e,
Piilimh 1] f=le e,
Iier wois sdne gowx, pleass wwis n B §UHR
Mol Srmesred 10 11 5%

O v b proun, Db Beiie o
Tesrs wes T waponsss o the pe= ol == quesicn
Ethvworty (Micsd o multipls eifnic groogy

ek o rraiipds s
“p;“_-h

Opiion Tokal Percerd
Sy moed o muBsE ST groupa, pEEsE AT 1] [mlmm, 3
b0t Armysred B4 TS
Any olred o mulple Snts grocss, e eeile o
Temrs w1 reepo-ss o Ghis ped = Be gossicn
Etbvicaty (A ai, Ankas Soottial, Asien Sritad]
Fakmen. Tuidurd Soomain
P..u-l-il-l:l
e, irefian Scociak o indan
Dirizad
Diarogibcssnd Dargicsshd Scomah
o Bargiacisshd Drissh
Cniraa, Chirskss Seoemal o
Chireass Cirimad
e pleaEs wriE in
~—
1] =
Dplior Tokal Percerr
Paemtan, Pekiiasi Soo@eh or Pekdeiend Brise 1 1. 5%
Idmn, ircline Scobisf or Indim= Sriimh 1] [=lmm, 3
ESar 1 Coolish or Bargimdeahl Bein= 1] [=lmm, 3
Chirmss Chinass Toofie® or Chiress Eritimh 1 1. 5%
D, plemss wis 0 1] [=lmm, ¥
Hof Armevsresd -~ %

O, o e T e

Tesrs wes d =aponsss o the pe= ol == gussicn

Pags 10

Page 37



Exbvecrty (I - African, Canblus oF Siiech)

efrrar drcan Secsiak or Siroan
Carisbaar Caribbasn Soomal o

ik Dirimed

B, Diaach Secovmady o iz

e pleass wriE

Dption

Sikriwn, African Scofish or Sfricen Beim®
Carbbean Cadtbsan SociSeh or Ceribbean Brissh
Heck, Bk Tooie® or Bimck Hritish

N |
E

e, planss w0 [=Ta e,
Hol Armesred SHM%
LW, v 3 e
Tomrs wers ] meporsss o the pe= ! e qussicn
Enbwicty (£ - Clfear)
dmk
-u-.-.ph—-u-hl
w—
1] -]

Oplion Toka Porcer
Bz 1] [=Tan,
e, plasss w0 1 1. 159%
Hol Armesred .=} SHE%
O, i s it v

Ters wers 1 mapomssl o the pe= ol e oussicn
Quaction 11: What Is your caxual orientation?
Sy Ty

ok om || BTEiGET

o e [
e [
el
"
1]

Pagm 11

Page 38



Option Tokal Porcerd
Helero s roml | gl -] [~ 8], 8
Gy ! Lsmbiar T s
Hmar_ul 8 S
fa 2P 5 P
Hol Armwwred 14 155

Quaction 12 What I your agas

How ald afe e

Lipdar 18

Pags 12

Page 39



Urglar 15 1 1. "%
6. 24 4 L
T | 13 TER
BB 13 TE TS
45 - 54 15 hEE-. - Y
-2 - | IT T
--R | T [y
5 ] v 1 1. %
Hol Armesred T =R

Gusction 1%5; How would you decoribs pour national dembty? [Plescs tiok all that apply)
Mt o' dee iy

=
~ I
whi

Opiion Tokal Parcend
SEmh & s
Esglmh 8 5
‘Piuish o f=Ta, 3
o irish 1 1.59%
BeEsh = e
S, plemes wis in B 5
Nod Armersred g LR

1} 41

Pags 13

Page 40



ﬂu—ﬂﬂn——h—-‘ﬂ!

o

Pugs 14

Page 41




Appendix 3

Police Scotland Response to SEVs Consultation

30/06/21
‘\.\;\iz’rz
Qg
'I \‘
SCOTLAND
Keeping people safe
City of Edinburgh Council David Happs
249 High Street Licensing Chief Inspector
EDINBURGH
EH1 1YJ St Leonard’s Police Station
14 St Leonard’s Street
Edinburgh
EH8 9QW

Dear Sir/Ma’am,

PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON LICENSING OF SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES -
DRAFT CONDITIONS AND POLICY

In response to the public consultation on the licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues
(SEV’s), | am encouraged to see that the recommendations submitted by Police Scotland in
response to the initial consultation have been included in the draft Policy and Conditions.

The Policy and Conditions proposed are imperative to ensure the safety of staff and
customers attending SEV’s, and allow City of Edinburgh Council and Police Scotland to
ensure compliance with the licensing regime.

| would respectfully request that in relation to propsed condition 10, the word ‘Police’ is
replaced with the words ‘Chief Constable’. Whilst this is a minor amendment, it brings this
type of condition in line with a smililar condition for licenses issued under Licensing
(Scotland) Act 2005.

Police Scotland have a policy where a definition is provided of ‘The satisfaction of the Chief
Constable’ in relation to CCTV within licensed premises, which provides clarity to Police
Officers, City of Edinburgh Council and SEV operators and staff as to exactly what is
expected of CCTV systems, and ensures compliance with the condition can be ensured.

| have no further requests or recommendations in relation to the draft Policy or Conditions.

Page 42



Yours faithfully
David Happs
Chief Inspector

For enquiries please contact the Licensing Department on 0131 662 5775.

Page 43



Appendix 4

Scot Pep response to SEV licensing consultation

Scot-Pep is a national sex worker-led charity, established in 1989. We advocate for the
safety, rights and health of everyone who sells sex in Scotland, and we take a human
rights-based approach to sex work. We welcome the opportunity to respond to the
consultation on the Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues 2021.

Scot-Pep’s priority is that workers within SEVs are protected, their rights upheld, and that no
workers are made more precarious by changes to SEV licensing.

Considerations within the Draft Sexual Entertainment Policy

Our concern about SEV licences being denied or revoked is borne of our concern for the
workers’ rights, safety, wellbeing and financial security of the people who work in these
venues. The last 18 months have caused significant upheaval and increased precarity for
workers across Scotland (in all sectors), and the priority for the next 12 months should be
supporting people’s income/employment to remain as stable as possible.

Scot-Pep does not believe setting a formal upper limit for the maximum number of SEVs is
a useful approach. Instead we believe that every application should be taken on its
individual merit and quality. Reviewing licenses should prioritise the views and needs of the
workers at the venue and those who live and work nearby, rather than based on moralising
arguments and outrage.

Scot-Pep does not have a strong viewpoint on the suggestion that the city centre is the only
area suitable for SEVs to be located, and we note that trade union groups such as United
Voices of the World (UVW) have previously noted that venues in industrial areas are less
safe for the workers than those in city centre areas with higher footfall. Internal
conversations within Scot-Pep’s network confirm this, with workers who have previously
worked in premises and venues based in industrial areas reporting feeling less safe both at
work, and travelling to and from work.

We are concerned at the potential for licensing decisions being made every 12 months, as
this creates a sense of instability and precarity for workers at these venues. The more
stable their employment can be, the more likely they are to be able to access workplace
protections and feel able to access trade union resources as well as remaining financially
secure without heightened financial anxiety. As a result, we would argue that the ability to
make maximum license lengths up to 5 years would be more appropriate; with an in-built
ability for early termination on certain grounds, which could include factors such as degrees
of security for workers, and other factors which would help to empower and secure workers’
rights in these venues. Scot-Pep notes that the sex industry has a specific ability to
transition to working ‘underground’ in unlicensed venues, which are unlikely to have
workplace protections. In light of this we urge the council to ensure licensing is an option to
avoid underground venues opening.

Page 44



Paragraph 3.3 of the Draft Sexual Entertainment Policy sets out an overly broad set of
criteria for the ‘character and function’ of the locality around proposed SEVs that can be
used to deny a licence. These criteria can be used to deny a licence almost anywhere at the
sole discretion of the committee. In practice, this will create ‘zoning laws’, which have been
proven to exacerbate gentrification and push SEVs into industrial areas, resulting in a lack
of safety for performers and a decrease in clientelel. A decrease in clientele means a
decrease in resources for the workers. Making strippers poorer will reduce their bargaining
power with both management and clientele.

The draft policy says it will take into account whether there “have been incidents involving
anti-social behaviour, sexual assaults or more minor harassment reported in that area”
when considering an SEV licence. This is overly broad, but more concerning is the linking of
sexual entertainment venues to sexual assault happening in the vicinity. It is often the case
that SEVs are located in hotspots of local nightlife, and that the areas surrounding them
have higher levels of sexual assault crimes reported when compared to areas that are more
residential. It is more important to prioritise reports from workers about what happens inside
the club than to hypothesise on the reasons for crimes committed in the local area when
evidence has shown that there is no link between SEVs and violence in England. For
example, following the closure of the Platinum Lounge in Chester in 2015, violent crime and
sexual offence rates showed an upward trend since?.

To our knowledge there have not been any instances of trafficking in the UK taking place in
a licenced SEV. To link licences to general figures on trafficking ‘in the area’ is overly broad,
and conflates trafficking with SEVs where there is no proven link. This contributes to the
commonly-held misconception? that the sex industry has a stronger connection with
trafficking than any other industry, which in turn contributes to greater stigma against
workers.

This consultation presents an opportunity for City of Edinburgh Council to protect the rights
of workers in SEVs and take steps to uphold safety and protection under the law. We note
several points in the Draft Sexual Entertainment Conditions that seek to upload the rights of
workers within SEVs, including ensuring they are able to access information on trade
unions, which is very welcome.

Link with Equally Safe strategy

We strongly disagree with the Scottish Government’s categorisation of sex work as a form
of violence against women as laid out in Equally Safe. This definition obfuscates the various
and diverse forms of sexual labour that exist and make it extremely difficult for workers to
engage with SG on the topic of violence within the sex industry, as their entire experience is
defined as violence (and sometimes towards themselves/each other under brothel-keeping

1 see for example: Phil Hubbard and Rachela Colosi. "Sex, crime and the city: Municipal law and the regulation of sexual entertainment.”
Social & Legal Studies 22.1: 67-86. 2013.

2 https://www.ukcrimestats.com/Neighbourhood/9887

3https://www.qov.uk/qovernment/statistics/modern-slaverv-nationaI-referral-mechanism-and-dutv-to-notifv-s.tatis.tics.-uk-end-of-vear-
summary-2020/modern-slavery-national-referral-mechanism-and-duty-to-notify-statistics-uk-end-of-year-summary-2020

Page 45


https://www.ukcrimestats.com/Neighbourhood/9887
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/modern-slavery-national-referral-mechanism-and-duty-to-notify-statistics-uk-end-of-year-summary-2020/modern-slavery-national-referral-mechanism-and-duty-to-notify-statistics-uk-end-of-year-summary-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/modern-slavery-national-referral-mechanism-and-duty-to-notify-statistics-uk-end-of-year-summary-2020/modern-slavery-national-referral-mechanism-and-duty-to-notify-statistics-uk-end-of-year-summary-2020

laws which criminalise two sex workers working together). We are pleased to see this
consultation focus on keeping the environment safe [for workers] and regulated under this
complicated framework. It is our position that this definition should be scrapped from the
next violence against women strategy, and advocate for SG/local authorities to work with
peer-led organisations to combat violence and exploitation within the sex industry.

Contact: voice@scot-pep.org.uk

Appendix 5

Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee Consultation Response

SEV Consultation

Overview

In October 2019, the Regulatory Committee agreed in principle to introduce a licensing
scheme for Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVS) in Edinburgh following the introduction of
new legislation which allows local authorities to license such venues and an initial public
consultation exercise. The definition of a SEV is provided by legislation and is aimed at
premises providing sexual entertainment often referred to as ‘lap dancing’.

The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have resulted in a delay to the Committee further
considering the implementation of a licensing scheme for SEVs. Accordingly, the
Committee have instructed that a further consultation take place on this issue to allow
stakeholders another opportunity to engage. This approach recognises that businesses
most directly affected by a new licensing regime have been closed since March 2020 and
may require further support to effectively engage with the consultation.

This consultation asks for views on a proposed licensing policy and proposed set of
licensing conditions for Sexual Entertainment Venues, should the Committee agree to
implement a licensing scheme. It is important to note at the outset that if the Council
chooses not to adopt these powers, premises which offer this type of entertainment can
continue to operate as they do currently.

Adoption of the powers to license SEVs does not imply approval of these premises by the
Council.

Premises used as massage parlours or saunas are not included in this legislation or in the
definition of sexual entertainment and will not be affected by these proposals.

Why are we consulting?
The aim of the consultation is:

e To seek community and business views on the proposed licensing policy and
conditions framework in respect of Sexual Entertainment Venues in Edinburgh.

Controlling the Number of SEVs
Page 46


mailto:voice@scot-pep.org.uk

If the Council chooses to adopt this licensing scheme, it can choose a limit to the number of
SEVs in any locality. The Council will still be required to consider individual licence
applications even if it adopts a number limit.

Currently, the city centre has four premises which offer services which would fit within the
definition of sexual entertainment venues. There are currently no SEVs operating in
localities outside of the city centre.

Page 47



Question 1

Do you agree that the Council should limit the maximum number of SEVs for any localities
in Edinburgh?

Strongly agree

Question 2

If a licensing scheme is approved for SEVs, the Council could set limit for the number of
SEV premises in a locality. What number do you think the Council should set for the
following localities?

o 1 2 3 4 &5 8 7 8 8 N
mit

The £ty cenkee ) O X 2 O O O 0 O O O
Yease select only one fem
S _ O OO COC0O0O 000 00
Yease selsct only one fem
A busy late night economy
seaegGeogesest. O O O O O O O O O OO
Grassmarkst
Please select only one fem
A town centrehigh strest
e.g. South Queensferry, ) O O € LD L L L) L) L))
Portobello. Kirkliston
Please select anly one fem
A residential area sfoReBoloRalotoRsl s Re
Flease sel=ct only one fem
An ndustrial or commercial

Q) Oy O €3 £ L€ € £ ) i)

area
FPlease sei=ct only one f=m

The Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee supports that the number of licenses
approved for SEVs should be 0 in all settings.

Page 48



Question 3

Please consider the type of areas where a SEV might operate, and tell us whether you
agree that the following areas would normally be suitable for SEVs to operate:

Neither
Strongly Strongly
Agree agree nor Disagree disa
ree I ree
. disagree v

The city centre '

Please selecr only one
T v

— J— L

A rural area
Please seiect only one \/ \J \J
p=m

A busy late night

economy arsa .9 . i ’ .

George Street O - & o (J
Grassmarkst

Plegse selact only one
Bem

A town centre/high

street within the city

e.g. South C “; ) r\’ 3 f ) )
Queensferry, - - - ’
Portobello, Kirkliston

Flease select only one
Bem

A residential area
outwith the city ' - 7 S

Flease seisct only one

-

An ndustrial or '
commercial area "/ —

Flease seiect only one
am——

The Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee strongly disagrees that any of the above
areas are suitable for SEVs to operate.

Question 4

Do you have any comments on the proposed Sexual Entertainment Policy? The
proposed policy is attached below.

The Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee (ESEC — ‘The Committee’) agrees with provision
1.4 that SEVs in Edinburgh should be licensed and that the number of licenses should be
set to nil. It is the Committee’s view that, in any discussion around eradicating Violence
Against Women and Girls (VAWG), sexual entertainment must be viewed as a cause and
consequence of male power and privilege and subsequently of pervasive gender inequality
in society. The Committee will refer to particular areas within the proposed policy to raise
specific considerations that are problematic in regard to the licensing of SEVSs.

Initially, the very definition of a SEV (section 2.1) clearly states that in a SEV, the purpose of
sexual entertainment is the financial gain of the organiser. Given that the organiser is the
proprietor of the venue, this raises the question of the conditions of employment of the
performers, who are overwhelmingly women. The majority of performers in SEVs are self-
employed, and in order to perform, they are required to pay a fee to the venue. This fee is
arbitrary and, given the precarious nature of the sex industry, can often leave women with a
financial loss at the end of a shift. This is a clear indication that women’s employment rights
are not protected in SEVs, which contributes to further inequality.

Page 49



The Committee would further highlight concerns under point 2.5 regarding the provision of
occasional sexual entertainment at a particular venue. It is stated that SEV licenses will not
be required for venues that do not provide sexual entertainment more than 3 times per 12
months. However, this raises the question of how this is going to be regulated, especially if
this entertainment takes place in a private space within a business such as a hotel, a short-
term let flat or a Festival venue. There needs to be more clarity as to where the onus of
monitoring sexual entertainment in such venues and the subsequent requirement of a
license application lies.

This, together with item 4.1 relating to the length of license terms and the option of a short-
term license are of concern to the Committee as we would opt for consistency in the
proposed licensing scheme. We propose that the Council should have licensing powers
over SEVs and that the number of licenses should be nil in order to convey a strong
message that our local authority does not condone the objectification of women for male
pleasure. If licenses are able to be obtained for shorter time periods, then this message
becomes diluted.

The Committee would further like to highlight that, when considering an application for a
SEV license, expert opinion should be sought from a relevant women’s organisation and a
trade union. This would provide an expert view of the experiences of women
performing/working in SEVs from a gendered perspective. Further, it would ensure that the
employment rights of staff are taken into consideration when an application is made,
including pay and safety.

Another concern highlighted by the Committee is the incongruence between the proposed
policy and the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). The PSED specifies that public local
authorities are required to have due regard to the following objectives in relation to the
Equality Act (2010):

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by
or under the Equality Act 2010;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it.

The relevant paper for Scotland, ‘The Fairer Scotland Duty: Interim Guidance for Public Bodies’
further explicitly names two key requirements for public bodies:

e ‘To actively consider how they could reduce inequalities of outcome in any major
strategic decision they make; and
e To publish a written assessment, showing how they have done this.” (p.5)

The Committee notes that this will likely require the City of Edinburgh Council to carry out
an Equality Impact Assessment prior to any decision to license SEVs; however, no mention
is made of any such assessment having taken place or being planned for the future.
Further, the Review of the Operation of the Public Sector Equality Duty in Scotland
specifically reports that ‘we know that despite significant efforts to comply with the PSED

Page 50



https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/advice-and-guidance/2018/03/fairer-scotland-duty-interim-guidance-public-bodies/documents/00533417-pdf/00533417-pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00533417.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/progress-report/2021/03/equality-outcomes-mainstreaming-report-2021-mainstreaming-report/documents/review-operation-psed-scotland-stage-one-report/review-operation-psed-scotland-stage-one-report/govscot%3Adocument/review-operation-psed-scotland-stage-one-report.docx

and an increasing commitment across the public sector to equality and human rights,
outcomes for people who share protected characteristics are still not where they should be.
Inequality persists. We are not seeing progress go as far and fast as is needed to realise
the ambition in the National Performance Framework (NPF) that we protect, respect and
fulfil human rights and live free from discrimination. Now that this ambition is translated into
a specific NPF outcome, it is right that we take stock and reflect on what needs to change to
ensure our ambitions are better realised’ (p.1). Sex is defined as a protected characteristic
under the Equality Act 2010, and the decision to continue the operation of SEVs is at odds
with Edinburgh’s compliance with the Fairer Scotland Duty, the PSED, and on a larger
scale, Scotland’s effort to improve outcomes related to the National Performance
Framework.

Lastly, the Committee would like to highlight the final section of the Policy titled
‘Relationship with Other Strategies’. Although the Policy document identifies a conflict
between the licensing of SEVs and the Equally Safe strategy, it should be made clearer that
SEVs directly contravene the Equally Safe Strategy. Specifically, the statement that the
Scottish Government ‘intends that [licensing] will help to ensure that such activities take
place in safe and regulated environments’ does not represent the aspirations of Equally
Safe. Equally Safe aims to ‘prevent and eradicate’ violence against women and girls; not to
regulate it. If we are to accept the definition that lap dancing, stripping and other forms of
sexual entertainment are a form of violence against women, then this is something we must
seek to end-not to legitimise or regulate.

Question 5

Do you have any comments on the proposed set of conditions for Sexual
Entertainment Venues? The proposed set of conditions for SEVs is attached below.

The Committee would like to offer views on the proposed conditions for SEVs from a
gendered and practical perspective. The Committee’s main concern around the proposed
conditions is around enforcement of safety for performers, the possibility for
abuse/malicious use of conditions and the publicity and advertising of SEVs.

Firstly, the Committee would like to highlight that simple measures such as CCTV and panic
alarms are not in themselves adequate in preventing violence against women, or indeed
any performer or staff member in any establishment. There needs to be clarity as to what
the response to a panic alarm would be, as well as to any security staff member in charge
of monitoring CCTYV footage.

With particular regard to record-keeping, the Committee would raise concerns about the
potential abuse of performers’ information, compromising their privacy. Women involved in
the sex industry, whether in a SEV setting, online, or indoors, can be victims to doxing (ie.
malicious sharing of their personal details), stalking, harassment, sexual abuse, rape and
femicide either during or outside their performance hours. There have been various
instances of women who lost jobs and career prospects as a direct result of their
involvement in the sex industry being revealed to their current/future employers (for
example, Demi Hunziker and Kirsten Vaughn both lost jobs due to creating OnlyFans
content).

Page 51


https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/
https://nationalperformance.gov.scot/
https://www.nzherald.co.nz/nz/onlyfans-job-fight-demi-hunziker-alleges-she-was-forced-to-quit-job-at-ngati-manuhiri-settlement-trust-due-to-online-adult-account/EIVNESNBCXEY6ZONXT6MV2M76U/
https://www.buzzfeednews.com/article/otilliasteadman/mechanic-fired-onlyfans-account-indiana

Although most employers across different industries maintain identity records of their
employees, the sex industry continues to be heavily stigmatised and tends to be associated
with assumptions about a woman’s character. The risk therefore of a woman’s current/prior
employment at a SEV affecting her future career prospects is therefore quite high, should
this information not be adequately protected.

In line with the risks associated with performing at a SEV for women, is the precarious
nature of the employment. This needs to be of particular concern when there is onus on the
performers themselves (for example under point 1.24.6) to report any breach of license
conditions by the SEV in which she is employed. Similar to other crimes (for example hate
crime and sexual violence), it is a well-known fact that there is considerable underreporting.
As a result, it would be hard to imagine that female performers would risk their precarious
livelihoods by speaking up against their contracted employer or risk retribution by other staff
members (including the proprietor) for blowing the whistle.

The Committee would like to raise a further concern around the safety of performers
following the closing of premises each night. Item 34 clearly forbids performers from
exchanging personal contact information with clients and any information provided to
performers by clients is to be surrendered to the premises manager as soon as possible.
However, this does not go far enough to ensure the safety of performers after exiting the
premises, particularly after they may have been approached by a client during/after a
performance. The Committee would highlight that this increases the risk of
stalking/harassment, with the possibility of more serious crimes being committed including
sexual assault of performers following the end of their shift.

Similarly, explicit mention needs to be made for the price lists of sexual entertainment
available in a SEV (point 1.43.5) that any performer has the right to refuse to perform any
type of entertainment without the need to provide a reason. This should also not impact her
employment at the SEV, and this should be clearly stated as a condition to ensure that
women are not under pressure to perform types of entertainment that they either feel
uncomfortable performing or that would push their boundaries for consent.

Lastly, the Committee would like to raise the issue of touting for business and advertising.
Although the conditions and policy documents are clear that there should be no touting for
business on street near the premises, that the inside of the premises should not be visible
from the street and that there should not be any explicit advertising, this does not prevent
any of this activity taking place online. Advertising is often done anonymously, referring to
the location where sexual entertainment is to take place as simply ‘a gentlemen’s club’ (for
example in this advert), while it can also include explicit imagery (such as this website,
advertising Edinburgh ‘stag parties’, or this stag party organiser, advertising the ‘Barcrawl
Babes’ activity, which includes entry to ‘a hot strip club’).

The Committee would use those examples to highlight that even with the best efforts to
regulate SEVs, not only does advertising remain explicit online, but it also remains
anonymous-ensuring that without knowledge of which venue(s) sexual entertainment will
take place, regulation will become even more challenging. Further, the advertisements cited
above portray an image of Edinburgh that directly undermines our efforts to promote
equality for women and girls. The Committee believes that we live in a city that has so much
more to offer in terms of education, entertainment, culture and history, and we would urge

Page 52


https://justbanter.co.uk/stag/edinburgh/activity/steak-and-strip
https://justbanter.co.uk/stag/edinburgh/activity/steak-and-strip
https://www.thestagcompany.com/edinburgh-stag-weekends/lap-dancing
https://www.edinburghstag.com/?eb_listing=barcrawl-babes

for sexual entertainment and violence against women and girls not to be what we promote
to the world.

Question 6
Would you like to make any further comments on these proposals?

The Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee (ESEC- ‘the Committee’) is a partnership of
professionals and organisations working to ensure the implementation of Equally Safe:
Scotland’s strategy for preventing and eradicating violence against women and girls. The
Committee consists of senior staff and managers from the City of Edinburgh Council, Police
Scotland, NHS Lothian as well as specialist voluntary sector organisations such as
Edinburgh Women'’s Aid, Shakti Women’s Aid, Victim Support Scotland, and Edinburgh
Rape Crisis among others.

It is the position of the Committee that the City of Edinburgh Council should hold licensing
powers over Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs) and the number of licences should be
set to 0 (nil). This response outlines the Committee’s arguments for this position beyond the
proposed policy and conditions documents.

The Scottish Government’s Equally Safe Strategy clearly defines sexual entertainment as a
form of Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) alongside commercial sexual
exploitation, prostitution, pornography and trafficking among others?. Taking into
consideration both the Equally Safe strategy as well as the fact that there are currently only
three SEVs operating in Edinburgh with female performers, the Committee recognises that
sexual entertainment is a heavily gendered issue which requires a gendered viewpoint to
inform any future decisions.

The Committee’s concerns focus on sexual entertainment as a key contributing factor to
wider gender inequality in society, reinforcing the view that women are ‘goods’ or ‘products’
for the sexual entertainment of men, rather than whole persons beyond their external
appearance. The very wording of the Draft Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy and the
Standard Conditions on the Licensing and Regulation of Sexual Entertainment Venues
(SEVs) implicitly recognises the wider risks and potential harms associated with SEVs: the
special consideration of the existing character and function of the area, particularly the
vicinity of schools, places of worship, charities and other landmarks or facilities
demonstrates the recognition of the possible harms that can be caused by SEV to the local
community. Further, the requirement for constant monitoring of the premises, and the
monitoring of any increases in incidents of trafficking or sexual or other crimes in the vicinity
is an alarming reminder of the risks associated with sexual entertainment and the wider
impact on gender equality in society.

There is a very real concern with any new regulation or legislation that it will likely push the
activity it seeks to outlaw or regulate ‘underground’. However, the Committee would argue
that over time, there tend to be longer-term benefits to legislation and regulations that aim to
promote women’s equality, regardless of how they affect the present status quo. For
example, prior to the criminalisation of the purchase of sex and sexual services in Sweden

4 Equally Safe: Scotland’ Strategy for Preventing and Eradicating Violence Against Women and Girls, p. 12
(https://bit.ly/3bdBZke,accessed on 26 October 821)
age 53



https://bit.ly/3bdBZke

in 1999, there were concerns that this would put women at risk by driving prostitution
underground and lead women to more dangerous practices and locations in order to sell
sex. However, less than 20 years later, a 2017 study® found that 63% of the Swedish
population now agree that purchasing sex is wrong and should in fact be illegal. Compared
to countries like Germany and the Netherlands, where prostitution and sexual entertainment
are legal and regulated, fewer than 20% of the population agrees with the above statement.
This finding is particularly concerning as there is further research demonstrating that men
who purchase sex and sexual services are also more likely to abuse women through
tricking or coercing them into sexual activity and to believe that ‘when women say ‘no’, they
really mean ‘yes’.

Further, the Committee would argue that sexual entertainment and prostitution are already
happening underground, similar to human trafficking and other forms of abuse and violence
against women. There are numerous anecdotal reports that informal arrangements are held
for sexual entertainment/sale of sex in Edinburgh hotels and AirBnB’s as reported on the
AirBnB website, on the BBC website and in the Scotsman over a number of years. The fact
that these reports span a decade, prior to the Covid 19 pandemic which pushed a lot more
women towards the sex industry, demonstrates that this is not a new issue, and unlikely to
change if the Council proceeds with a requirement to license SEVs.

In terms of the views of women who work as performers in SEVSs, it is very important that
their views are taken into consideration. One performer who took part in the consultation
with the Council around the licensing of SEVs highlighted the need for the protection of
performers’ employment rights. She proceeded to describe exploitative practices by SEV
proprietors such as arbitrary fees for performers that are liable to unexpected change, which
further demonstrates the inherently exploitative nature of this work against women.

A number of other women who have performed as erotic dancers in SEVs throughout the
world and since retired, have also spoken of the demeaning nature of the job. Leigh
Hopkinson, speaking to The Guardian, stated that ‘I thought | was subjugating existing
power structures; it didn’t occur to me that | might have been playing into them [...] Even
though it was totally acceptable for men to visit strip clubs, it wasn’t ok for women to work in
them. [...] | don’t think [stripping or sex work] can ever be unequivocally empowering when
it places the pleasure of men above the equality of women’.

In a similar vein, ‘Liza’ (not her real name), speaking to The Atlantic stated that: [There’s no
respect for what we do. [...] What we do could potentially be very dangerous. We could
potentially have stalkers; someone could follow us home; we could have a customer who
comes in to see us all the time and thinks he’s in love with us and you don’t know what he
could do’. These are only two of many examples of former performers in SEVs highlighting
both the risks that women are subject to while employed by the venue, but also the wider
implications for equality for women. If we can accept that violence against women exists in
a continuum, then we need to accept that an ‘innocuous’ visit to a SEV is on the same
continuum as sexual violence, rape and the murder of women.

5 Johnsson, S. and Jakobsson, N. (2017): Is buying sex morally wrong? Comparing attitudes toward prostitution using
individuallevel data across eight Western European countries. Women'’s Studies International Forum, Vol. 61, March-
April 2017, pp.58-69

5 Farley, M.; Bindel, J.; and Golding, J.M. (2009): Men who buy sex: Who they buy and what they know. Eaves, London.

Available at: https://lastradainternational.org/Isidocs/Mensex.pdf as accessed on 27 October 2021
Fage o4



https://community.withairbnb.com/t5/Hosting/Prostitution/td-p/423470
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-39528479
https://www.scotsman.com/news/sex-sale-balmoral-hotel-2441817
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/sex-work-coronavirus-poverty-b1769426.html
https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/sex-work-coronavirus-poverty-b1769426.html
https://www.edinburghlive.co.uk/news/edinburgh-news/edinburgh-dancers-slam-council-plan-17788051
https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2016/may/11/as-a-stripper-ive-spent-two-decades-naked-but-dont-call-me-a-victim
https://www.theatlantic.com/business/archive/2016/10/exotic-dancer/504680/
https://lastradainternational.org/lsidocs/Mensex.pdf

The same can be echoed in the reviews provided by men who visit SEVs in Edinburgh. One
user stated that ‘the girls were ugly, annoying, coked up and stinky; another reviewer
stated that ‘The women themselves were a mixed bag. Some were objectively attractive,
but others were not to my discerning taste to say the least. They can also be incredibly
brusque, possibly as a way to appeal to the banter loving lad culture they are surrounded
by. I found this very off-putting as | prefer to be wooed by ladies | am paying to dance on
me.?

These are just two examples of the continuum of sexual violence, demonstrating how SEVs
serve to perpetuate oppressive cultural and societal norms perceiving women as ‘objects’
for the sexual gratification of men. They further demonstrate how the sex industry overall
serves to enforce traditional male power and privilege over women, further obstructing the
achievement of true gender equality in society.

The Committee further wishes to highlight the contradictions between the proposed
licensing of SEVs and other Council plans and proposals for future development. The
Council Business Plan recognises the importance of creating and sustaining women’s and
girls’ safety in public spaces. However, according to the Royal Town Planning Institute
(2007)° ‘in certain locations, lap dancing and exotic dancing clubs make women feel
threatened and uncomfortable’. Indeed, the Lileth Project reported that in three London
boroughs, there was a 50% increase in reported rapes in the vicinity of the clubs, as well as
in harassment and fear of violence (Eden, 2007, as cited in Patiniotis and Standing, 201219).

Patiniotis and Standing’s (2012) findings further provide support to the claim that sexual
violence exists in a continuum rather than in isolated incidents. This means that instead of
violence and abuse seen as discrete issues in isolation of less violent behaviours such as
unwanted comments and ‘catcalling’, they both exist within a continuum of male power and
control. The strongest evidence for this continuum comes from the fact that SEVs normalise
behaviours and interactions between men and women that would normally be considered
as sexual harassment, violence and gender discrimination in any other setting. This only
serves to consolidate traditional perceptions of masculinity and power that directly
contravene gender equality.

Further, both The Edinburgh Partnership Community Plan 2018-2028 and the Council
Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Framework recognise that women, and particularly Black,
Asian and Minority Ethnic Women are at particular risk of harm due to poverty and
deprivation, hate crime, discrimination and violence against women. They further state that
the places people live, work and frequent have a significant impact on their quality of life
and wellbeing and assert a commitment to create good places to live in Edinburgh-including
accessible open spaces connected to health, childcare and other services. These
commitments would be severely undermined by the presence of SEVs, which cause women

7 Review available at https://www.designmynight.com/edinburgh/bars/baby-dolls-no-1-showbar as
accessed on 27 October 2021.
8 Review available at https://restaurantguru.com/Western-Bar-Edinburgh/reviews?bylang=1 as
accessed on 27 October 2021.
9 Royal Town Planning Institute (2007): Gender and Spatial Planning, RTPI Good Practice Note 7; London: Royal Town
Planning Institute.
10 patiniotis, J. and Standing, K. (2012): License to cause harm? Sex entertainment venues and women’s sense of safety
in inner city centres. Criminal Justice Matters 88(1), pp.10-12.

Fi:}age 25



https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/28919/our-future-council-our-future-city
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/28919/our-future-council-our-future-city
https://www.edinburghcompact.org.uk/who-we-are/edinburghs-community-plan/
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/equality-diversity-framework-2021-2025/4?documentId=13136&categoryId=20318
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/equality-diversity-framework-2021-2025/4?documentId=13136&categoryId=20318
https://www.designmynight.com/edinburgh/bars/baby-dolls-no-1-showbar
https://restaurantguru.com/Western-Bar-Edinburgh/reviews?bylang=1

to experience fear and alarm, to the extent that they may avoid frequenting or accessing
those areas altogether.

Lastly, the Committee would like to draw attention to Iceland as an example of a country
that outlawed SEVs in 2010. Iceland has a similar population to Edinburgh (366,424
according to 2020 Icelandic data; compared to 482,005 according to the 2011 Scottish
census). This has not affected the Icelandic economy, while the number of foreign visitors
has more than quadrupled between 2010 and 2019'? (from just under 460,000 to just over
2.3 million per year respectively). Further, Iceland has been titled ‘the most gender-equal
country in the world’ by the World Economic Forum’s Global Gender Gap Report 202112,

The Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee works towards an Edinburgh that values women
and girls equally to boys and men, gives them equal opportunities and works tirelessly to
prevent violence and abuse against them. We believe that the proposal to license SEVs
setting the number of licenses to nil across the city will be a significant step towards helping
us to promote the values of the Equally Safe Strategy and to send a strong message that
the exploitation of women and girls in any setting and under any circumstances is never
acceptable.

11 Ferdamalastofa (the Icelandic Tourist Board): Number of Foreign Visitors. Data available for download at:
https://bit.ly/3mftewn as accessed on 26 October 2021.
12 Report available at: https://bit.ly/3jylO4q aslf)ccessed %166 October 2021.

age



https://bit.ly/3mftewn
https://bit.ly/3jyIO4g

Appendix 6

Do you have any comments on the proposed Sexual Entertainment Policy? The
proposed policy is attached below. - Please give us your comments. Written
Responses.

| do not believe there is any need to change from the current license. The proposed changes really are
not much different to how they currently operate. Introducing an SEV license means extra expense
which could also mean a rise in house fees. Please bear in mind that we are still in a pandemic &
Scotland is yet to see any light at the end of the tunnel. Lap dancing has now been closed for more than
one year, businesses are in their arse & this is going to incur further fees for them. Dancers have also
been out of work for more than one year & facing financial hardship. I’'m sure you are aware of the
palaver with the SEISS grants with so many delays etc

In principle, these types of venues should always be in a busy city centre location, away from
residential areas, particularly those with families. At present the vast majority of these places seem to
be around the Lothian Road area, and this would seem a sensible location for them given that it is low
on residential units, while been a busy street, so therefore less susceptible to noise pollution, while also
providing a busy environment where the seedier aspects of this industry can hopefully be diminished.
There should be legislation as to appropriate signage so that Those who might be offended by such
activity do not have this brazenly displayed in front of them

These places devalue the area in which they operate.
They attract people of unfovorable character as both legal and elligal operations are associated with
the type of people who would frequent an establishment which has a lap dance.

a Lap dance would be the appetiser for a much more distructive and unhealthy interaction for society.

A well considered policy.

| think the proposed licensing policy, from a community point of view make good sense. (I give no
opinion on the health or ethical point of views and leave those for professionals on both sides of the
argument to comment on). | think the increased discretion is to be welcomed. | think though that the
name and the signage should not be such as it flouts the spirit of increased discretion/lack of
promotion etc. and that there should be some guidance in the policy on this. In other words, the name
and manner of the signage on the outside should not make it clear what is happening inside. To
prevent innocent passers by from accidently coming in a manned door entry system should be in place.

Closing SEV venues will only drive the industry underground and therefore put workers at risk and loss
of jobs, also causing workers into more dangerous jobs in order to make ends meet.

The clubs operate under strict working conditions in order to keep everyone safe and happy.

As a dancer of 6 year, | can strongly argue | have always been genuinely safer in a lap dancing club than
| am fully clothed in a nightclub. As security guards, cameras and management support measures are
firmly in place to ensure our safety and well-being at all times. While nightclubs also offer cctv and
security, harassment is never taken seriously by security and staff and is usually dismissed as “that’s
just the way it is” approach.

Lap dancing allows workers a safe comfortable and flexible place of worth with better support options
than most “normal” jobs despite being stricter.

Closing clubs or limiting sev venues to 0 would only put workers at risk.

Public should determine numbers as in public demand through footfall.

Allowing any sexual entertainment goes against the Scottish Government Equally Safe policy, it's
definition of violence against women clearly states 'commercial sexual exploitation including
prostitution, lapdancing, stripping, pornography and human trafficking' as violence against women.

It contravenes the Council's own policy 1.5.1 prevent public nuisance, crime and disorder 1.5.2 securing

Page 57



public safety, 1.5.3 protecting young people and children from harm and 1.5.4 reducing violence
against women.

Where these premises exist, prostitution is encouraged. Children and girls are taught that there self
worth is only in sex. Men in these areas treat all women and girls as being for sale or their use and not
as people.

| believe that a licensing scheme for these SEV's is a good idea, it will allow the premises to be managed
and open for inspection to ensure the workers are not being exploited and the working environs are
safe and secure. If SEV's are unlicensed then there is a risk that the industry will be driven underground
and the risks of organised crime becoming involved in the operation. Not licensing these premises will
not stop SEV's operating.

If the numbers are too few then it is likely that large numbers of people will visit and congregate in the
areas of the ones that are licensed with the risks of noise and antisocial behaviour. If sufficient are
licensed for the number of users then the users will be spread around and not concentrated into one
area.

The policy should be regulated independently of the council who have already shown lack of thought
and knowledge when it comes to making business decisions.

How is the CEC going to build in consideration for the safety and comfort of women living and working
in the vicinity, or simply passing by the venues. Answering as a female resident of Edinburgh | can say
that it can feel extremely uncomfortable passing by these places. There must be controls on minimising
groups of men and bouncers hanging around outside - and the exterior of such venues must not be
explicit. There are only a couple of locations in the city centre that such venues might conceivably be
acceptable in Edinburgh but even then the concept feels old-fashioned and out of place.

¢ There should be no additional restrictions on SEV's in localities than are in place for other
entertainment venues such as bars or restaurants. | agree with restrictions near schools. However, | fail
to see why religious institutions need specific mention, business should not be curtailed in order to
protect religious interests.

o| strongly disagree with any move to set limits at nil. Sex workers should be able to go about their
lawful business without the judgment of the council. SEV's are often much safer for these workers than
alternative locations. This city has a fairly progressive record in these matters regarding the tolerance
zones, which were sadly ended by Police Scotland, we should return to that evidence based
empowerment model rather than moralisation.

eReferring to Equally Safe a document which ignores the views of many sex workers is inappropriate.
Sex Worker groups maintain that this strategy denies individual agency and makes situations more
dangerous rather than the opposite.

I’m not in favour of SEVs at all.

| absolutely hate seeing these venues in the city and | think it really ruins the tone of the city which is an
historic and welcoming city for tourists. | think the council should adopt a strong stance against sexual
entertainment as it continues to support an unhealthy sexual view of women in society. A policy is
required to enable the council to prevent these establishments from operating in the city area at all.

There should be an acknowledgement that concentrating these premises in central areas does mean
other businesses may seek to locate elsewhere and that tourists, other than those interested in such
premises, will not want to stay in these areas. A good reason to limit them.

Massage parlours and/or saunas should also be tightly regulated.

Page 58




Students, particularly females, will not want to frequent areas where sex clubs are located because
these will be perceived as unsafe. Sexual harassment of young females in the city is already a problem
(ask the student associations/unions). They should not be near purpose-built student accommodation.

Edinburgh should be a family friendly city where women feel safe. This should be the main focus of
your policy.

Wherever the council decided it was appropriate to grant a license will harm that area to a greater or
lesser degree for residents or people passing through. AS most of these premises operate in the
evening this also has an impact as residents will more likely to be at home or returning home so the
impact on them is unacceptably high.

They are safe spaces for men and woman. Leave them as they are with a later licence on par with
nightclubs.

Such venues degrade women and should not exist

| strongly welcome these sex venues, | would rather see them busy than prowlers walking the streets

We need to move away from this in our City. | understand Glasgow has taken a strong stance against
these types of venues in their city.

There is no place for this in Edinburgh.

| think that any legislation made about sex work must protect sex workers above all else.

It would be helpful if strip clubs had to employ their dancers - rather than making them pay to work -
and require that strip clubs pay the dancers minimum wage at least.

Strip clubs must also be safe from immigration raids.

N/A

It's ludicrous and will turn people to the streets instead of a safe controlled environment like a venue.

| totally disagree to granting these licences for moral and health reasons to the general public who are
affected by these policies

Not sure about allowing venues with only a few performances a year not to have to register. This will
be abused.

How can a licence be suspended quickly following serious complaints and how can it be revoked.

| don't think live sex shows benefits anyone

My primary contention would be with the apparent adoption of the "nordic model" paradigm, which
has been shown to put sex workers in harm's way and is near-universally opposed by sex workers of
every capacity. This directly acts against point 1.5.4, in the service of a view of sex work which is as
paternalistic as it is puritanical.

| would further argue against 3.3, which frames these services as dangerous or morally reprehensible
and ultimately only serves to drive the sector away from "respectable" areas. On point c in particular, |
would hope that due consideration is given that we may *want* these venues to be within reach of
many of the services listed, who provide vital assistance to sex workers.

By licensing these premises the Council is condoning the sexual exploitation of woman and girls. The
existence of Sexual Entertainment Venues sounds gender neutral and innocuous when they affect
women and girls. They are owned by men, used by men to sexually exploit women.

The Council's Policy - 1.5.3 Protect children and young people from harm

Page 59




1.5.4 Reduce violence against women
Equally Safe policy updated in 2016 to eradicate violence against women and girls defines violence
against women as including "commercial sexual exploitation and prostitution, lap dancing, stripping,
pornography and human trafficking."

The selling of women in any form should not be tolerated.

I'm completely opposed to such premises, SEVs, because of the likelihood that many of the women
working there may have been trafficked, or be there because of some other form of abuse or coercive
control.

To licence such premises will make it safer for participants and public alike. If left al fresco it could put
performers in danger

| dont think any additional regulation is required

Very restrictive

It is important to not force these activities underground, which could prove a huge risk to the people
who work in this industry.

In my past experience these venues were run well and effectively self regulated.
Supply of venues will not exceed demand and demand is not particularly high.

They tend to have a relatively low profile and | do to recall many, if any, issues with local residents.

As a sex worker in the UK, it hurts to see other workers who are in the same industry as me about to
lose their jobs and livelihoods. The workers themselves would’ve chosen their profession and would be
completely happy with it. Sex work is work - let them work !

In the section on the character and vicinity of the relevant locality, there appear to be a number of
unnecessary articles:

3.3b requires clarification. "Other places of education" is sufficiently broad that it could encompass
University or adult education facilities, which do not have the same relevance to the licensing of these
establishments as a primary school would. Also, consideration should be given to the fact that the
hours of operation of the entertainment venues would not coincide with that of educational
establishments.

3.3c is inappropriate, as there should not be any special consideration for places of worship within an
equal and secular society such as modern Scotland. Places of worship should be able to dictate the
standards of behaviour for their adherents on their property, but not a centimetre beyond.

| am concerned that Item 3.7 is being set up as a justification to deny licences to existing SEV's by
setting a limit of nil for the entire city, which would force the closure of existing businesses which have
never breached the conditions laid out in the rest of these documents. | would contend that this
number should not be set below the number of existing venues so that this arbitrary and high-handed
course of action is avoided.

If the council comes to the conclusion that there is an undue concentration of SEVs within a specific
area, then there should be a good-faith attempt to allow existing premises to relocate and be licensed
in their new locations, rather than using this as an excuse to destroy existing businesses.

This looks like a solution in search of a problem, the existing SEVs in Edinburgh do not seem to me to
cause any more issues than other licenced premises. Supply will to a large extent be determined by
demand and | can think of a number of venues that have closed over the last decade or so due to lack

Page 60




of demand.

So no problem, no need for the legislation.

1.5.1Preventing public nuisance, crime and disorder: - this is already required for alcohol licensed
premises

1.5.2Securing public safety: this is already required for alcohol licensed premises

1.5.3Protecting children and young people from harm: this is already required for alcohol licensed
premises

1.5.4Reducing violence against women - Dancers in these venues are self employed and are very well
protected by management and stewarding and approved regulations for the safety of individuals

No evidence has been produced to indicate these premises are not well run safe premises.

1.7The key aims of civic licensing are the preservation of public safety and order and the prevention of
crime. A specific licensing regime allows the Council to consider local circumstances in setting the
number of venues able to operate within their areas and to exercise appropriate control and regulation
of those venues - there is no evidence to. indicate any legitimate adult entertainment premises are
causing harm to public safety nor that there are issues with criminality

Believed there are no peep shows or live sex shows in Scotland in legitimate venues

Character & Vicinity of Relevant Locality3.3In considering whether the grant, renewal or variation of
the licence would be inappropriate given the vicinity in which the SEV premises operates, the
Committee shall consider the existing character and function of the area. Due regard will be given to
the following:

a.Whether the premises are situated in a residential area - no nightclub/Iate night premises would be
likely to be situated in a residential area due to the fact that residents might be disturbed by late night
coming and going of patrons or staff or in the case of adult entertainment venues self employed
dancers

b. Whether there are any schools and other places of education near the vicinity of the premises - it
would be normal for schools to be closed when entertainment premises of this nature operate

c.Whether there are any places of worship in that vicinity - it would be normal for most places of
worship to be closed when entertainment premises of this nature operate

d.Whether there are other relevant businesses or charities operating in the area e.g. homelessness
shelters, women'’s refuges, supported accommodation, recovery units - there is no evidence of increase
in criminality in and around premises of this nature in fact the high levels of stewarding within and
outwith the premises would tend to make areas safer

e.Whether there are certain landmarks or facilities in the vicinity (e.g. historic buildings, sports facilities,
cultural facilities, family leisure facilities, play areas or parks, youth facilities, retail shopping areas, and
places used for celebration of commemoration - there is no evidence of increase in criminality in and
around premises of this nature in fact the high levels of stewarding within and outwith the premises
would tend to make areas safer

and it would be normal for premises referred to be closed when entertainment premises of this nature
operate

Page 61




f.Whether there have been incidents involving anti-social behaviour, sexual assaults or more minor
harassment reported in that area - there is no evidence of increase in criminality or human trafficking
linked to premises of this nature and in and around premises of this nature in fact the high levels of
stewarding within and outwith the premises would tend to make areas safer - the high levels of care
taken by operators on advice from police scotland and in compliance with conditions set by licensing
boards for dancers to ensure their safety is one of the reasons so many women chose to take up
dancing as a way of earning their living

g.Whether there have been incidents of human trafficking or exploitation in that area- there is no
evidence of increase in criminality in and around premises of this nature in fact the high levels of
stewarding within and outwith the premises would tend to make areas safer the high levels of care
taken by operators on advice from police scotland and in compliance with conditions set by licensing
boards for dancers to ensure their safety is one of the reasons so many women chose to take up
dancing as a way of earning their living

3.4 Suitability of Premises - all legitimate premises are already subject to this proposal and none have
been deemed unsuitable in over 25 years of operation

3.8 Under the 1982 Act the Council has the discretion to refuse applications relating to SEVs if it is
considered that the grant or renewal of the licence would be unsuitable, having regard to the layout,
character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of which the application is
made.

3.91t is expected that when an application for a SEV licence is made, that the applicant will be able to
demonstrate that the layout, character and/or condition of the premises is appropriate to the relevant
entertainment proposed at the premises. This is already a requirement

| am writing on behalf of the National SEV Coalition, of which | am a member, to give our views on the
matter. The coalition was set up by dancers who work or have worked in SEVs, and of their allies. We
include dancers from the Bristol Sex Workers Collective, the Northern Sex Workers Collective, the East
London Strippers Collective, and the United Sex Workers Branch of the union United Workers of The
World.

The coalition represents the often overlooked dancers who work in SEVs. We are working against
increasing concerns that SEVs nationwide may lose their licenses. We are committed to keeping these
venues open to ensure dancers have safe, regulated places to work. This is of utmost importance, as
without licensed venues dancers will lose their workers rights, and many will be forced to work in
dangerous, unregulated conditions.

| have looked over the proposed strategy and have some concerns:

Para 3.3 allows for restriction of location on the basis of other nearby uses. The list of uses in (a) to (e)
is extensive and could be used to justify a refusal pretty much anywhere. Many of these proposed
restrictions are questionable, and fall far outside the current English guidelines for SEV licencing. These
guidelines are underpinned by legislation, which has been informed by research and public
consultation. We fail to see evidence that justifies a decision to deviate from these accepted
restrictions. We ask that you revise this list and drastically cut it down to align with English legislated
practice. SEVs are discreet venues and evidence (detailed further down this letter) shows that they do

Page 62




not increase violent crime or sexual offences in the surrounding area. Refusing a license because the
venue is in the vicinity of a retail shopping centre, for example, is unreasonable.

Para 3.3 (f, g) refers to consideration of anti-social behaviour, harassment, exploitation and human
trafficking. We ask that you make it clear that cases should be linked directly, with evidence, to the
venue being considered, not just to things that happen in the general area.

Para 3.7 sets out to restrict the number of licenses granted. It identifies the City Centre Ward as the
only appropriate location for SEVs so in effect it is a nil policy for the rest of Edinburgh. We ask that you
consider whether any venues are currently operating outside of the City Centre Ward. If they are, we
ask that you remove the nil policy for the rest of Edinburgh to avoid putting the dancers in these clubs
into unemployment or danger by removing their licensed workplace.

There is currently an agenda being pushed countrywide by Sex-Worker Exclusionary Radical Feminists
(SWERFS) that SEVs contribute to violence against women. This is completely false, and is a dangerous
and terrifying viewpoint that blames dancers for violence committed by men. There is currently NO
evidence of any link between the operation of SEVs and violence against women occurring. In fact,
much evidence points to the opposite.

Take, for example, the case study of Platinum Lounge in Chester, North West England. Platinum
Lounge, Chester’s only SEV, closed in 2015. Since its closure, violent crime and sexual offence rates in
the city have shown an upward trend. | am going to now cover research, undertaken by coalition
member Toni Mansell, into violent crime and sexual offence rates in the city of Chester before and
after the closure of Platinum Lace.

Using the month of December as a sample, you can see that in Dec 2013, two years before Platinum
Lounge closed, there were 46 recorded violent crimes in Chester City centre, In Dec 2014 there were 58
recorded violent crimes in Chester city centre. In December 2015, the year the Platinum Lace closed
this went up to 63. In 2016 there were 70, 2017 there were 127, 2018 there were 101, and in 2019, 5
years after the closure of Platinum Lounge, there were 99 recorded violent crimes in Chester city
centre.

These statistics can be fact checked from the source
https://www.ukcrimestats.com/Neighbourhood/9887

To ensure this data is not an outlier for the month of December, you can see the violent crime rates for
June.

June 2013 -44
June 2014 - 34
June 2015 -40
June 2016 - 58
June 2017 - 49
June 2018 - 70
June 2019 - 72

In both samples you can see that the numbers of violent crimes in Chester City centre have had an
upward trend AFTER Platinum Lounge's closure. This is even more interesting as the numbers had

Page 63




actually dropped for 2014 and 2015. It is in the years following the closure that violence rose,
suggesting that Platinum Lounge may have in fact kept the rates of violent crime down.

https://www.police.uk/pu/your-area/cheshire-constabulary/chester-city/?tab=Statistics further
confirmed that in the last 3 years, violence and sexual offences in Chester City Centre had increased by
22.2% (percentages true as of 23/03/2021).

These statistics include violent crime as one encompassing bracket of violence and sexual assault. While
| can not access sexual assault statistics for the city centre individually for these date periods, further
research follows Chester and Cheshire West from Cheshire West and Chester Community Safety
Partnership Strategic Assessment 2015 to see if the trends followed the same pattern. This is a larger
geographical scope of the partnership area, but gives a good indication if we can consider the figures
above to accurately reflect the trends of sexual violence.

The number of sexual offences recorded in Cheshire West and Chester increased by 21% from 317 in
2014 to 383 in 2015. This is a continued increase from 218 in 2012 and 279 in 2013.

In 2016, the total number of recorded sexual offences in this Chester and Cheshire West was 461. For
the year 2019, this number had risen to 800 recorded cases (source:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/recordedcrimedat
abycommunitysafetypartnershiparea).

While this look at data and figures is only a brief investigation, it strongly implies that closing the city's
only SEV did not reduce the numbers of violent crimes in any way, in fact they have shown an upward
trend after the clubs closure. Even taking into account influencing factors such as the change in the way
certain crimes were recorded which contributed to a rise in statistics for crimes such as anti-social
behaviour in 2016, there is zero evidence to prove that removing SEVs reduced violence against women
in Chester.

These findings are also supported by peer-reviewed research and statistics from other cities. Evidence
submitted to the last zero cap review in Bristol 2019 included a summary of the findings from from the
largest study conducted to date into the UK strip club industry by Leeds University in 2015. This
suggested that one in four SEV performers had a degree and there was no evidence of forced labour,
trafficking of women or connections to organised prostitution. The report also stated there was no local
evidence of a rise in crime in the vicinity of Bristol's SEVs, and banning the clubs was likely to have a
negative impact on the livelihood of predominantly female employees.

So we ask that you consider hard evidence when making decisions about the placement of SEVs in the
community.

We ask that you reach out to local dancers, to local venue owners and to local customers to give their
views, as part of your public consultation on introducing a new licensing scheme. This is imperative and
an implicit part of your responsibility to your local community as a whole.

You say that businesses may require further support to give their views on the legislation and we want
to ask that you provide that support. Please reach out directly to SEVs and also provide the necessary
support to the dancers who work in these venues so they can have their say.

Page 64




It is especially important that you speak to the dancers, as they are often overlooked and not given a
voice in these issues, and but rather are spoken for by SWERFs and politicians without any lived
experience of the industry. Professor Teela Sanders at the University of Leicester produced work on
this very issue - 'Regulating Strip-Based Entertainment: Sexual Entertainment Venue Policy and the
Ex/Inclusion of Dancers’ Perspectives and Needs - in which she states that “community and campaign
group voices were heard over that of the dancers themselves”.

To this end, we ask you to clearly outline what steps you are actively taking to consult with the affected
dancers and the venue owners. We also ask you to outline how you will consult with the customers of
these venues, who are also part of the local community and deserve to have their say.

We would like to emphasise that any evidence of anti-social behaviour or crime being used to refuse a
license should demonstrate objective proof that the SEVs are responsible. Any incidents must be traced
back to the actual venue otherwise it is subjective evidence. Crime in city centres is driven far more by
drugs and alcohol so nightclubs, pubs and off-licences are much more likely to be the cause of crime
spikes than a small number of well-run SEVs. However SEVs are often scapegoated and discriminated
against when blamed for unrelated crimes. It is of utmost importance that this will not happen.

We ask that no changes be considered without having done proper due diligence with these
stakeholders. It is important that those who will be most affected by the proposed changes are
involved in making decisions. We also ask that you provide some likely potential outcomes to the
proposed change, so stakeholders can make an informed decision on where they stand.

We are concerned that new legislation may leave room for local authorities to try and abolish SEVs
based on unfair and illegal grounds, such as subjective moralistic grounds. This has been seen to
happen in other cities, such as Bristol and Blackpool. We ask that you provide reassurance that this will
not occur under any proposed licensing scheme.

We want to thank you for extending the public consultation, and we ask that it is not completed until
stakeholders have had their say. In ‘Flexible Workers: Labour, regulation and the political economy of
the stripping industry’ Sanders and Hardy conclude “Dancers occupy a privileged position for
understanding and critiquing their own conditions of existence... Dancers can speak, if only we will
listen”. We hope that in the case of Edinburgh, we will be fairly heard.

Please don’t hesitate to get in touch with us at the Coalition to discuss this further.

Many thanks

Emer Lily Cowley, of the National SEV Coalition and the Northern Sex Workers Collective

| am a graduate from the University of Manchester who is now working full time as a stripper/exotic
dancer.

| believe that there is currently an agenda being pushed across the U.K., by SWERFS, that strip clubs
contribute to violence against women. This is completely false, and is a dangerous and terrifying
viewpoint that blames sex workers for violence committed by men. There is currently NO evidence of
any link between strip clubs operating and violence against women occurring. In fact, much evidence
points to the opposite.

For example, the case study of Platinum Lounge in Chester. Platinum Lounge, Chester’s only strip club,

Page 65




closed in 2015. Since the closure violent crime and sexual offence rates in the city have shown an
upward trend. | am going to now refer to research into violent crime and sexual offence rates in the city
before and after the closure of Platinum Lace which | will cover below. This research was undertaken by
Toni Mansell.

Using the month of December as a sample, you can see that in Dec 2013, two years before Platinum
Lounge closed, there were 46 recorded violent crimes in Chester City centre, In Dec 2014 there were 58
recorded violent crimes in Chester city centre. In December 2015, the year the Platinum Lace closed
this went up to 63. In 2016 there were 70, 2017 there were 127, 2018 there were 101, and in 2019, 5
years after the closure of Platinum Lounge, there were 99 recorded violent crimes in Chester city
centre.

These statistics can be fact checked from the source
https://www.ukcrimestats.com/Neighbourhood/9887

To ensure this data is not an outlier for the month of December, you can see the violent crime rates for
June.

June 2013 -44
June 2014 -34
June 2015 -40
June 2016 - 58
June 2017 - 49
June 2018 - 70
June 2019 - 72

In both samples you can see that the numbers of violent crimes in Chester City centre have had an
upward trend AFTER Platinum Lounge's closure. This is even more interesting as the numbers had
actually dropped for 2014 and 2015. It is in the years following the Strip Club closure that violence rose,
suggesting that Chesters strip club may have in fact kept the rates of violent crime down.

https://www.police.uk/pu/your-area/cheshire-constabulary/chester-city/?tab=Statistics further
confirmed that in the last 3 years, Violence and Sexual Offenses in Chester City Centre had increased by
22.2% (percentages true as of 23/03/2021).

These statistics include violent crime as one emcompassing bracket of violence and sexual assault.
While | can not access sexual assault statistics for the city centre individually for these date periods,
further research follows Chester and Cheshire West from Cheshire West and Chester Community Safety
Partnership Strategic Assessment 2015 to see if the trends followed the same pattern. This is a larger
geographical scope of the partnership area, but gives a good indication if we can consider the figures
above to accurately reflect the trends of sexual violence.

The number of sexual offences recorded in Cheshire West and Chester increased by 21% from 317 in
2014 to 383 in 2015. This is a continued increase from 218 in 2012 and 279 in 2013.

In 2016, the total number of recorded sexual offenses in this Chester and Cheshire West was 461. For
the year 2019, this number had risen to 800 recorded cases. (source -
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/recordedcrimedat
abycommunitysafetypartnershiparea)

Page 66




While this look at data and figures was only a brief investigation, it strongly implies that closing the
city's only strip club did not reduce the numbers of violent crimes in any way, in fact they have shown
an upward trend after the clubs closure. Even taking into account influencing factors such as the
change in the way certain crimes were recorded which contributed to a rise in statistics for crimes such
as anti social behaviour in 2016, there is zero evidence to prove that removing strip clubs reduced
violence against women in Chester.

The idea that men will attend a strip club and then go on to commit sex crimes is completely absurd.
There is no evidence of this happening, and we need to move past blaming women for the actions of
men. If we are closing down businesses based off of their relationship to violence against women, why
are we not looking at football. Figures show that when England loses a football match domestic
violence incidents increase by 38%, so why aren’t we closing down football stadiums? The facts show
that the desire to close down strip clubs is a hatred for female sexuality disguised as an attempt to help
women.

Stripping allows for flexible hours and financial stability that is a major lifeline. It allows people who
cannot work typical hours (whether that’s due to childcare responsibilities, caring responsibilities,
mental health, disability ect) the ability to choose their own hours and work when they are capable of
working. It's a huge lifeline for working class women as it allows them to fund higher education
opportunities such as masters degrees that they would otherwise not be able to fund. It’s a hugely
positive experience for a lot of people, and also gives women a lot of transferable skills (such as sales
skills) which are starting to be taken more seriously by other kinds of employers.

| can absolutely say, without a doubt, that starting stripping was the best decision | ever made. | went
from being a heavy drinker with no direction to a motivated and healthy person. My passion for
stripping inspired me to get healthy, reduce my drinking and focus on dance and fitness. It gave me
confidence and assertiveness and improved my mental health ten fold. It’s given me hope to undertake
a masters degree and further my education, which, as a working class woman, | would not be able to
afford otherwise. | am terrified of what will happen to my colleagues and myself if strip clubs were to
close.

| have worked in a total of 6 strip clubs, and every single one has been a safe and controlled
environment. We have no strictly enforced no touching policies staff do not tolerate any sexual
harassment, and CCTV is constantly monitored. The staff ensure we get home safely and are willing to
arrange taxis or escort us to cars. Staff look out for us to make sure we are not drunk or put in
vulnerable positions. | can say that | feel so much safer in my workplace than | do in other
environments such as nightclubs, where sexual harassment is rife.

If strip clubs were to be banned, it will push the industry underground, making it so much more
dangerous. Currently, council approved strip clubs are run with strict safety measures as | mentioned
above, such as no touching policies, constantly monitored cctv, and strict security. If the clubs were to
go underground, all of the safety measures will dissapear. Even if underground clubs did not open up,
the industry would move to unregulated private parties that would put dancers in danger.

| demand that you provide reassurance that strip clubs will be allowed to operate as they currently are
in Edinburgh, and you won’t take away a safe place for women to work.

Page 67




| disagree with this policy as this can cause danger to workers in SEVs such as forcing underground and
unsafe work. Limiting this will cause further damage to this community

Reducing the amount of clubs that can operate will seriously put women in danger, licensed clubs are a
way for women to work safely and securely. There is a misconception that these clubs are seedy or
bad for society but this is not the case at all these clubs have strict rules that keep the women
protected while they work and stop bad things from happening to them, placing a limit on these clubs
only leads to women working in unlicensed venues or in different avenues of the field that that can be
life threatening

There shouldn't be a cap on the number of sexual entertainment venues in the area. This will help
bring employment to many people and help the economy.

United Voices of the World (UVW) appreciate the invitation to be consulted about Edinburgh Council’s
Sexual Entertainment Venue (SEV) licence policy. As a union representing strippers in clubs across
Scotland we would like to focus our response upon the unique opportunity the Council has to enshrine
workers rights in their SEV policy. We note that the Council’s aims are to preserve public safety and the
prevention of crime and disorder however we feel that worker safety should be given equal
importance within the drafting of this policy. The majority of strippers are women and as such they
should be included in the consideration of ‘reducing violence against women’ (draft sexual
entertainment policy 1.5.4). We feel that enshrining strong worker rights in any council policy will
preclude any illegal activity and any potential threat of exploitation and violence.

Whilst we would like it to be noted that the Council did not directly contact the UVW to advise upon
working conditions and worker safety when drafting this policy, we would like to comment upon
specific issues that would affect our members if they were working within Edinburgh and will work
through the policy document with our comments and recommendations.

Our main concern is with Edinburgh Council focusing so much on setting a cap to the appropriate
number of SEVs. We are worried that this will result in the minimisation of future opportunity for an
SEV business to operate or open within Edinburgh, which in turn may affect employment opportunities
for women. This will result in the more worrying effect of driving the stripping industry underground.
This, in turn, precludes any worker in illegal workplaces from accessing representation in order to
bargain for better working conditions. In addition, unregulated stripping venues are likely to run
without appropriate working conditions, which could otherwise be written into the Standard
Conditions of SEV licences. We therefore question the need to set any limit to the number of SEVs in
the first place.

Lastly, one of the hurdles that SEV applicants in England have passed onto performers are the
arbitrarily high licence application fees. We would therefore like the fee to be appropriately set so that
excessively high fee rises will not occur in the future.

The SEV licensing regime in England and Wales was created in response to the false claim that
lapdancing clubs/SEVs have led to increased levels of violence against women and girls (Eden, |, 2003.
Lilith Report Lap dancing and strip-tease in the borough of Camden). This claim has since been
disproven (Magnanti, B. 2011, The Impact of Adult Entertainment on Rape Statistics in Camden: A Re-
Analysis). There is no evidence that strip clubs lead to violence against women elsewhere in society,
and so to create policy on that basis is a moral argument, rather than an evidence based one. | would
like to ask Edinburgh City Council to carefully consider the basis on which they are creating their SEV

policy.

SEVs have been scapegoated, stigmatised and blacklisted by many interest groups - this has had a

Page 68




detrimental impact on the women who work in them. In Scotland, the Encompass Network of women's
rights organisations have assumed a public voice of authority in regards to the sex industry. However,
the Encompass Network makes an ideological argument that the selling of sex and sexual services is a
form of violence against women, and must therefore be criminalised. But there are many other
organisations led by sex workers, such as Umbrella Lane, United Sex Workers, ELSC, National SEV
Coalition, Bristol Sex Workers Collective, and SWARM, who take a different approach - these
organisations take an evidence based, harm-reduction approach i.e. the criminalisation of sex work
does not have positive social outcomes. | would like Edinburgh City Council to include voices and
perspectives from sex worker led organisations as much as possible, when considering any regulation
of the sex industry, and wherever possible to consider a harm-reduction analysis of sex work.

The SEV licensing regime has failed to safeguard and protect the women who work in them from
workplace abuses, in fact the regime has lead to further levels of exploitation and coercion for workers.
This is because licensing conditions are more difficult and more costly to uphold (for example, if a club
as to go through an expensive licensing renewal process every year) these costs are usually passed on
to workers, since the business model relies on charging dancers unfair house fees, fines and
commissions. The typical business model of an SEV has grown out of a gig-economy culture, dancers
are frequently missed classified as self-employed, when in actual fact they almost always meet the
legal criteria for worker status. Since 2018, the sex workers trade union branch (United Sex Workers)
have been bringing claims against workplace abuses for dancers in the UK and in 2020 won a landmark
case, setting a legal precedent and opening the door for dancers all over the UK to begin bringing
similar claims against club bosses. USW have won more than £100k combined compensation for
members of the union, who are all sex workers demanding justice and standing up against exploitation
in the sex industry. Trade union activism is proving a vital and powerful tool for turning back the
culture of exploitation within the sex industry - strip clubs are an essential component to this, since we
can only bring claims against workplace abuses when there is an actual, legal workplace. Our concern is
that SEV licensing results in club closures, which means workers are unable to pursue legal claims and
hold business owners accountable.

you can't give a number of premises per area unless the size of the area, population of the area or
number of businesses in the area is shown

Page 69




Appendix 7.

Do you have any comments on the proposed set of conditions for Sexual
Entertainment Venues? The proposed set of conditions is attached below.
Written Responses.

1. | Number 37 is of great concern to me- it is unclear whether you want to have an open plan
room for private dances or an area in the club that is sectioned off;

“the booth or area will not have a door, curtain or other similar closure”

If this means that there is no partition for the private dances it means that any customer
in the building can watch other customers receiving a private dance and see all of the girls
undressed for free. This could create the following problems for the dancers;

1)There would be less incentive for someone to pay for a dance when they can see
someone else get one for free.

2)As a dancer of 15 years who has worked all over the uk, | have chosen never to work in
a table dance club (meaning the dance is given in the bar area rather than in private)

If you mean an open plan dancing room that is partitioned off | also have a problem with
this mainly because of CONSENT.

To give a dance in a private booth | have the power to dance for who | want & equally
NOT dance for anyone | don’t want to dance for.

To give a dance in an open plan booth/in the club with no partitions | have lost the power
to decide who sees my body.

Example 1;

My neighbour walks in. | don’t know him but | know he’s my neighbour. So | carry on
working, | can avoid him, pretend | don’t know him, turn him down for a dance etc. | can
also continue going for dances & earning money because | have the comfort of knowing
he cannot see me performing in a private booth. What would happen in an open plan
room? He could take another girl for a dance at the same time I’'m in there, see me
performing without my consent & see me performing for FREE. If I'm not willing to let a
neighbour pay me to dance for him I’'m certainly not ok with him watching me dance for
someone else for free.

Example 2;

A colleague from my day job walks in, no one there knows | dance- | slip off to the staff
room before I’'m noticed & use that time to take a break, have some food, then | can go
back & continue working after he leaves. What if I'm in an open plan dance room giving a
dance when he arrives? Too late, he’s seen me AND without my clothing! What if the only
place to hide is a dance booth? | can’t hide from him in an open plan dance room, he
could come on for a dance!

Obviously there are many different examples | could give but there will be some people
you would want to hide from, sometimes you may decide to go home for the night or
there could be some people who you don’t mind knowing you work there but you
wouldn’t give them a dance. Working in a public place knowing anyone could come in is
my choice & | have mentioned my options above. Some girls wouldn’t bat an eyelid &
would dance for any of these people. Money’s money & business is business. Which is

Page 70



also fine. But removing booths or curtains also removes CONSENT to who sees MY body.

To be clear- | have no problem doing this job, showing my body or dancing. The examples
above are not a regular occurrence but they do happen & consent is extremely important.

| agree with the limitations on signage, but would suggest that visual representations of
the female form be also banned as this makes all too evident the activities inside, and
creates a Seedy atmosphere

| disagree with the banning on touting and flyering. After Covid SEV’s should be allowed
to market their business and if that includes filtering on a Friday and Saturday night to get
customers then so be it.

If you look at the number of "SEVs" in an area, and the average crime statistic, | think you
will find that there are often a connection.

| think these places should absolutely be regulated, but rather by the police. | find this a
deplorable notion that it is healthy for society. It opens the door to other situaitons that
abuses and depraves vulnerable women into prostetution.

l.e. what is the general lifecycle for a woman who chooses a carreer in Lap Dancing? what
motivated her to start that? Rather become a model if anything... | feel the conditions of
these places allow much worse things to happen.

Rather society should look to protect their citiezens and not create spaces for them to be
abused.

Well considered conditions. Very pleased to see the council have included conditions on
external advertising.

My comments as above.

The current venues are mostly in one specific area of Edinburgh, therefore are not too
close to schools/places of worship where residents may not want us. We are in an area
that people must specifically travel to to find and use our services.

| have also noticed that this consultation does not involved full service sexual
entertainment services such as saunas, which are much less behind the scenes than lap
dancing clubs yet have been allowed to remain open as normal, yet lap dancing clubs with
no physical contact allowed is not? Even at tier O.

I’'ve no issue with conditions set out.

The council should not be profiting from the sexual exploitation of women.

10.

They seem comprehensive,.

11.

How is the CEC going to build in consideration for the safety and comfort of women living
and working in the vicinity, or simply passing by the venues. Answering as a female
resident of Edinburgh | can say that it can feel extremely uncomfortable passing by these
places.

12.

eLayout conditions seem far too stringent. | do not see any reason other than
moralisation for putting additional restrictions on SEV's than on nightclubs.

eAgain the restrictions on the perfomers seem to achieve nothing but applying someone
else's moral standards. Individual agency for perfomers should be maximised. At the very
least the absurd requirement to put 'the same clothes back on' should be dropped. There
is no reason for this to be in place.

eTouting restrictions are not in place for nightclubs and restaurants. The only reason for
additional restrictions is to pass moral judgement which is not the council's place.

Page 71




13.

No

14. | The conditions seem reasonable except that:
Private entertainment in booths is likely to be abused and should be specifically excluded
(potential exploitation);
There should be a commitment to frequent monitoring on the part of the council/police.

15. | Premises may well intent to control the immediate area outside entrances/ exits but this
does not extend very far away from the premises and thus the public are not adequately
protected.

16. | Yes, they are a pile of bureaucratic bullshit. Leave the SEV’s alone to make money for the
people that work in them.

17. | Better to have non at all

18. | Ransom ainspections by plain clothed officers to heck on staff welfare and human
trafficking

19. | We need to move away from this in our City. | understand Glasgow has taken a strong
stance against these types of venues in their city.
There is no place for this in Edinburgh.

20. | These seem good, but would be better if included a requirement for businesses to pay
performers a minimum wage.

21. | Na

Page 72




Appendix 8

Would you like to make any further comments on these proposals?

Written Responses.

1) One year ago | signed a petition for dancers to remain self employed. From your
proposed changes there are a number of “control measures” put in place which could
make the dancers “workers” rather than self employed. As a self employed contractor |
have all of the power. As a worker | am treated more like an employee & have less
control. It is very clear to me that UVW have played a part in some of the proposed
changes. Let me be clear. | have worked in 3 UK clubs where this “union” have tried to
interfere. They do not have the dancers best interests at heart, they are looking to build
their reputation & to get membership money. Most dancers DO NOT want worker
status! This will affect them massively! Please reach out to every dancer in Edinburgh &
give them a voice on this. The girls bringing claims are extreme “undesirables” of society
& out for revenge- not justice! Please look into this. This union & most of the people
involved in it are bad news.

To give an example- a price list must be on show- the girls are self employed & offer
their own prices. To make a price list would make them workers. Please look into this.

| should also highlight that GMB in Glasgow are fighting for SELF EMPLOYMENT for
strippers. Please look into this! | have attached a link for the petition for your
information.

http://chng.it/cHWFGYnCTy

2) | believe allowing the council to have power over Sexual Entertainment venues is a form
of removing body autonomy from women in the industry. It is misogynistic to believe
the council should be entitled to say how, when and where women are allowed to profit
in this legal industry. It would be doing a disservice to the progressive image of Scottish
politics, A modern day 'witch burning' mentality against sex workers is harmful to all

women.
3) | would strongly agree the need to regulate the industry as a whole.

4) No

5) Please consider the safety and well-being of all those working in SEV environments,

closing the clubs and venues will are simply oppressing women’s rights by taking away
the freedom to do as they please with their own bodies and lives and puts their safety
and futures at high risk.

6) Let’s limit the number through public demand/footfall, | fear snobbery will play its part
here, any establishment not meeting the conditions set out should lose their licence, I'd
applaud it, what | don’t wish to see is limits set based on snobbery.

7) Edinburgh has large student population. Very few places to hear it see live bands.

8) The venues to be licensed should be in areas where people already visit for
entertainment, no proposed venue should be in an area where there isn't already
entertainment venues (pubs and clubs) and should not be in residential areas where
people would be encouraged to visit when there are no other reasons for prospective
customers to visit the area.

9) Just be sensible to remember if these places are forced underground then it cannot be
regulated for safety of the workers in these establishments.

Page 73



These businesses have given employment to many and also form part of the attraction
with tourism that comes to Edinburgh ie. stag/hen parties on a weekly basis.

10)

Gender inequality anywhere causes violence against women. As such, | wish to make
clear my strong support of a resolution to licence Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVs)
and, crucially, to set the limit at zero.

The failure to instigate licensing will enable SEVs to operate unlicenced, unregulated and
without any legal sanctions.

| think it is important that we look to Equally Safe, which is Scotland’s Strategy to
prevent and eradicate violence against women and girls (also called gender based
violence). For the purposes of this strategy, violence against women and girls includes
(but is not limited to): domestic abuse, sexual violence (including harassment, sexual
assault and rape and child sexual abuse), commercial sexual exploitation, child sexual
exploitation, so called “Honour” based violence, including female genital mutilation and
forced marriage. The gendered analysis that underpins Equally Safe recognises that
women and girls are disproportionately affected by violence precisely because of their
gender. It recognises that this violence stems from deep rooted and systemic gender
inequality and the subordinate position women occupy in society in relation to men.

In this instance, we are talking about the commercial sexual exploitation element, which
includes prostitution, trafficking, pornography, lap dancing, pole dancing, peep and strip
shows.

All of these forms of commercial sexual exploitation are inherently harmful and
exploitative of women and | reject the notion that lap and pole dancing are legitimate
forms of entertainment.

All of us must always take steps that work towards ending the structural inequalities in
our society, that permit violence against women and girls to continue. | believe that
licensing of sexual entertainment venues is one way we can do something about it, and
that is within the gift of all local authorities in Scotland. It will significantly contribute to
the elimination of gender inequality by recognising that setting the limit to anything else
other than zero is, by default, continuing to perpetuate the very systems that allow
violence against women and girls to happen.

The National Council for Women and Girls which advises the First Minister on what is
needed to tackle gender inequality in Scotland reported that:

“Gender inequality is an enduring issue because structures perpetuate it. The Scottish
Government; public and third sectors and business need to lead by example and take
steps to restructure Scotland to be gender competent to see the desired changes we
seek...As well as making this long-established system universally gender competent, we
need to ensure there are no conflicting messages and the standards are clear.”

It would be welcome if Edinburgh City Council would set a clear commitment to
eradicating the systems and structures that allow gender inequality to thrive, as well as
ensuring there are no “conflicting messages” between a commitment to gender equality
and the licensing of SEVs. By setting the number of licences available to grant at zero,
the Council would demonstrate aspirations for the city as a whole for gender equality
and an end to violence against women and girls as well as taking seriously the
obligations toward Public Sector Equality Duty.

Sexual entertainment is both inappropriate and unnecessary. Lap dancing clubs are
where fully clothed men go to be ‘entertained’ by naked or semi naked women in an
environment where sexual harassment is the norm. There is a major power differential
between the man who buys sexual entertainment and the woman he buys, in terms of

Page 74




her poverty and inequality, unequal social status and abuse history. These clubs are
driven by male demand and provided by club owners who seek to make profit on the
back of sexual exploitation of women. There is no other comparable form of public
entertainment that is as gendered in its nature as sexual entertainment. It is steeped in
gender inequality and seeks to make a profit on the sexual objectification and
commodification of women. It is an industry that is detrimental and damaging to women
reducing them to body parts and is never “harmless fun.”

Regardless of the proximity of SEV's to residential areas, schools or places of worship
their very existence creates 'no go areas' for women. There is too often an assumption
made by men using these venues that any women in the area are willing to be
propositioned for sex by strangers, the belief being if they were not, they wouldn't be in
the area. Consequently, women are forced to modify their movements - particularly at
night and in the early hours of the morning.

Obligations under the Public Sector Equality Duty must be considered as well as the
stated position on violence against women. An equality impact assessment must be
carried out on how their existence impacts on the freedom of movement of women and
girls and the right of all women and girls to freedom, respect and dignity.

The use of private booths is common place in SEVs, and in that environment of one-to-
one performances, women are at significantly more risk of sexual harassment and sexual
assault or to be manipulated or coerced into unwanted sexual activity. The safety and
wellbeing of the women involved should be of paramount concern here. Research shows
that women who are involved in lap dancing and other such similar activities experience
verbal, physical and sexual assault from male customers, managers, owners and staff on
an alarmingly frequent basis.

Sexual entertainment is not a human right. It is sexual exploitation. Sexual exploitation is
a practice by which a person or persons receive sexual gratification, financial gain, or
advancement, through the abuse of another person’s sexuality, by removing that
person’s human right to dignity, equality, autonomy, and physical and mental well-
being. The rights of a minority of individuals (for example, customers, club owners and
managers) should never take precedence over the systematic exploitation of the
majority (for example, those who are being harmed through sexual entertainment and
other forms of sexual exploitation). Under Article 1 of the European Convention of
Human Rights, the UK is required to convey the Convention Rights and fundamental
freedoms of “everyone within their jurisdiction.” Given this, a failure to protect a
woman from sexual exploitation may breach:

e Article 2 (her right to life);

e Article 3 (her right to be free of inhuman and degrading treatment);

e Article 4 (her right to be free of slavery and servitude).

The only “choices” in these situations lie with those men who seek to use their economic
power and male privilege to buy sexual entertainment. In Scotland, the majority of
women involved in commercial sexual exploitation are affected by poverty, welfare cuts,
substance misuse, homelessness and involvement in the criminal justice system. These
are not causes of sexual exploitation, but secondary symptoms that underscore
women’s inequality and together compound their lack of choice. While some women
say it is their ‘choice’ to dance in clubs, the vast majority are involved through the very
lack of choice and economic alternatives.

If the Edinburgh City Council choose to set the number of SEVs at zero, there are no
legitimate negative consequences for men, but there will be countless positive

Page 75




consequences for women across the city and beyond, in the long term. In the short
term, they must ensure that assistance is given to the women involved to find an
alternative income source to enable this change to be made without those exploited
being subject to additional hardship.

In order to stop violence against women we must change the attitude of some men —
the men who believe they are entitled to sex and superior to the women who must
provide it. Enabling men to buy sexual entertainment reinforces this sense of
entitlement and maintains the lesser status of women. If we want a truly equal and safe
society for women, we must tackle these issues.

11) | This entire approach to licensing is fundamentally judgemental. Restrictions should
match other entertainment venues as much as practicable. It is not the council's job to
pass moral judgement.

12) | I'm not sure why there is a need to have these premises at all. Whenever | have come
across them they always appear seedy.

13) | A good idea so long as the venues and operators are closely monitored.

14) | Councils should place more consideration on the reasons not to grant a license and, as
these premises are no doubt very profitable, should impose far greater checks and curbs
and penalties that are actually enforced before even considering a license.

Residential areas should be exempt from such premises and licenses banned.

15) | Yes open all bars and clubs until 5am

16) | Edinburgh is a city of culture - time to do away with sexual entertainment venues

17) | I wouldn't allow anyone with a criminal record to own, operate, or work in such a
business. Now would | allow anyone who is on the sex offenders list.

18) na

19) | don't think three locations should be concentrated in one place like currently at Main
Point, West Port

20) | ves, they should be voted out instantly.

21) | NO

22) | I've already been pretty extensive, but if possible I'd like to see some mandate
supporting the presence of worker unions - | have no idea if the council has the power to
include anything like that, though.

23) | Women feel unsafe and uneasy in and around venues such as these because the men
who go there and men in general thanks to pornography freely available on electronic
devices tend to treat all women as objects.

24) | I'm concerned that it's not clear what provision there will be for local residents to
comment or object to an SEV being located in their neighbourhood. Many local people,
particularly women, will have concerns about personal safety should such premises be
located near to their homes. | would be very upset to have an SEV nearby.

25) | I dont think any additional regulation is required

26) | Just leave that industry as it’s been here for so long, your going to drive the workers
back into the streets.

27) | Alot of extra admin for a problem that may not really exist

28) | It has been widely reported that these plans are merely a cover for the plans of a small

minority of activists who wish to ban SEVs, under cover of setting licensing
requirements. | do not wish for the licensing process to be abused in such a manner, and
| hope that this consultation does not capitulate to this vocal minority.

Page 76




If this process is unfairly used to close the existing SEVs, then the impact of the closure
of these venues will be felt most keenly by their employees, who will have lost an
income opportunity after the hugely disruptive events of the coronavirus pandemic and
the collapse in the hospitality trade. It seems grossly unfair for workers made vulnerable
by the pandemic to lose their livelihoods due to the machinations of a few comfortable,
middle class activists.

29)

Failure to permit these premises of this nature to exist in Scotland will drive the activity
underground and place the dancers in the hands of persons unknown - to the dancers
certain harm. It is already alleged that girls are being engaged by unregulated
unscrupulous persons to perform in private houses and other venues. The legitimate
operators of whom there are 11 in Scotland condemn such behaviour.

30)

Please make sure you do the extra work required to ask *customers* what they think.
There is lots of misinformation about who customers are: they are normal people and
going to a strip club can fulfill many mental and emotional health needs as much as be a
bit of titillation. You yourself might be a customer, so might your family, friends,
colleagues, neighbours. But because of the old-fashioned taboos around erotic
entertainment, the misguided and misinformed rhetoric from extremist anti-strip club
feminists and the stifling of any intelligent conversation about a) sexual wellness and b)
how to prevent the toxic masculinity and other issues that actually do cause the social
damage often falsely attributed to the presence of strip clubs in a location, they don't
speak up.

If we were talking about the closing of any other facility: a swimming pool, a pool hall, a
pub, the management, the surrounding community, the workers and the service users
would be consulted. So please do the same here.

In addition, please know that the dancer community is a mobile workforce and issues
that affect dancers in Scotland impact the rest of the UK's strippers. In addition, dancers
in Scotland often work in other venues too. So please take the time to really do the
digging that might be required to make sure you reach this key group of stakeholders
too.

Finally, don't be under any illusions. If you close licensed strip clubs you won't stop
striptease. It will be pushed underground where client and worker safety is jeopardised.
And if you make licensing impositions even harder, you'll only lessen the amount of
money and time that venue management have to maintain and invest in their venues.

It's also important to remember that strip clubs teach boundaries and about real women
in a way that porn does not. They provide a valuable in-person counterweight to online
sexuality which is even more vital now than ever when you have teens and even pre-
teens finding sexually explicit content online.

31)

No

32)

As a trade union representing workers within all aspects of the Adult Entertainment
Industry, we categorically disagree with the Scottish Government’s 'Equally Safe:
Scotland's strategy for preventing and eradicating violence against women and girls’. It
sets out a definition of violence against women and girls which includes ‘commercial
sexual exploitation, including prostitution, lap dancing, stripping, pornography and

Page 77




human trafficking’. We dispute the link between SEVs and “prostitution and trafficking”.
No evidence has been found of this link and therefore we regard it as inflammatory and
evidence of an ideological stance taken by the Council. Indeed, we feel that enshrining
strong worker rights in any council policy will preclude any illegal activity and any
potential threat of trafficking. We would also like to point out that prostitution is
currently not a crime in Scotland.

33)

Criminal marketplaces are more violent and coercive than regulated workplaces - we
therefore beseech Edinburgh City Council to consider very carefully your approach to
SEV policy, and remind you that working towards a future in which sex work "is a thing
of the past" is an impossibility. Banning sex work will not end the supply or the demand,
closing safe, legal workplaces and criminalising the sex industry will only serve to drive
sex workers into unsafe work environments where they cannot access justice and labour
rights.

34)

We would be more than happy to set up a meeting should you wish to discuss any of
these matters further, perhaps you may also wish to have a chat to some of the
performers. We would welcome this.

Page 78




Appendix 9

Draft Sexual Entertainment Venues Licensing Policy

Draft Sexual Entertainment Venue Licensing Policy

11

1.2

13

14

15

1.6

Introduction

The City of Edinburgh Council (“the Council”) is able to regulate sexual
entertainment venues through the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (the
1982 Act).

Section 76 of the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 (the 2015 Act)
added new sections 45A to 45C to the 1982 Act in order to introduce a
discretionary licensing regime for sexual entertainment venues (SEVs). Section 76
also amends section 41 of the 1982 Act to specifically exclude sexual
entertainment venues from the definition of places of public entertainment to
ensure that a public entertainment licence cannot also be required for those
venues.

The Council’s Regulatory Committee agreed on 31 March 2022 to make a
resolution under section 45B(1) of the 1982 Act to introduce a licensing scheme
for SEVs with effect from [Date to be added after committee decision]
Consequently, this SEV policy applies to the whole of Edinburgh.

The making of the resolution under section 45B(1) of the 1982 Act allows the
Council to prescribe standard conditions and fees for the grant, variation, renewal
and transfer of SEV licences and to determine the appropriate number of premises
to be licensed as SEVs within the city or any identified locality of the city and the
appropriate number may be set at zero.

The Council must prepare a statement of its policy with respect to the exercise of
its functions in relation to the licensing of SEVs. The policy will have regard as to
how it will affect the statutory licensing objectives of:

1.5.1 Preventing public nuisance, crime and disorder
1.5.2 Securing public safety

1.5.3 Protecting children and young people from harm
1.5.4 Reducing violence against women

The policy will also provide guidance for prospective applicants, existing licence
holders, those who may wish to object to an application and members of the
Licensing Sub-Committee when determining an application. This policy will be
reviewed regularly and revised when necessary.

Page 79



1.7

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

3.1

The key aims of civic licensing are the preservation of public safety and order and
the prevention of crime. A specific SEVs licensing regime allows the Council to
consider local circumstances in setting the number of venues able to operate
within their areas and to exercise appropriate control and regulation of those
venues.

Definitions

A SEV is defined in the 1982 Act as any premises at which sexual
entertainment is provided before a live audience for (or with a view to) the
financial gain of the organiser.

For the purposes of that definition, “sexual entertainment” means any live
performance or any live display of nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring
financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally
for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the audience (whether by
verbal or other means). An audience can consist of just one person.

This definition would apply to the following forms of entertainment as they are
commonly known:

2.3.1 Lap dancing
2.3.2 Pole dancing
2.3.3 Table dancing
2.3.4 Strip shows
2.3.5 Peep shows
2.3.6 Live sex shows

This list above is not intended to be exhaustive and should only be treated as
indicative. The decision to licence premises as SEVs shall depend on the content
of the relevant entertainment rather than the name given toit.

Premises at which sexual entertainment is provided on a particular occasion will
not require to obtain a SEVs licence if the sexual entertainment has not been
provided on more than 3 occasions within a 12-month period.

Locality

The Council considers that the character of the relevant locality, the use to which
premises in the vicinity are put, and the layout, character or condition of the venue
in respect of which the application is made, are relevant considerations when

Page 80



3.2

3.3

34

determining the grant of a SEV licence.

With reference to paragraph 9(7) of Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act, “relevant
locality” means:

a. Inrelation to the premises, the locality where they are situated,
b. In relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is desired to use

it as a SEV.

Character & Vicinity of Relevant Locality

In considering whether the grant, renewal or variation of the licence would be
inappropriate given the vicinity in which the SEV premises operates, the
Committee shall consider the existing character and function of the area. Having
regard to Scottish Government guidance, due consideration will be given to the
following:

a. Whether the premises are situated in a residential area

b. Whether there are any schools and other places of education near the
vicinity of the premises

c. Whether there are any places of worship in that vicinity

d. Whether there are other relevant businesses or charities operating in the
area e.g. homelessness shelters, women'’s refuges, supported
accommodation, recovery units

e. Whether there are certain landmarks or facilities in the vicinity (e.g. historic
buildings, sports facilities, cultural facilities, family leisure facilities, play areas
or parks, youth facilities, retail shopping areas, and places used for celebration
of commemoration

f.  Whether there have been incidents involving anti-social behaviour, sexual
assaults or more minor harassment reported in that area and/or in connection
with the premises

g. Whether there have been incidents of human trafficking or exploitation in that
area and/or in connection with the premises

The Council will consider relevant locality on a case by case basis, taking into
account the particular circumstances of each application.

Appropriate Number of SEVs in a Relevant Locality

Page 81



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

4.1

As set out within paragraph 9(5)(c) of Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act, the Council may
refuse an application for a SEV if it is satisfied that the number of SEVs in the

local authority area or relevant locality at the time the particular application is
made is equal to or exceeds the number which the local authority consider is
appropriate for the local authority area or locality. The Council is able to
determine that the appropriate number for the local authority area or locality is nil.

The Council must determine the appropriate number of SEVs which it considers
appropriate in any area within the Council’s control. Having done so,

each application will be considered on its own individual merits at the time the
application is submitted to the Council.

The Council considers the appropriate maximum limit on the number of SEVs
within the City of Edinburgh is {To be updated after Committee decision].. The
Council considers that the city centre ward 11 (as shown appendix 1) is the only
area of the city where it is appropriate to have SEVs located. No separate
localities have been identified. It is considered that no other Council wards are
appropriate to have any SEVs operating within them given the predominantly
residential nature and character of those wards.

Notwithstanding the terms of paragraph 3.7 above, the Council does not consider
any commercial or industrial areas in the city appropriate locations for SEVs. At
the time of passing the resolution there were no SEVs operating in these areas.
Further it is possible that the classification of such areas can change through
regeneration or development to become residential in character. Finally, these
areas are not considered suitable as they can be isolated or quiet after normal
business hours and these would not be appropriate locations having regard to the
safety of performers.

Suitability of Premises

Under the 1982 Act the Council has the discretion to refuse applications relating
to SEVs if it is considered that the grant or renewal of the licence would be
unsuitable, having regard to the layout, character or condition of the premises,
vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of which the application is made.

It is expected that when an application for a SEV licence is made, that the
applicant will be able to demonstrate that the layout, character and/or
condition of the premises is appropriate to the relevant entertainment
proposed at the premises.

SEV Application Process

The 1982 Act allows the Council to issue a licence for a maximum period of one
year. A licence can also be issued for a shorter period, if it is deemed
appropriate.

Page 82



4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

@ ~oao0 oy

An application for the grant, variation, renewal or transfer of a licence must be made
in writing to the Council together with the appropriate fee, layout plan as well as
complying with the following requirements:

Within seven days of the application being lodged with the Council, the applicant
must publish an advertisement of the application in a local newspaper within
Edinburgh. A suggested form of advertisement is available from the Licensing
Service website. A copy of the newspaper in which the advertisement appears
must be lodged with the Licensing Service within 3 days of the publication.

The applicant must display a notice of the application on or near the premises
where it can be conveniently read by the public. The notice must be displayed
for 21 days from the date the application is lodged with the Council. A copy of a
display notice can be downloaded from the Licensing Service website. As soon
as possible after the expiry of the period of 21 days, the applicant shall submit
to the Council a certificate (available online) which states that a notice was duly
exhibited for the required period.

Applicants will be required to provide pictures or sketches of the exterior design
of the premises for consideration, in order to ensure that it complies with the
standard conditions of licence.

Application packs must include a copy of the premises ‘house rules’ for
performers and proposed code of conduct of patrons.

Applicants should note that the application fee is non-refundable in the event of
the licence being refused or the application being withdrawn prior to
determination. To view the Council’s policy on refunds, click here.

The following list organisations will receive a copy of an application upon its
submission to the Council

Edinburgh Rape Crisis Centre

Edinburgh Women'’s Aid

Equally Safe (Edinburgh) Committee

Rape Crisis Scotland

Scottish Women’s Aid

Zero Tolerance

Any community council within or neighbouring the locality in which the premises is
situated

Making an Objection

It is possible to lodge an objection against the grant of an application for a SEV

Page 83


https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/24281/licence-application-fee-refunds-policy

4.6

licence. Objections must be made in writing (emails are accepted) and sent to the
Licensing Service (licensing@edinburgh.gov.uk) within 28 days of the application
being advertised. If an objection is lodged out with this period, it must explain why
it has been lodged late. It would then be a matter for the Licensing Sub-
Committee to consider if it is satisfied that there is sufficient reason why it was not
made in the time required.

To be considered as competent, objections should include the following
information:

a. The name and address of the person or organisation making the objection

b. The premises to which the objection relates

C.

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

The objection must be signed by the objector, or on their behalf

Objections to a SEV application will be considered by the Licensing Sub-
Committee when determining the application. A copy of the general terms of the
objection will be sent to the applicant, however certain contact details such as
telephone numbers, email addresses and signatures will be removed. The name
and address of any objector will not be provided to the applicant without the
objector’s consent.

Determining an Application

Every application for a SEV licence will be considered and determined at a
meeting of the Licensing Sub-Committee. As stated above, if any objections are
received in relation to an application, they will also be considered at the
Committee meeting.

Objectors will be given the opportunity to speak to their written objection at a
meeting of the Committee. Similarly, applicants will be given the opportunity to
speak to their application and address any questions that the Committee may
have.

Under the terms of the 1982 Act, there are mandatory and discretionary
grounds for refusal of a SEV licence. The specific mandatory grounds for
refusal are set out in section 9(3) of Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act, which states

“A licence under this Schedule shall not be granted -

a) To a person under the age of 18;

b) to a person who is for the time being disqualified under paragraph
13(20) or 19(5) below;

C) to a person other than a natural person if any director of it or partner
in it or any other person responsible for its management is
disqualified under paragraph 13(10) or 19(5) below;

Page 84


mailto:licensing@edinburgh.gov.uk

4.11

4.12

d) to a person who has been convicted of an offence under paragraphs
19 to 21 below;

e) to a person who is not resident in the United Kingdom or was not so
resident throughout the period of six months immediately preceding
the date when the application was made;

f) to a body corporate which is not incorporated in the United Kingdom;

g) to person who has, within the period of 12 months immediately
preceding the date the application was made, been refused by the
same local authority the grant or renewal of a licence under this
Schedule for the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of which
the application is made, unless the refusal has been reversed on
appeal; or

h) to a person other than a natural person if any director of it or

partner in it or any other person responsible for its management has

within that period, been refused by the same local authority the grant or
renewal of such a licence, unless the refusal has been reversed on
appeal.”

Section 9(5) of Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act sets out the terms of the
discretionary grounds on which a SEV application can be refused. They are as
follows:

That the applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reasons of having been
convicted of an offence or for any other reason,;

That if the licence were to be granted or renewed, the business to which it relates
would be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a person, other than the
applicant, who would be otherwise refused the grant/renewal of a licence if they
made the application themselves.

That the number of sexual entertainment venues in the local authority area or
relevant locality at the time the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number
which the Council considers appropriate for their area or that locality;

That the grant or renewal of the licence would inappropriate having regard:

a) To the character of the relevant locality; or
b) To the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or
c) To the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or

stall in respect of which the application is made

Suitability of Applicant

In determining an application, the Committee will consider whether the applicant
is or remains fit and proper to hold a licence. The Council does not expect any
fines, arbitrary or otherwise, to be_in place for performers, which could result in

Page 85



4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

their loss of income. Additionally, the Council expect that house fees for
performers will be transparent and agreed in advance. The Council does not
expect that these would be subject to change at short notice, resulting in a loss
of income to the performer. Where examples of fining or issues with house fees
are brought to their attention, the Committee could take this into account when
considering whether an applicant is or remains fit and proper to hold a SEV
licence.

Variation of a SEV Licence

The licence holder of a SEV licence may apply to vary any term, condition or
restriction placed upon the licence. The statutory requirements for advertising,
giving notice and timeline for the consideration of the application are the same as
those for initial grants or renewals as set out at section 4 of this policy.

Variation applications will be considered by the Licensing Sub-Committee where
the applicant will be given an opportunity to speak to their application and
answer any questions that Committee members may have. When determining
an application, the Committee can either:

Grant the variation as requested;
Make such variations as it thinks fit;
Refuse the application.

In the event of the Committee agreeing a condition or restriction other than the
one sought in the original variation application, the decision will not take effect
until the time for bringing an appeal has expired, or if an appeal is lodged, the
abandonment of the appeal or the conclusion of the appeal, if found in favour of
the Council.

Renewal Application

Provided an application for renewal has been accepted and deemed competent
by the Licensing Service prior to the date of expiry, the licence shall be deemed
to remain in force until such time as the renewal application has been
determined.

The statutory requirements for advertising and giving notice are the same as
those applying to initial grants. Furthermore, renewal applications will be
considered by the Licensing Sub-Committee.

Right to Appeal

An appeal against the decision of the Licensing Sub-Committee in respect of the
grant, renewal, variation or refusal of a licence must be made to the Sheriff Court
within 28 days of the decision being made.

Page 86



4.19

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

7.1

7.2

7.3

8.1

Where an application for a licence is refused on the under paragraph 9(5)(c) or
(d) of Schedule 2 of the Civic Government Act 1982, the applicant can only
challenge the refusal by way of judicial review.

Conditions

The Licensing Sub-Committee is able to grant or renew a SEV licence on such
terms and conditions as it considers appropriate. This will typically take the form
of standard conditions which are applicable to all SEV licences. Additional
conditions may also be placed on the licence which are specific to the applicant
or premises.

The Committee agreed a set of standard conditions on 31 March 2022 and
these shall apply to every licence granted, varied or renewed by the
Committee, unless they have been expressly excluded or varied. The
standard conditions are found at appendix 1 of this policy.

It is an offence to operate a SEV without a licence or contravene a condition of
any granted licence. Licence holders found to breaching the terms of their
licence may be referred to the Licensing Sub-Committee for suspension or
revocation of the SEV licence.

Relationship with Other Strategies

Equally Safe: Scotland’s strategy for preventing and eradicating violence against
women and girls was first published in 2014 and last updated in 2018 It sets out a
definition of violence against women and girls which includes ‘commercial sexual
exploitation, including prostitution, lap dancing, stripping, pornography, and human
trafficking.” Whilst recognising the conflict between this definition and the licensing
of sexual entertainment venues, the Scottish Government intends that it will help to
ensure that such activities take place in safe and regulated environments

Related Documents
Air Weapons & Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 — Sexual Entertainment Venues—
Update After Initial Consultation — Regqulatory Committee — 21 October 2019

Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 — Sections 45A-45C

Provisions for Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues: Guidance — Scottish
Government

Review
This policy will be reviewed annually or more frequently, if required.

Page 87


https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=371&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=371&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=371&Ver=4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/45/section/45A
https://www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-provisions-licensing-sexual-entertainment-venues-changes-licensing-theatres/
https://www.gov.scot/publications/guidance-provisions-licensing-sexual-entertainment-venues-changes-licensing-theatres/

Appendices

Appendix One — Map of City Centre - Ward 11

L . < o
‘!E'rn@;u ;ﬁ

i
v J%}
"{'. : |I.

..,\.

rﬂﬁur@

tiv| \|;- B i."." s
nf)i'i o 3 Jl’f
*'H':' 'ﬁi'u‘r? l .,15 fﬂ-\. " -r-'l "d'i Wb*
ST etk I"', P *

“\ -:

I ":"I, E:‘
I"'I,‘t'

o i .J.-u ! f ;
PE i

: g
|-# '\.F| ¥ ‘
LG h
__Id'i ey i !

\r"

'\1

fl!-'l"‘ 'l- %, I3

”; 4 II‘ [ I"“n-,
"l xrmmr,u T o
M- uulfern*

A1 'y - of lv’il-: iy
y . A *.I"dl-" I| -llT .| '- F L|,.J
¥

-\..' |a.||

,-’ ; *-l.

;‘E\"% '||| I|| |'

'rl.'rll* " At II'.

.,.. 't:.;'.__a;;‘;
i '.-'15_1;' . j rh e

By + Yl
"'l ﬁ i,ulmnsm s
r l" }

s ‘;H’}Ti' el d‘*

| 'u A ﬂl' Eh = hgir - .f| Il"'1‘: -0 i -

b
1] !

'il.c _d‘n- '.rnw,r ,.x

I
"ﬂ'_..*||||||hw\
I i 1 Ll'!n'r-;,

b T e e

NOTES

J || r-.”I:II

A "m .‘:.--1:» ‘
1: :;“-'h i ﬂﬁq?‘s”'
"u' .-" 'w;#it‘ l

'I'II|- i o

WARD 11- CITY CENTRE

Produced using
Smallworid GIS

Reroduced by pemmizsion of Geographers &
12 Map Co. Ltel, ECrown Copyrizht 2015. Al
rights reserved. Licence number 100023420

DATE:

BN

Page 88



Appendix 10

Draft Standard Conditions on the Licensing and Regulation of
Sexual Entertainment Venues (SEVS)

Definitions

e Sexual Entertainment means live performance or any live display of nudity which is of
a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be provided
solely or principally for the purposes of sexually stimulating any member of the
audience (whether by verbal or other means)

e Performer is defined in these conditions as any person operating at a sexual
entertainment venue who carries out any activity falling within the definition of relevant
entertainment.

e Sexual Entertainment Venue (SEV) means any premises at which sexual
entertainment is provided before a live audience for (or with a view to) the financial gain
of the organiser

Conditions

Opening Hours

1 The licensed premises shall not be open or used for the purposes for which the licence
is granted except between the hours prescribed within the licence

Control of Entry to the Premises

2 No person under the age of 18 shall be admitted to the premises at any time or
employed in the business of the establishment.

3 A prominent, clear notice shall be displayed at each entrance to the premises which
states that no person under the age of 18 will be admitted to the premises and that proof
of age may be required.

4 The Challenge 25 proof of age scheme shall be operated at the premises whereby any
person suspected of being under 25 years of age shall be required to produce
identification proving they are over 18 years of age, to ensure that no one under 18
enters the premises. Such credible evidence, which shall include a photograph of the
customer will either be a passport, photographic driving licence, or proof of age card
carrying a ‘PASS’ logo.

5 The premises shall maintain a refusals log whereby any occasion a person is refused
entry shall be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an authorised
Council officer.

6  Any authorised Council officer, Police Constable or officer of the Scottish Fire & Rescue
Service shall be permitted access to the premises at any time, including any area not
accessible to customers.

Page 89



Exhibition of SEV Licence

A copy of the licence shall be prominently exhibited on the premises in a position that
can easily be read by all persons frequenting the premises.

A copy of the licence and conditions attached to the licence shall be kept on the
premises and be available for inspection by any of those persons referred toin condition
6.

Security & CCTV

10

11

12

13

14

15

An adequate number of door supervisors registered in accordance with the Security
Industry Authority (SIA) shall be on duty at all times whilst relevant entertainment is
taking place.

A CCTV system shall be installed and working to the satisfaction of the Chief
Constable and Council officers. The system shall cover the whole of the parts of the
premises to which the public have access. This shall include external areas of the
premises including the area immediately outside any entrance to, or exit from, the
premises.

Notices shall be displayed at the entrance, and in prominent positions throughout the
premises, advising that CCTV is in operation.

CCTV monitors covering the premises shall be available in an appropriate area of the
premises where they can be viewed by Police or authorised Council officers during an
inspection of the premises. This condition does not preclude further monitors being
located in other parts of the premises.

All CCTV cameras shall continually record whilst the premises is open for licensable
activity. All recordings shall be stored for a minimum period of 28 days.

Staff will be fully trained in the operation of the CCTV system and there shall be at least
one member of staff on duty during trading hours who is able to provide a recording of
any incident in a format that can be taken away to be viewed. The premises will provide
copies of any recordings upon request by the police or any authorised Council officer
within 24 hours of the request.

Each area where relevant entertainment is conducted shall be supervised by
management and/or SIA accredited door supervisors and/or contain a panic alarm for
the safety of performers. Additionally, all dance booths or cubicles will be equipped with
a panic alarm.

Layout & External Appearance of Premises

16

No display, advertisement, signage or other matter shall be exhibited so as to be
visible from outside of the premises except:

a. The name of the premises
b.  The opening hours of the premises

Page 90



17

18

19

20

21

c.  Notice of any admission charge to the premises
d. Any other notice required to be displayed by law or by these conditions

The external doors of the premises shall be fitted with a device to provide for their
automatic closure and such devices shall be maintained in good working order.

The windows and openings of the licensed premises shall be of material or covered
with material which will render the interior of the premises invisible to passers-by.

The layout of the premises shall be such that performers cannot be seen from outside
the premises.

Performers or other member of staff shall not stand in lobby, reception or foyer areas
or outside the premises entrance for the purposes of greeting customers or
encouraging customers to enter the venue.

There shall be no alterations to the layout plan of the premises without the prior written
approval of the Council.

Record Keeping

22

23

24

25

26

27

A record of full names, dates of birth, and copies of photographic proof of age
documents, nationality and contact details (address or telephone number) for all staff
& performers shall be available on the premises for immediate inspection if requested
by police or an authorised Council officer.

All staff and performers shall be eligible to work in the UK and proof of eligibility records
shall be kept on the premises. The licence holder shall ensure that such records are
regularly checked to ensure compliance.

An incident log shall be kept at the premises, and made available on request to an
authorised Council officer or the Police, which will record the following:

All crimes reported to the premises;
All ejections of patrons;

Any faults in the CCTV system,;

a
b

c. Anyincidents of disorder;

d

e Any refusal of the sale of alcohal,
f.

Any breach of licence conditions reported by a performer

The incident log shall show the date and time of the incident, the name of the staff
member reporting the incident, a brief description of the customer involved/name of
performer where appropriate and brief details of the incident along with action taken by
staff.

Staff shall complete the incident log as soon as reasonably practicable after any
incident has occurred.

The incident log shall be kept in a place where it can be easily accessed by staff
working at the premises and all staff shall be aware of the location of the incident log
and the need to complete it in the case of any of the circumstances described above.

Page 91



Performances

28
29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

Performers shall be aged not less than 18 years.

Sexual entertainment shall be given only by performers and the audience shall not be
permitted to participate in the relevant entertainment.

Performers must only be present in the licensed area in a state of nudity when they are
performing on stage or providing a private dance.

Immediately after each performance, performers must fully redress in that they will
have the same clothing on prior to the start of their performance.

Sexual entertainment shall take place only in the designated areas approved by the
Council as shown on the licence plan.

The licence holder shall ensure that there will be no physical contact between
performers and customers.

The licence holder will take all reasonable steps to ensure that performers will not
provide any telephone number, address or any other personal contact information to
any customer and that performers will not request any such personal contact from
customers. The licence holder will take all reasonable steps to ensure that any such
information given by a customer is surrendered to the premises manager as soon as
is practicable.

The licence holder will take all reasonable steps to ensure that customers remain fully
clothed at all times and that the performer will not remove any of the customer’s
clothing at any time.

The licence holder will ensure that there will be no photography or recording of any
images or videos by customers on the premises.

Where sexual entertainment is provided in booths, or other areas of the premises
where private performances are provided, the booth or area shall not have a door,
curtain or other similar closure, the area shall constantly be monitored by CCTV, and
access to the booth or other area shall be adequately supervised.

A price list shall be displayed in a prominent position giving the price and the duration
of any sexual entertainment that will take place in private booths

Premises Management & Staff Welfare

39

40

41

42

The licence holder shall nominate a manager who will be responsible for the day-to-
day running of the premises and will ensure that the manager operates the premises
in accordance with these conditions.

Performers shall be provided with unrestricted access to secure and private changing
facilities. Such changing facilities shall be secured so as not to be accessible to
members of the public.

All entrances to private areas to which members of the public are not permitted
access shall have clear signage stating that access is restricted.

Performers shall be provided with their own sanitary facilities separate from those
used by customers.

Page 92



43

44

45
46

Performers must be provided with an information pack which will include, as a
minimum, the following information:

A copy of the Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence, including these and any
additional conditions applied by the Council.

Details of any conditions or house rules applied by the licence holder or manager
of the premises. This will include the level of any house fees and fines.

Details of how to report crime to the relevant authority.

Details of unions, trade organisations or other bodies that represent the interests
of performers

Price lists for any sexual entertainment provided on the premises.

The information provided in the pack will be provided in the performers dressing rooms
and will be available on request to the police or an authorised Council officer.

The licence holder shall have a Performers Welfare Policy in place at the premises.

The Performers Welfare Policy shall, at a minimum, state that

Any performer concerned about the behaviour of a customer shall report the
incident immediately to the Premises Manager (or any member of management
on shift if the Premises Manager is not on the premises), who shall take
immediate action to resolve the matter.

Staff members must supervise the behaviour of customers at the premises
constantly and shall intervene where any customer is acting inappropriately or is
otherwise causing alarm or distress to a performer.

Any customer behaving inappropriately will be ejected from the premises.
Performers shall be provided with free drinking water on request.

Touting for Business

47 The licence holder must take reasonable steps to ensure that there shall be
no touting for business for the premises in a public place by way of flyer,
persons holding advertising boards, branded vehicles or personal solicitation.

Page 93



Appendix 11

Draft Sexual Entertainment Venues Resolution

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL
CIVIC GOVERNMENT (SCOTLAND) ACT 1982 (“the Act”)

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES RESOLUTION Number
1 of 2022

The City of Edinburgh Council, in exercise of its powers in terms of 45A-45C of the Act, hereby
makes the following resolution:

(1) Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act shall have effect throughout the Council’s area in relation to
the licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues.

(2) Subject to the terms of the Act, a Sexual Entertainment Venue licence shall be required
for the use of the premises as places of Sexual Entertainment as from 1 April 2023

(3) The premises in the Council’s area which require to be licensed under the Resolution
include those which provide the following, as they are commonly known:

(a) Lap dancing
(b) Pole dancing
(c) Table dancing
(d) Strip shows

(e) Peep shows

(f) Live sex shows

The list of examples above is not intended to be exhaustive and should only be treated
as indicative. The decision to licence premises as SEVs shall depend on the content of the
relevant entertainment, rather than the name given to it.

In terms of the Act ‘Sexual entertainment’ means any live performance or any live display of
nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed
to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating any member of the
audience (whether by verbal or other means).

Page 94



Appendix 12

Summary Report Template

Each of the numbered sections below must be completed

Interim report Final report X (Tick as appropriate)

1. Title of proposal
City of Edinburgh Council Sexual Entertainment Venues Licensing Policy

2. What will change as a result of this proposal?

The Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 adds new sections to the Civic
Government (Scotland) Act 1982 which enables local authorities to introduce a discretionary
licensing system for sexual entertainment venues (SEVS). As a result of this policy, a
licensing regime will be implemented for premises classed as SEVs. The policy and
conditions allow the Council to consider local circumstances and to exercise appropriate
control and regulation of these venues in setting the number of venues able to operate
within Edinburgh. If the Council does not adopt this discretionary power then SEVs will
continue to operate without any direct influence from the Council. Premises which fall under
the definition of a sexual entertainment venue could close or be forced to significantly
change their operation if a SEV policy is introduced with a zero limit in relation to the
number of SEV premises

3. Briefly describe public involvement in this proposal to date and planned

The Council has engaged in public consultation throughout the process of agreeing to
adopt, in principle, a scheme to licence sexual entertainment venues.

On 11 March 2019 the Regulatory Committee instructed officers to carry out an initial public
consultation with a view to gaining a broader understanding of community views in relation
to the potential introduction of a resolution which, if implemented, would require premises
classed as SEVs to be licensed in 2021. Subsequently, a consultation exercise was carried
out from 8 July to 17 August with over 800 responses.

Page 95



A further report containing a comprehensive analysis of the response was considered by
the Committee on 21 October 2019. The Committee agreed to adopt a scheme to licence
SEVs, in principle and instructed officers to draft a proposed SEVs policy, resolution &
conditions for consideration.

As part of the process in developing a draft policy and conditions, officers referred to the
information gathered during the initial consultation exercise. Information was also gathered
by holding a series of evidence sessions with key stakeholders such as existing operators
and performers, Police Scotland, NHS, members of the public and community councils. In
addition, the Committee also held sessions with the appropriate internal Council officers,
elected members and the relevant interest groups (e.g. Violence Against Women
Partnership and Community Safety Partnership) to provide members with a detailed and
robust evidence base from which to inform any decision making. Furthermore, officers
carried out a document review of existing SEV licensing policies in operation in England,
including those council areas of a similar size to Edinburgh, such as Westminster. A full list
of those policies that were studied is included in section 6. There has also been
engagement with the SOLAR licensing SEV working group, which has brought together
officers from a number of Scottish local authorities to discuss and consider proposed SEV
licensing schemes and policies. As part of this work, officers attended a SEV licensing
seminar which had expert speakers on the subject from both England and Scotland.

Following a period of extensive research, previous consultation exercises and instruction
from the Regulatory Committee, a draft SEVs policy and draft licensing conditions were
published with a further round of public consultation taking place on both draft proposals.
This consultation took place between 9 April — 2 July 2021 and received 89 responses in
total.

Since the Committee initially considered the licensing of SEVs and draft policy framework in
December 2021, additional correspondence has been received by the Council from various
interest groups and organisations representing contrary views on the possible numbers
limitation if SEVs become regulated under the 1982 Act.

4, Is the proposal considered strategic under the Fairer Scotland Duty?

No

5. Date of IIA

23 March 2022

Who was present at the IIA? Identify facilitator, lead officer, report writer and any
employee representative present and main stakeholder (e.g. Council, NHS)

Name Job Title Date of IIA
training

Chris McKee (co-facilitator, | Regulatory Officer
lead officer, report writer)

Page 96



Jackie Mclnnes (Co- Senior Planning Officer 09 March 22
facilitator)

Catherine Scanlin Licensing Manager

Gordon Hunter Regulatory Officer 2015

Morag Leck

Principal Solicitor —
Licensing

15 November
2018

Mark Upward

Advice Services Manager

November 2018

Page 97




7.

Evidence available at the time of the lIA

Evidence

Available —
detail source

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you with regard to different groups who
may be affected and to the

environmental impacts of your proposal

Data on populations in
need

Yes

The consultation responses gave data on
respondents ethnic group or background,
sexual orientation, age, national identity,
gender, religion, religious denomination or
body.

Data on service
uptake/access

Yes

Information on the service uptake/access
to SEV premises could be considered
commercially sensitive and therefore the
Council has not been able to access this
information.

However, the consultation process has
resulted in information being received from
the following groups:

Customers

SEV Performers & Union Reps

SEV Operators & Legal Agents
Neighbours / Residents

Data on socio-
economic
disadvantage e.g. low
income, low wealth,
material deprivation,
area deprivation.

Yes

Information received during the
consultation process from SEV operators,
SEV performer and SEV performer union
representatives stated that by introducing a
licensing scheme which bans SEVs from
operating would result in a loss of income
for a number of people, including
operators, performers and premises
employees such and bar and door staff,
which would create a socio-economic
disadvantage for them and any
dependents. The same respondents also
stated that a zero limit would likely cause
the sexual entertainment to operate
‘underground’ in unregulated locations
which would create a greater chance of
performers being a victim of crime.

Information received from organisations
such as violence against women’s groups
stated that by introducing a licensing
scheme which bans SEVs, it would allow

Page 98




Evidence

Available —
detail source

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you with regard to different groups who
may be affected and to the

environmental impacts of your proposal

performers to find alternative, safer and
more stable means of employment

Data on equality
outcomes

Yes

Information from trade organisations such
as performers union groups have stated
that by introducing a licensing scheme
which bans SEVs from operating, the
equality outcomes of performers,
employees and operators of SEVs would
be adversely affected.

Information from organisations such as
violence against women’s groups have
stated that by licensing SEVs and allowing
them to operate that women’s equality
outcomes could be adversely affected.

Research/literature
evidence

Yes

Some consultation responses have
referred the Committee to existing
research and literature on a range of
issues including, but not limited to, the
following:
e SEV performer perspectives of
working in the industry
e If any links exist between SEVs and
violent crimes; sexual offences;
violence against women and girls
The titles and links to the research and
literature are included in the responses to
the consultation

Public/patient/client
experience information

Yes

There are a range of views on this subject.
At a high level it is possible to identify two
very different points of view that are
diametrically opposed to each other, as to
whether SEVs should be permitted to
operate.

As noted below and in the information put
before the Committee, there are those who
feel SEVs are safe and that those who
work in SEVs have the right to work and it
is their right to choose how they earn an
income. On the other hand, there are some
respondents who feel that SEVs negatively

Page 99




Evidence

Available —
detail source

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you with regard to different groups who
may be affected and to the

environmental impacts of your proposal

contribute towards equality outcomes and
act as a form of violence against women.
Given that the 4 SEV premises have
operated for a minimum of 20 years, this
indicates there is a demand for this
service.

Evidence of inclusive
engagement of people
who use the service
and involvement
findings

Yes

During the public consultation exercises,
information has been provided from those
who work in the SEV trade and those who
have identified themselves as customers of
SEV premises.

A series of evidence sessions were held
with key stakeholders such as existing
operators and performers, Police Scotland,
NHS and community councils. In addition,
the Committee also held sessions with the
appropriate internal Council officers and
the relevant interest groups (e.g. Violence
Against Women Partnership and
Community Safety Partnership) to provide
members with a detailed and robust
evidence base from which to inform any
decision making

To encourage participation, the public
consultations and evidence sessions were
open to all interested parties to contribute

The evidence session with the performers
and operators was conducted in private to
protect identities, commercially sensitive
information and to encourage participation.
Those evidence sessions held with
members of the public, community/interest
groups, Police Scotland, NHS Scotland,
Licensing Standards Officer took place in
public and were broadcast on the Council’s
website for transparency.

Officers also met with a SEV performer
Union representative and the Council’s

Page 100




Evidence

Available —
detail source

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you with regard to different groups who
may be affected and to the

environmental impacts of your proposal

Equally Safe Lead Officer to update them
on the proposals.

Given the sensitive and emotive nature of
this subject, the Council have taken a
range of measures to encourage
participation in the consultation process.

Evidence of unmet
need

No

No evidence of unmet demand for SEV
premises has been identified during this
process. At present, there are 4 premises
which would fall under the definition of a
SEV which have operated continuously for
a number of years.

Good practice
guidelines

Yes

In forming a SEVs policy and conditions
framework, the Council has taken into
account the information available from
existing SEV licensing schemes in
England. These include those from the
following local authority areas:

e Birmingham

e Camden

e Leeds

e Manchester

e Sheffield

e Westminster

The Council has also referred to the
Scottish Government’s Guidance on the
Provisions for Licensing

of Sexual Entertainment Venues.

Carbon emissions
generated/reduced
data

N/A

N/A

Environmental data

N/A

N/A

Risk from cumulative
impacts

N/A

N/A

Other (please specify)

Yes

The decisions of other Scottish local
authorities, which had resolved to licence
SEVs at the time of writing, and the
associated SEV licensing policies of those
local authorities were considered.

Page 101




Evidence

Available —
detail source

Comments: what does the evidence tell
you with regard to different groups who
may be affected and to the

environmental impacts of your proposal

Correspondence to the Council from the
Equally Safe Edinburgh Committee and the
United Sex Workers branch of the United
Voices of the World trade union were also

considered.

Additional evidence No No
required

8.

In summary, what impacts were identified and which groups will they affect?

Equality, Health and Wellbeing and Human Rights
Positive

From the information gathered through the consultation
processes and evidence sessions, it is evident that the
majority of SEV workers identify as female.

If a policy was introduced to licence SEVSs, it could have a
positive impact on women as it would mean there is more
regulation in the industry. The SEV operator would have
to comply with licence conditions, imposed by the
Committee. A licensing regime would also provide a
mechanism for SEV workers and also members of the
public, to report any problems they have with the running
of the premises to the Committee, who could investigate
and possibly take appropriate action against the licence
holder to ensure the SEV workers safety is not being
compromised or any nuisance being caused to the public
by the operation of the premises.

If licensed, it could allow an opportunity through the
licensing policy statement to provide a more secure and
safe environment for SEV workers and also members of
the public.

If a SEV licensing scheme was introduced with limits
placed on the number of SEVs in a certain locality, it would

Affected populations

Men (including trans
men), Women (including
trans women) and Non-
binary people;

Children & young
persons;

SEV performers;

SEV premises operators;
SEV employees (bar
staff, door staff);
Neighbours/Residents;
Customers

Page 102




allow the Council to control the number of SEVs operating
in certain vicinities. For example, near schools, places of
worship, women’s refuges, residential areas etc.

If SEVs were to be licensed and an appropriate number
set to enable SEVs that the Committee is currently aware
of, to remain open, it would ensure that the SEVs workers
continue to be employed and receive an income to
support themselves and any dependents.

If SEVs were to be licensed and the number set to zero
SEVs in Edinburgh, this could have a positive impact on
SEV workers as some responses stated that workers in
SEVs are sexually exploited, suffer sexual assault and
are abused.

If SEVs were to be licensed and the number set to zero
SEVs in Edinburgh, this could have a positive impact on
women (including trans women) in Edinburgh as some
responses have stated that the existence of SEVs can
lead to them feeling unsafe in certain parts of the city.

The responses highlighted that some workers in SEVs
may be transgender. The positives and negatives for
transgender would be similar to those listed above for
men and women.

Although the majority of responses received from SEVs
workers were from women, there are men who also work
in the SEVs that the Committee has knowledge of. The
positives and negatives for men would be similar to those
listed for women above

The evidence sessions highlighted that the owners and
the majority of premises managers in SEVs in Edinburgh,
that the Committee are aware of, were men. The owners
and managers were in favour of a licensing regime and
the number set to allow current SEVs that the Committee
is aware of in Edinburgh, to continue operating. The
owners and managers stated that if licensed, it would
provide direct regulation for the dancers and premises.

The information gathered in developing a draft SEV
licensing policy and conditions framework has allowed the
Council to gain a better understanding of the issues related
to SEVs in general and more specifically in Edinburgh.

Page 103




Negative

If SEVs were to be licensed and an appropriate number
set to enable SEVs that the Committee is currently aware
of, to remain open, this could have a negative impact on
SEV workers as some responses stated that workers in
SEVs are sexually exploited, suffer sexual assault and
are abused and that the existence of SEVs contributes
towards violence against women and girls, the
objectification of women and gender inequality.

If the Committee determined to licence SEVs and set the
appropriate number of SEVs in the locality at zero this
could have a negative impact on the majority of SEVs
workers who are women, as the venues they currently
work in may close. This could lead to unemployment
which would not only impact on the worker but also any
family members who are dependent upon their income.

If the Committee determined to licence SEVs and set the
appropriate number of SEVs in the locality at zero, this
could have a negative impact as it could cause the sexual
entertainment to operate ‘underground’ in unregulated
locations which would create a greater chance of
performers being a victim of crime.

The external appearance of sex establishments has the
potential to impact those persons under 18 negatively as
it could expose them to sexually explicit imagery.

Persons under 18 accessing the SEVs premises has the
potential to impact those persons negatively. This risk
exists as with any age restricted licensed premises.

Environment and Sustainability including climate
change emissions and impacts

Positive

If SEVs were to be licensed and the number set to zero,
this could have a positive effect as it could encourage
new businesses to the premises, should the existing SEV
premises operators vacate.

Affected populations
SEVs premises
operators/Local
businesses

Residents

Page 104




If SEVs were to be licensed and an appropriate number
set to enable SEVs that the Committee is currently aware
of, to remain open, it would result in the continued use of
a business premises in the area.

Negative

If SEVs were to be licensed and the number set to zero,
this could have a negative impact as those affected
businesses could be forced to close and could result in
empty premises. This could have a negative impact on,
or contribute to the decline of, the surrounding built
environment.

Economic

Positive

If SEVs were to be licensed and an appropriate number
set to enable SEVs that the Committee is currently aware
of, to remain open, it would ensure that the SEVs workers
continue to be employed and receive an income to
support themselves and any dependents. This would not
result in socio-economic disadvantage for these
populations.

If SEVs were to be licensed and the number set to zero
SEVs in Edinburgh, this would have a positive impact on
SEV workers/performers as some responses stated that
workers in SEVs are financially exploited by the SEV
operators. There are also various ways in which
performers can access support in finding alternative
employment in Edinburgh. However, it is also noted that
some workers will live out with Edinburgh or also work at
venues in different local authority areas.

Negative

Premises which fall under the definition of a sexual
entertainment venue could close or be forced to
significantly change their operation if a SEV policy is
introduced with a zero limit in relation to the number of
SEV premises.

If the Committee determined to licence SEVs but set the
appropriate number of SEVs in the locality at zero this
could have a negative impact on the majority of SEVs
workers, who are women, as the venues they currently

Affected populations

Men (including trans
men), Women (including
trans women) and Non-
binary people;

SEV performers

SEV premises
operators/Local
businesses;

SEV employees (bar
staff, door staff, full time
staff, part time staff);
SEV Customers, SEV
suppliers

Page 105




work in may close. This could lead to loss of income,
unemployment and create a socio-economic
disadvantage, which would not only impact on the worker
and any other staff but also any family members who are
dependent upon their income. The continuing increases
to the cost of living (e.g. fuel, food & energy costs), at the
time of writing, was also noted and that any loss of
income would exacerbate any cost increases for those
affected.

If a SEV licensing scheme was introduced with limits
placed on the number of SEVs in a certain locality, it would
allow the Council to control the number of SEVs operating
in certain vicinities. This could restrict the ability of SEV
businesses to operate in certain areas of the city.

If a SEV premises closed as a result of a licensing scheme
it could have a negative impact on other businesses which
supply the SEV business, such as suppliers who provide
cleaning or bar supplies.

9. Is any part of this policy/ service to be carried out wholly or partly by contractors
and if so how will equality, human rights including children’s rights,
environmental and sustainability issues be addressed?

N/A

10. Consider how you will communicate information about this policy/ service
change to children and young people and those affected by sensory impairment,
speech impairment, low level literacy or numeracy, learning difficulties or English
as a second language? Please provide a summary of the communications plan.

The Licensing Service currently deals with customers from a range of backgrounds. This
includes those affected by sensory impairment, speech impairment, low level literacy or
numeracy, learning difficulties or English as a second language.

If the Regulatory Committee passes a resolution to licence SEVs, it must specify a date from
when it is to take effect in their area. This must be at least one year from the date the
resolution is passed. The local authority must also publish notice that they have passed a
resolution not less than 28 days prior to the date the resolution is to

take effect. The notice must state the general effect of the licensing procedure

Page 106



and provisions at Schedule 2 of the 1982 Act, as modified for SEV, and be

published either electronically or in a local newspaper.

If the Regulatory Committee agree to adopt a resolution to licence SEVS, the licensing
service will communicate this in a number of ways. All affected premises will be written to in
order to inform them of the decision along with information on the agreed SEVs policy,
conditions framework and any other appropriate information. Furthermore, the Committee’s
decision will be communicated using the Council’s and Licensing Service’s social media
accounts in addition to updates being placed on the Council’s website. The Licensing Service
will also include information of the Committee’s decision in its regular newsletter which is sent
to all licence holders. The decision will also be communicated to Community Councils.

Where customers require further support to access information in respect of SEV licensing,
the licensing service will make the necessary reasonable adjustments to cater for this. For
example, translators can be provided for those customers whose primary language is not
English and who have difficulty understanding this information.

11. Is the plan, programme, strategy or policy likely to result in significant
environmental effects, either positive or negative? If yes, it is likely that a Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) will be required and the impacts identified in the IIA
should be included in this. See section 2.10 in the Guidance for further information.

No

12. Additional Information and Evidence Required

If further evidence is required, please note how it will be gathered. If appropriate, mark
this report as interim and submit updated final report once further evidence has been
gathered.

At this stage, it has not been established that any additional information of evidence is
required. Should the Regulatory Committee request further information, this will be
provided.

13. Specific to this IlA only, what recommended actions have been, or will be,
undertaken and by when? (these should be drawn from 7 — 11 above) Please
complete:

Page 107


https://www.gov.scot/policies/environmental-assessment/strategic-environmental-assessment-sea/
https://www.gov.scot/policies/environmental-assessment/strategic-environmental-assessment-sea/

Specific actions (as aresult of Who will take Deadline for | Review
the IIA which may include them forward progressing | date
financial implications, mitigating | (name and job
actions and risks of cumulative | title

impacts)

Include a copy of this IlA in the Chris McKee, 24 March 31 March
Regulatory Committee Report due | Regulatory Officer | 2022 2022

to be considered on 31 March

2022.

14.  Are there any negative impacts in section 8 for which there are no identified
mitigating actions?

No

15. How will you monitor how this proposal affects different groups, including
people with protected characteristics?

It is proposed that the SEV licensing policy is reviewed annually, or more frequently, should
circumstances require it. A review of the IIA and how the policy is affecting different groups,
including those with protected characteristics, will form part of that work.

16.  Sign off by Head of Service

Name — Peter Watton

Date — 25 March 2022

17.  Publication
Completed and signed I1As should be sent to:

integratedimpactassessments@edinburgh.gov.uk to be published on the Councll
website www.edinburgh.gov.uk/impactassessments

Page 108



mailto:integratedimpactassessments@edinburgh.gov.uk
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/impactassessments

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board/Health and Social Care
sarah.bryson@edinburgh.gov.uk to be published at www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-
ijb/integrated-impact-assessments/

Page 109


mailto:sarah.bryson@edinburgh.gov.uk
http://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-ijb/integrated-impact-assessments/
http://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-ijb/integrated-impact-assessments/

Appendix 13

Scottish Government Guidance on the Provisions for Licensing

Of Sexual Entertainment Venues

Air Weapons and Licensing
(Scotland) Act 2015

Guidance on the Provisions for Licensing
of Sexual Entertainment Venues and
Changes to Licensing of Theatres

o
March 2019 il

Scaottish Govermment
Rioghaltas e h-Alba
gov. oot

Page 110



AIR WEAPONS AND LICENSING (SCOTLAND) ACT 2013

GUIDANCE ON THE PROVISIONS FOR LICENSING OF SEXUAL
ENTERTAINMENT VENUES AND CHANGES TO LICENSING OF
THEATRES

CONTENTS LIST

Legislation

The Guidance

Backgroursd

Relabonship with other Stateges

Local Authority Resolution
Specitied Day

Conbent
Licensing conditions

Consideration

Wotificaton

List of iate Persons
Zat i

Fesg

Enforcerment

Concusion

Definitions
Exempiion
Sex shops

Linder 18s
Public entertairement

=

Repeal of exrsting rmandatory licensing provisions
Local Authority resolution

Transational provisions
ial amendments - The Licensing Conditions (Late Opening

Premises) (Scoiand) Regulations 2007 and The Premises Licence (Sootiamnd

Regulatiors

Page 111




Introduction

The key aims of civic licensing are the preservation of public safety and order
and the prevention of crime. A specific licensing regime for sexual
entertainment venues will allow lecal authorties to consider local
circumstances in setting the number of venues able to within their
areas (this could be nilj and to exercise appropriate ol and regulation of
these venues.

Local authorities that do not currently have any sexual entertainment venues
miay wish to carefully consider whether there would be merit in making a
resclution and setting a number (including nil) of such venues for their area to

allow them to conirol the number of sexual entertainment venues operating in
their area in the future.

It is important to note that The Licensing (Amendrmeant) (EU Exit) [Scotland)
Regulations 2019 "amend Schedule lfaagwhs 3(3)e) and 33)(f) of the
Crvic Government (Scofland) Act 1282° (the 1382 Act). This change prevents
the granting of a licence for a sex shop or sexual entertainment venue to a
who is not resident in the United Kingdom {the UK} or was not resident
throughout the & month period prior to the application being made. |t also
prevents the granting of a licence to a body corporate not incorporated in the
UK. These provisions come into force on exit day. The previous residency
restrictions for granting a licence were to a member state of the ELL

A published sexual entertainment policy statement will ide local
communities with a clear indication of local authonty's policy and
examples of icensing conditions, along with enforcement details. The policy
should also demonstrate how the local authority intends to help protect the
safety and wellbeing of performers, customers and the wider public.

L ecickat

1. The Ar Weapons and Licensing (Scotiand) Act 20157 2015 Act) received
Royal Assent on 4 August Eﬂﬁ%&m&im-ﬁhfﬁtvﬁﬂ I'E}mEtl:l-ﬂ'E-
hcensing of sexual entertainment venues (SEV) come inbo forcs on 26 Apnl 2018,
However this s not a mandatory hcensing regime and & is for local authorties to
deterrnine whether they wish to hcence SEV, whether to limit thesr numbers and
to determine indivadual licence applications. When doing so local authonities will
need to consider the mplications, opportunities and risks of their decisions.

2. Section T8 of the 2015 Act inserts sections 454 458 and 45C into Part 1l of the

1882 Act. These prowisions establish a specific licensing regime for the
reguilation of SEV and allow for greater local control oser the prowssion of such

Page 112




venues. Although icensing of SEV follows a simillar pattern to that covered by
Part |, Part Il and Schedule 1 of the 1082 Act, local authorities may wish to note
that these prowsions have no application to Part 1l liceences which are solely
governed by Schedule 2 of the Act.

. While this guidance = primarily in respect of the SEV licensing regime, it also
Iﬂﬂeademlsapaagaﬂﬁm-ﬂﬂufﬂﬁrepeddmeemm“mﬂm;
hcensing regime for theatrical performances under section 12 of the Thealre Act
1803 and the abiity of local authornites to icence theatres under the more fexible
public entertainment licence requirements contamed within the 1892 Act. To
address concems raised, it is worth emphasising that theatrical
performances which are not provided solely or principally for the purpose
of sexually stimudating the audience will not be classed as sexual
entertainment. As a result, the use of the premises for those performances
will not require an SEV licence

. Information in respect of both SEV and the theatre provisions is prowided at:
paragraphs 83-08 on commencement; at paragraphs B7-102 on transtional
prowessons; and at paragraphs 102-107 on the consequential changes required to
The Licensing Conditions (Late Opening Prermises) | Scotland) lations 2007
and The Premises Licence {Scoiand) tions 2007 as a t of the
creation of a SEV icensing regime and the changes to theatre lcensing.

. This guidance also makes reference to the Licensing (Scotland) Act 2005 (the
2005 Act'), mdlp'mde5almn5ngreglmﬁrﬂﬁizled'dmml The 1882
Act_ and the 2005 Act provide for a variety of difierent licences, and it is possible
that the same premises may reguire more than one icence. Care shoukd
therefiore be taken to ensure that the requirement to obtain a licence and any
exemptions from the requirement to obtain a licence are carefully considersd.

. The 1282 Act sets out that canc licensing decisions are the responsibility of the
hcensing authorty, a committee made up of locally elected councllors.  The 2005
Aot provides that alcohol licensing decisions are the responsibiity of the local
Licensing Board. These terms are usad throughout this guidance and refer to the
hcensing functions of a local authorty. Where different committees are invwoived
in the: licensing of the same business, then it can be vseful to co-ordinate in
refation o the sefting of licence conditions etc.

. Where a bocal authority to licence SEV within its area, the prowisions at
pa-clg:mhﬂlufad'red.lle -:n‘memﬂiﬂdmllmq:hrlntMra'EEmdalm
will b reqguired for premises operated as SEV. Premises are classed as an SEV
where sexual entertainment = prowded before a live audience for the direct or
indirect financial benefit of the organser. Sexual entertainment is any Ive
perfommance of Ive display of nudity provided for the sole or principal purpose of
saxual stimulation of members of the audience. However, premises where
sexual entertainment is provided on no more than 4 occasions in a twelve month
period are nof to be treated a5 SEV. The Licensing of sexusl endertainment




B.

venues: inferpredadion section at paragraphs 84-B0 of this gudance prowdes
additional definibons and further inflomiation.

The passage of the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Bill through the
Scottish Pardiament includes further documentation that rmay be of interest
inchuding the Explanatory Motes and Policy memorandur”.

The Gudance

g

Section 458(7) of the 1882 Adt requires that, in camying out its functions, a local
authority must have regard to guidance issued by Ministers. This non-statutony
guidance is inbended to assist kocal authorities, but other parties such as the

F'nlu:nallumjeupa-clrﬁ relevant crganisations and performers may also find it

10 A Consuffafion on Guidance on fhe Prowvisions for Licensing of Sexual

Entertaimment Venues and Chamges to Licensing of Theatres™ was published on
1 Mowember 2017 with a closing date of 7 Febnuary 2018, The responses
recened were carsfully considered and were of assistance in finalising this
guidance.

11. The guidance shoulkd be read in conjunction with the relevant legislation,

particularty Fart |1l and Schedule 2 of the 1882 Act and the relevant
accompanying documents for the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scoland) Act
2015. This guidance does not represent legal advice and any indssdual or
crgansation reading this guidance should not treat this guidance as a
replacement for ind legal adwice. The nterpretation of the 1282 Adt, as
amended by the 2015 Act, is ultimately a matter for the courts.

Biackground
12. On 24 March 2005, previous Scottish Ministers set up a Working Group on Adult

Entertanment to review the scope and impact of adult entertainment actvity and
make recommendations on the way forward. This followed concems

about the lack of controls on adult entertainment actiwty. The Group” made a
nurnber of recommendations aimed at mproving standards in the industry,
ensaring the safety of performers and customers, regulating the impact on the
kecality, mprowing local accountability and control and ensunng that there was no
inadvertent impact on artisiic freedoms.

13, At that tirme, it was fielt that, as SEV also sold alcohol and therefore reguired

abcohol licences, it was best left to local licensing boards to regulate adulit
entertainment via the existing licensing regeme for alcohol.

Page 114



14.In 2010 Sandra White MSP introduced amendments to prowade for a specific
system of licensing for sexual entertamment which were considered by the
Scottish Pariament as part of its scnuiny of the Criminal Justice and Licensing
Bill at Stages 2 and 3. The proposed provisions broadly mimored those that had
been introduced in England and Wales in section 27 of the Policing and Crame

Act 2000, Whille the Scottish Govermment supported the proposals, Parliament
rejected them due to concems about the effect of operating a dual licensing

system and concems about the lack of opporiunity to fully consider the proposals.

15. Since then, the Inner House of the Court OF Session in BrghtCrew Lirnited v City
of Glasgow Licensing Board ([2011] CSIH 4£°) held that the licensing regime in
the 2005 Act was limited to the regulation of the sale of alcohol and couldn’t
extend to matters not finked to the sale of alcohol. As a result, Scottish Ministers
considered that a specific licensing regime for SEV was the best soluion for
future regulation of the industry. This approach would remowe concems around

Licensing Boards atternpting to use the alcohol heensing regime to regulate
matters that go beyond the remit of that regime.

16 A consuliation was published in June 2013* (the consultation) inwting views on
the establishment of a licensing regime based on the draft provsions that Ms
White had proposed in 2010 on 76 of the 2015 Act amends the 1882 Act to

prowade fior this.
Felationship with other Sirategies

17.In response to the consultation thers was wr::lesua:pu'tﬁ:lme principle of a new
hicensing regime induding from local authort wiclence against woman

and gender groups.

18. However, some concams wers raisad that licensing SEV encouraged unhealthy
attitudes to women and therefiore damaged society as a whole.

18.The Scotih Gowernment accepts the freedom of adults to engage in
activities and employment. However, it will continue to promaote, a

redevant means, gender equality and actions that tackle out-dated aftitudes that
denigrate or objectify particular groups or individuals.

2. Equally Safe: Seofland’s sfrafegy for prevenfing and eradicafing wiclence against
women and givs '~ was first published in 2014 and updated in 2016 and again |
2013. It sets out a definition of viclence against women and girls which i =]
‘commercial sexual explotation, induding prostitution, lap dancing, siripping,
pomography and weman trafficking’.

Page 115



21. Whilst recognising the conflict between this definiion and the licensing of SEV,
this guidance will help to ensure that such activiies take placs in safe and
regulated environments. When deciding whether to licence, and whether to limit,
SEV in their area, local authonties will need to consider the interaction with their
owin local policies and strategies, as well as the legal implications around Brmitng
a legiimate business activity to minimise the nsk of legal challenge.

22 Bgually Safe's aim s to work collaboratively with key partners across all sectors
to prevent and eradicate all forms of violence against women and girs and the
attitudes which perpetuate therm. Its pronties are: achiesing gender equality;
intervening earfy and effectively to prevent viclencs; and maimising the safety
and welbeing of women, children and young people. Equailly Safe: A Delfivery
Flan for Scoffand’s fo preventd and eradicale wolence against women
and giris'" was ' n November 2017, 1t will help to ensure that the
ambitions of the BEqually Safe Strategy make a tangble differencea.

23.The Trafficking and Exploitation Strafegy'™, required under section 25 of the
Human Trafficking and Exploitation (Scotland) Act 2015 was published on 30
May 2017. I sets out the Scottish Government's sirategy to work with partners to
make Scolland a more hostile place for human trafficking. The aims of the
sirategy are 1o ident®y wictirms and support them to safety and recovery, identify
perpetrators and disrupt their activity, and address the conditions that foster

24 In developing the icensing regime, care has therefore been taken to balance the
freedom of indwviduals to engage in | ermployrment and activities wath the right
ﬁlmﬂaﬂmﬁﬁﬁmm;mﬁjﬁmmmﬁﬂﬂﬂm
operate wihin ther areas.

25. Ministers consader that local authorities are best placed to reflect the wews of the

communities they serve and to determine whether SEV should be hcensed within
thedr areas and, if so, under what conditions.

26.A local authority which chooses to licence SEV will have to publish an SEV policy
statement, developed in consultation with relevant mterest groups (Inciuding
wiolence against women partnerships) which wil provide local communities with a
clear indication of the local authority's policy. Where an SEV hicence is
hcence condiions, along with enforcement, will help reduce the risk of crmnality
such as prostibution and hurman trafficking; and help the safety and
welbaing of performers, customers and the wader public. The community should,
in turn, bensfit from a safe, regulated ervironment.

27 . Local authorites will hawe to consider the crcumstances pertaining n their local
area and their statutory cbiigations (ncuding. but not lmited to, thesr obligations
under the EI Services Directive’ and the Regulatory Reform (Scotland) Act

Page 116




2014™). Local authorities will also have to consider the rights SEV operators
hawe under the Eurcpean Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) particulary
under Article 1, Probocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of possessions] and Article 10
(fresedom of expression ) of the Conwention. ECHR issues are discussed further
at paragraphs 73-77.

Licensing of sexwual entertainment venues

28 Section T8 of the 2015 Act ntroduces 3 discretionary Bcensing regime for SEV. It
achieves that by amending the existing licensing regime for sex shops provided
for in Part Il and Schedule Z of the 1982 Act so that the provisions, weith
necessany modification, also apply to SEV. It is important to emphasise that it is

nct mandatory for a local authonty to licence SEV. A flowchart setting out the
sheps bocal authorties are required to take is at Annex A

28.When deciding whether to licence SEV. local authonities should obtain
legal adwice in onder to ensure that they are able to mitigate the risks
of legal challenge to an acceptable level. They should also take nbo account the
Public Sector Equality Duty™ to which local authorities are red bo pay 'due
regard when camying out their functions and the spectfic “to assess and
rewview policies and practices.

20. Where a local authorty decsdes fo licence SEV, section 458 of the 1BE2 Act,
requires the local authonty to pass a resolution in order for SEV B ng to hawve
gffect in their area. It also requires at section 45C ﬂ'ﬂtnhaeab;m
decades to licence SEV it must prepare an SEV policy statement and further
information on this is provided at paragraphs 38-57.

31.In consadenng whether to pass a resolution a local authorty should consider,
whether they will wesh to control SEV even if no such premises are currently in
operation in their area. i there is no resclution in place, then no hcence is
required fo operate an SEV. Existing SEV could continue o operate, new SEV
could come into operation, without an SEV bcence.  Sexual entertainment in
those wenues would remain rgely unregulated. if a resclution is passed, existing
=BV and any new SEV, will require an SEV licence.

2. In consadenng whether to pass a resolution to hcence SEV, local authonties may
wish o look carefully at thesr localiies and consider a range of ssues such as:

= whether there are any sexual entertainment wenues already operating;
» the location of schools;

Page 117



the location of places of worship;

= the location of heavily residential arsas:

« the location of women's refuges and shelters and other senvices focussed
on supporting women, children and young people;

= whether there have been incdents involving ant-socsal behaviour, sexual
assaults, prostitution or more minor harassment reported in any particular
area; and

« whether there have been incdents of human raficking or explotation
bocally.

33, Local authorties who haws resolewed to licence SEV must determine the

iate nurmber of SEV for both their area and for each redevant locality
in their area (see paragraph 9(5A) of Schedule 2 of the 1282 Act). Paragraph
B{5)c) of Schedule 2 allows local authorities to refuse applications on grounds
that, at the time the apphcation is determined, the number of SEV in the local
authorty's area or relevant kocality is eqgual to or excesds the number that the
authority considers appropnate for their area or that locality.

3. Local authorities have extensive expenence of engaging with local people and

will kniow wihat works best in their indvidual areas. Local authonties may wash,
as a matter of good practice, to seek the views of local people and businesses
pricr to decsding whether to pass a resolution. In doing so. local authores may
wish to make any relevant information available to bocal people inonder to inform
thesr understanding. Local authoribes may also wish to engage with the

of known SEV as soon as a dedision has been made, o ensure that
they are aware of what action they will need to take, and to seek nput from the
bxcal Police Sootiand human trafficking champson or the Human Trafficking Ling
at Garcosh.

35, In consadenng whether to pass a resolution to hcence SEV, local authorities must

also have cognisance of other redevant legisiation such as the EU Sendces
Cirective, the Reform {Scotland) Act 2014 and the Convention nghts
of SEV operators. Local authorities should consader whether the decision to
hcence SEV is proportionate and pestifiable.

28, If licensing SEV, a local authorty must detesrnine, from me to time, the number

of SEV that they consider appropriate for their area and each relevant locality.

Mil rmay be considered the appropriate number. The determination should be
publicised. Further guidance on what a kocal authority wash to conssder in
determmiming mamibers and localities s provided below ||'I|1E.{a‘hnnt|:- developing the
policy statement.

=Spectiet Day
37 . Where a local authority passes a resolution, it must specify a date fromwhen it is

to take effect in their area. This must be at keast one from the date the
resolution is passed. The lecal authorty must also publish notice that they have
passed a resobution not less than 23 days pror to the date the resolution is o
take effect The nobtice must state the general effect of the licensing proceduns

8

Page 118



and provisions at Schedule 2 of the 1882 Act, s modified for SEV, and be
published esther electronically or in a local newspaper.

Staternents of policy in relation to sexual entertainment venues

38 Section 45C of the 1882 Act reguires that where a local authority has passed a
reschution under section 45B8{1) that a licensing regime for SEV will have effect in
thear area, they will then be required to prepare and publish an SEV policy
staternent. The staternent of policy should set out and justify the position of the
kecal authority with regands to licensing SEV and should support local authorities
should they face any legal challenges.

LContent

38. The policy statement should include details of the impact a local authonty
considers the licensing of SEV will have in its area.  Seciion 45C(3) of the 1842
Act states:

“In preparing a SEV pobicy staternent, a local authonty must—

{3} consider the mpact of the licensing of SEV in their area, having regard, in
particular, to how it will affect the objectives of—

i1} preventing public nuisance, crime and disorder,
{ii] securing public safety,

-'iii'| protecting children and young people from harmn,
{iv) reducing viclence against women, and

(b} consult such persons or bodies as they consider appropriate.”

4. For the: purposes of the section, “children™ are defined as persons under the age
of 18 and “young people” as persons aged 16 or 17.

41. Policy statements should be published at the same tme and in the same marner
as the notice of resolution is publiished 2. it should be published not less than 28
days prior to the date the resolution s to take effiect. esther electronically orina
lxcal newspaper.

42 The policy statement should prowsde local cormmunities with a clear indication of
the local authorty’s policy and should also be consishent with the licensing
objectives and procedures set out in the 1282 Act as amended.

43. The statement might include information on the locations where the local
authority is likely to consider the operation of SEV to be appropriate or
inappropriate. The statement could also be used to indicate how many SEV are
considered to be appropriate for the local authority's area or localities
within its area. The reasons for these policy posiions should also be prowded.

44 |n developing the statement, the local authonty may also wish o take account of
whether any SEV are already operating in its area under the existing regeme for

2

%J
H
H
(<}



alcohol licensing and, if so, whether they wish to continue to licence the same
rumiber of venues a5 are curmenty operating.

45.The local authority may wish to refiect on whether reducing the number of
venues, of setting the number at zer, in their area will have 3 di

effect on business. The local authority should also consider whether reducing the
rurmiber of SEV in their area or setting the numiber at zem would create a nsk of

l=gal challenge (for exarmple under ECHR or on grounds of reasonableness)

45 Where there are curmentfy no sexual entertainment wenues operating, a kocal
autihvority may wish to consider i there may be benefit in making a resolution to
give effect to the licensing regime even where it considers that the number
should be set at zer. In setting the numiber at zero, a local authonty will
to demonstrate proportionality by evidencing that the competing interests of
operators alongside those of the community had been fary considered and
appropnately balanced.

47.In developing the policy statement. we consader it best praciice for local
authorities. to consult with persons with an interest and this should include
onganisations such as violenoe against women ips, chilkd probection
committees and community councils as well as Police Scotiand and local
bussinesses (including the operators of any exssting SEV).

48 In exercising any functions in relation to the icensing of SEV, the local authority
is required to hawe regand to their SEV licensing policy statement. It is also
ired, from time to time, to review the policy staterment, revise it as appropriate
publsh the revised statement. We suggest that it may be best practice o
align the ressew of both the local authorty's stated approprate number of SEV
and the policy statement. However it will be for indwvidual local authonties to
determine the timeframe for undertalong the rewews required.

|icensing Corgiit

43, Under paragraph B of Schedule 2 to the 1882 Act local authorities hawe 3 power
to impose reasonable licence conditions.  In doing this local authonties need to
be flexible in responding to each applicalion and in some cases additional or
more tailored conditions reflecting local cacumstances may be appropnate.

8. Conditions are specific requirements that the hcence holder must comply with,
othenwise the licence could be revoked. Paragraph 18(1 §c) of Schedule 2 states
that a hecence holder who, without reasonable excuse, knowingly contravenes or
permmits the contrasention of a specified condition will be guity of an offence.

51.The local authority can attach standand conditions for all licences granted for
SEV, they may also impose individual condiions to icences. By way of example,
such licence conditions could regulate:

= the display of advertisernents on or connecied o the wenue;
= fthe days and times when the premises may be used as a SEWV,
= the visibility of the interior of the SEV to passers-by, and

10

Page 120




= the number of persons o be admitted to the premisses.

£2. The local authorty should gve careful consideration as 1o whether the condition
proposed is necessary with the Brghtcrew case in mind, whether it is inked
to the regulation of sexual entertainment. The local authorty should also
consider whether, in all the crcumstances, the condition s reasonable and
proporticnais and therefore not suscaptibie to challenge.

53. Any condition attached to the licence must be dear, so that the licence holder is
awrare of their cbiigation to comply.

4. Part of the local authorty’s role is to ensure improved working condibons and a
safe ervironment for the women who work in SEV. The local authorty may wash
to encourage operators to activedy identify potential victims of hurman trafficking in
thiesr rescruitment procedures. YWhere a local authonity is made aware of & parson
who is or appears to be a wetirm of human trafficking, they hase a duty to notify
Police Scotiand.

£5. The Association of Licensed Adult Entertainment Venues in Scotland has a
toolkit, A Guide for Employers and Confraciors”” which s intended o ensure that
venues are operated in a fair manner, protecting human nghts and that potential
victims of human trafficking are identified in the recruitment process.

5. In terrres of how a premises licensed as an SEV should be run, in addition to the
minETeem standands expected of workplaces through health and safety
regulations, kool authorities may wish o consider adopting some or all of the
followsang non-exhaustive list of supgestions and develop them as model
conditbons within their Policy Staterment

= [t of full names, dates of birth, nationality and contact details (address or
tefephone nurmber) for all performens to b2 available on the premises for
mmediate production if requested by Police or local authornty officers;

= Ensure immigration status is in order and actively seek to identify
performers wih miay have been the vickim of human trafficking;

= employrment of security guards:

= use and storage of COTW:

=  provision of hygenic changing and showering facilities and  a toilet with
access o hot water exclusively for the use of the performers;

= sef break tmes for performers;

= fthe prowsion of a break room exclusively for the use of the performers;

=  performers to be escorted by securnty to nominated 3w or to their car at
end of shift;

= access o medical checks and sexual health advice o be provided on site;

= fthe heence holder to ensure performers remain clothed outesth
performance area;

= fthe heence holder to ensure no physical contact betwean performers and
CUstomers;

r

11

Page 121



= the customers to be informed of rules of custormer conduct that s desmed
acceptable e g customers to remain fully clothed at all trmes and these
rules displayed at iate locations within the wenue icence holder to
Efsure customers do not sesk sexual favours or offer perfommers payrment
mn return for sexual favours;

= the cence holder to ensure customers do not to offer or ask for any form
of contact detalls from performners;

= the cence holder to ensure customers do not to engage in any unlawiul
activity within the SEV;

= the cence holder to ensure no photographs or video recondings are taken
of the performers.

&7 It should be bome in mind that i is exiremely likely that SEV will also require to
hiawe a premises licence under Pant 2 of the 2005 Act and care will be resguirsd to
ensure that the SEV licence condiions do not contradict the mﬂﬁnﬂsﬂladm
the alcohol heence. In the event that the SEV does not also require an ol
hcence, local authorties rmay wish to consider whether any of the conditions
attached to such licences would be appropriate to that parbcular SEV.

Applications

5. The local authority resoluticn will specify a date from which the SEWV oensing
regime is to take effect in s area. Under paragraph 253) of Schedule 2 of the
1882 Act a local authorty cannot consider any apphcation for an SEV hicence
prior to the date specified in the resclution and cannot grant any licence until it
hias considered all appicabons recemned prior to that date.

58 Local authonties will thersfore wesh to consader developing new application forms
specifically in respect of SEV licences. Authorities will alss have o determine 3
dabte when these forms should be made available to operators [ prospective
operators. it may also be appropriate o intimate in the resolution when
applications waill be considered by the bocal authorty.

£0. Paragraph 25 of Schedule 2 also prowsdes that where 3 SEV s rading in the area
befiore the resolution has been pulblished and before the specified day of effect
has applied for a SEV licence under Schedule 2, then they may continue tradng
unid the appliication s considered. i the applcation is refused they may confinue
to trade until the timescale for an appeal under paragraph 24 has lapsed or the
appeal has been determined or abandoned.

£1.We suggest that in considening an applicaton for an SEV cence, with the view to
reaching an evidence- based decision on whether it should be granted, local
authoribes. will wish to look carefully at the proposed location and take account of;

the existing character and funciion of the area in which it will be located;
whether there are any schools near the vicinity of the SEV;
wihether there any places of worship in that vicinity;

wihether there are other relevant businesses or charities operating n the
area e.g. homelessness shelers, women's refuges, supported
accommodation, recovery units efc.;

12

Page 122



whether the SEV is close to heawily residential areas;
whether there have been incidents invoiving anti-social behaviour, sexual
assaults or more mimcr harassment reported in that area;

. memaﬁ:nfremdatiamjnﬂﬂrelwmmemstadpﬂmaﬁh'asm
possitle'®; and

* mmﬁunﬂEIIaJFdhESmﬂaﬂhrrmmﬁd{igdwmhnuﬂE
Human Trafficking Linit at Gartcosh,

62. It is mportant to note that an SEV licenca will be required fior premises whene
sexudl entertainment is provided on more than 4 occasions in a teebee month
period even where that entertainment is bocked by the person hiring the wenue.
Paragraphs 85-85 of this guidance provide additional definitions and further

information reganding exemptons.
~onsiderati

63. Local authorities will follow the established procedure for considering applications
land out at Schedule 2 of the 18682 Act  The procedure s applicable to hcensing
sex shops and has been modified to apply o SEV. Pamagraph 23] sets out a st
of persons to whom a licence may not be granted and paragraph &5) lists

on which a local authority may refuse an application for the granting or
renewal of a licence. Each hcence application should be fully ered on its
owim ments. Howeser note, under paragraph 8(5)(c), where the number of
venues in the local authorty's area or relevant locality at the tme the application
is made is equal to or exceseds the number which the local authorty consider is
appropriate for their area or that locality the local authorty should refuse the
application.

£4. The prosisions in redation to making an application for a beence or the renewal of
a licence are detaled at paragraph € of Schedule 2. In considenng an
application, the local authority will wish to satisfy itself that the applicant is not an
un=syitable person to hold a licence by reason of hawing been convicted of an
offence or fior any other reason.

&5, Under 15 of Schedule 2. the local authonty can at any time decide to
vary a hicence on any grounds it thinks fit. The local authonty can revoke a
hicence in line with the provisions set out at paragraph 13 of Schedule 2.

66, A decssion not to grant a licence or to revoke a licence may be subsect to appeal
under paragraph 24 of Schedule 2. An appeal would be to a Shedff in the first
instance and could be on the grounds that the authorty emed inlaw, based their
decision on an ncomect matenial fact, acted confrary to natural justice or
exercrsed their discretion unmeasonalbly.

67 . Any appeal to a Sherft in redalion to a SEV heence must be made within 23 days
of the date of the decision appealed against. However, where the application is

" It soiuid be nioted that local authoribess do not have & duty o =ngage In Tull melghbourhood
noificaion or power o eguire applcanis o Do so.

13

Page 123



refused under paragraph W5} c) or (d) of Schedule 2. the applicant can only
challenge the refusal by way of judical review.

GE. Uinder paragraph 12{2)b) of Schedule 2 a kocal authorty may grant an SEV
hcence for one year or such other penod that it deerms approprate.

Mitificatice

£ Applicants will require to advertise thesr applications for a licence in a local
newspaper specitied by the local authority and to display a nofice on or near the
relevant premises. However, a local authonty may dispense with the requirement
for an applicant to publish a notice in a newspaper and instead publish notice of
the cabion electronically. The legeslation mposes a further duty at
?ﬂmbﬂmuﬁ%eaﬁﬁimﬁralﬁnmmﬂmﬂ o
send a copy of their application to such persons or bodies as have been
determnined by the kocal authority within 7 days of making the application and to
certify to the local authorty that they have done so. There is also an ocbligation
on bocal authorties 3t paragraph 7307, reguinng them to determine which
persons and bodies are to receive copies of applications and to publicise that list
as they consider appropriate.

List of appropnate persons

70. In relation to notfication of an SEV licence application, the Cabinet Secretany for
Jusiice siated duning Stage 2 consideration of the legislation:

“Although the curment process already allows for nobust notfication
procedures, with reguirements fior both nesspaper advertising and notices to
b= publicly displayed, there are advantages in requiring spechic notfcation to
particular bodies that will hawe an interest in the licensing of sexual
entertainment venues. There is a praciical advantage in ensuring mmportant
stakehoiders, including wiclence against women parinerships and cormmunity
councls are notified of applications early, so that they hase sufficient time o
consider applications and to make such representations to the authorty as
they consider appropniate. There is also an advantage in that it will send a
very chear message that groups identified as being approprate to receive
copies of the application, including viclence aganst wormen partnerships and
COEMmUnity groups, are at the heart of the icensing process.”

7 1. In line with this, we suggest that it is essaniial o ensure that those with an
interest are notified as early as possible and that particular organsations such as
violence against women parnerships and community councls should be
considered important stakeholders in the censing process. They should
therefiore be included on the published local authority list of those who are to
recene copees of apphcations.

T2 Local authorties may also wish to consider including on the st local businesses,
schioods, places of worship and child protection committess, along with anyone

14

Page 124



ECHRE lszues

3. When taking a decision to refuse an application local authorities should take
account of any rights SEV operators may have, particulariy under:;

Article 1, Protocaol 1 of the European Consention of Human Rights

Every nafural or legal person is enfitled bo fhe peacefl enjopment of his
possessions. No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public
iderest and subyect fo the condifions provided for by law and by the general
principies of mfemational law._) and

Aricle 10—

Evernyone has the nght o freedom of expression. This mght shall include freedom
for o opinions mmmmﬁhm?ﬂmm
iderference by public awthority and regardless of fronbers. This arbicle shall nof
prevent Siafes from requining the licensing of broadics=ing, felevision or cinema
enderprises. The exercise of these freedoms, since it cames with # dufies and
responsibiifies, mybemtgaifasm:ﬁfumraﬁ:e.s_mﬂhma restnchons or
penalifies 35 are prescnbed by law and are necassary in a democralic sociely, in
the inferests of national secunty, tewmifonal integriy or public safety, for the
prevention of disorder or crime, for the profechon of health or morals, for the
Mmdﬁemmﬂmmnﬁh#uﬁmfwmaﬂg#eﬁmd

4. Local authorties may wish to consider whether there s any interference with the
applicant's hurran rights. And if so is it necessary and proportionate for the
prewention of disorder or crime, the protection of health or the protection of the
nghts. and freedom of cthers and whether the interference can be justified in the
general public nterest.

5. In deciding whether or not to grant a licence for an SEV, local authorities should
also bear in mind the nghts provided fior at the following ECHR Adticles
Adticle 3
Mo one shall be subjecfed fo torture or to inhuman or degrading fresiment or
punishrment.

Arcle 4
1. No one shall be held in slavery or senviude.
2 No one shall be required fo perform forced or compulsarny labowr.

Adicle 14
The enjoyment of the nghis and freedomes sef forth in this Comenbon shall be
secured withow! discrminalion on any ground such a5 sex, race, colour,

isnquage, religion, polifical or other opinion, national or social onigin, association
with & natfonal minonty, property, birh or other siafus.

15

Page 125



76, Further information can be found in the Bguality and Hurman Rights Commission
Freedom of Expression Legal Framework guidance'™ which exgplains the legal
framework which protects freedom of expression and the circaemstances in which
that freedom may be restricted in order to prevent wiclence, abuse or
discrimination

77.In implementing the SEV kegislative provisions local authonties will wish to ensure
that they do so in compliance with the Cormvention nghts and that they put in
place flexible policies which take account of the competing nterests of individuals
alongside those of the community.

Fess

8. Paragraph 18 of Schedule 2 prowides that a local authority must change a
reasonable fee which is sufficient to meet the expenses incumed by the authorty
in exercising s functions under the Schedule. In sefting fees, local awthorities
will wish to have regard to the EU Services Directive. The R {on the application
of Hermming (ta Simply Pleasure Lid) and others) (Respondents) v Westminster
City Councd {Appellant) [2015 and 2017T" nulings may also be of interest.

Enforcement

8. Offences and sanctions which relate to SEV licensing fall wholly under Schedule
2 of the 1882 Act and are set out in paragraph 18 of Schedule 2. Local
authorties will wish to be aware that these provisions only apply where 3
resclution to licence SEV has been made.

B0. The powers to enter and inspect and to enter and search lcensed SEV are set
out at paragraphs 20 and 21 of Schedule 2. These are samillar to the prowisions
refating to Part | licences.

Conclusion

B1.The 1882 Act makes dear that any decision made by the local authority, when
considering applications for SEWV hicences, should be reasonable. This applies o
fees, condiions which may be added to the lcenca, and to the time taken to
consider the application.

E2. The local authority shoulkd corsider the facts of individual licence applications,
and make decisions which are based on kocal prionties and circumstances.

B3. The local authority should, where possible. ensure that there is consistency in
these decisions, and in the conditions which may be attached to any licence
granted.

168

Page 126



Licensing of sexual entertainment wenues: interpretation

E4. Part Il of the 1882 Act cumently allows local authorites to conftrol the number and
lecation of sex shops in their area and Schedule 2 contans the detailed hoensing
nmhmaﬂmmﬁraexmnps Section T8 of the 2015 Act creates 3

new licensing regime for SEV. It inserts sections 454 - 45C inte Part [l of the
1882 Act; modifies Schedule 2 so that it applies when a local authorty resolves to
hocence SEV, and amends the tile of Part 1l 1o "Control of sex shops and sexual
entertanmment venues”.

Diefiniticns

BS. Section ?ﬁflll‘lEEl‘Eml‘l:EE-l‘EEl]m section, which underpins the SEV licensing
regime, inio the 1082 Hl, secton 454, The relevant defnitions. are-

"2} “Sexual entertainment venue” means any premises 3t which sexual
entertainment 5 prowided before a live audience for (or with a wiew to) the
financial gain of the onganiser.

{3} For the purposes of that definiion—

“audience" iIncudes an audience of one,

“financal gain” inciudes financal gain ansing directy or indirectly from the
provision of the sexual entertainment,

“organser, in relation to the provision of sexual entertainment in premises,
means—
(a) the person A7) who is responsible for—
(i) the management of the premises, or
(ii) the organisation or management of the sexual
enertainment, or
(b) wihere A exercises that responsibility on behalf of another
person (whether by wirtee of a contract of employment or
ciherwise), that eSO,

“premises” incudes any vehicke, vessel or stall but does not nclude any
private dwelling to which the public is not admitted,

“sexua entertainment” means—

(3] any we performance, or

(k) any liwe display of nudity,
wihich is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gan, it must reasonably be
assumed to be provided sclely or principally for the purpose of sexually
stirmulating any member of the audience (whether by verbal or other means).

4) For the purposes of the definition of “sexual entertainment”, “dsplay of nudity”
means—
(a) in the case of a woman, the showing of (o amy extent and by any
rmeans) her nipples, pubic area, genitals or anus,

17

Page 127



(b} in the case of a man, the showing of (to amy extent and by any
rmeans) his pubic area, genitals or anus.”

Exemptions

BS. However, premises where sexual entertainment is provided on no more than 4
DCCASIoNS in 3 twelve month penod are not o be treated as SEV. This exermption
is to awoid drawing into the SEV licensing regime venues where the main
purpose is clearly not to provide regular sexual entertainment e.g. venues which
haee the wery odd stag or hen party prowsding such entertainment. Section
4540 10) specifies how occasional use is to be calculated:

"{a) each continuous period during which sexual entertainment is
prowided on the premises is io be treated as a separate occasion, and
(b)) where the penod during which sexual entertanment s provided on
the premises exceeds 2 hours, each penod of 24 hours (and any part
of @ period of 24 hours) is to be reated as a separate oocasion.”

E7. It is mmportant to note that an SEV licence will be required where such
enbertanment ocours on more than 4 occasions it a twelve month period even
where that entertainment is booked by the person hiring the verwe. It is also
mportant that any premises where sexual entertanment may be perfomed are
propery supervised, as breach of the abowe mit wethout a licence is an offence.

=ex shops

BE. Section 454 expressly states that sex shops are not SEV and provides a power
to allows Ministers to specfy other premises which do not fall into the category of
SEV. A further power is provided so that Ministers can specify descriptions of

performances. or displays of nudity that are not o be treated as sexual
entertanment for the purposes of the legislation.

Lnder 185

B2, Paragraph 18(1) of Schedule 2 of the 1882 Act provides that the employment of
anyone under the age of 18 in an SEV = an offence. Section 45B(8)(g) of the
1882 Act modifies paragraph 181)e) of Schedule 2 in respect of SEV to make it
mnﬁenneﬁralmtﬁdauﬁaragenﬁtukrmnﬂypenm;pﬂsmm

of 18 entry to the SEV at a time when sexual entertainment is being
mﬁe ed, or at any other trme without reasonable excuse. An example of 3
mmﬂem&eni;jﬂhenhema;ﬂunteﬁ5m&l&i5c&ledupcnmmm
emengency keak. It is worth noting that the reasonable excuse defence only
applies where entry 1o the SEV is knowingly permitted to a person under the age
of 13 at a ime wihen sexual entertainment is not being provided — there is no
reasonable excuse defence where enfry is permitted at a time when sexual
entertanment js beang provided.

13

Page 128



Pulblic entertainment

B, Section 41 of the 1882 Act enables a licensing authority to direct that a public
entertanrment hcence s necessary for certain types of activity. Section 41(2) of
the 1BE2 Act provides that a “place of public entertanment” = any place where
mesmbers of the public are admitted {H'I'I"I.TIF'LIEEEI'I'EII-_:H:IiﬁE fior the purposes of
entertanrment or recreation. Section T 2) of the 2015 Act amends section 41(2)
of the 1842 Act to exciude a sexual entertainment wenue from being licensed
under 3 public entertainment hcence.

Licensing of Theatres

B1. The prosisions at secton 74 of the 2015 Act repeal the exsting mandatony
reguirement for theatrical performances to be heensed under the Theatre Act
18837 (the 1288 Act) and supporting provisions in the 1858 Act that allow for
powers of entry and inspection. Section 74 of the 2015 Act also remowves the
exesmption for premises licensed under the 1988 Adct from the public
entertanment hicensing regime in the 1882 Act. This means that local authorities
will be able fo licence s under the public entertanment hicence
reguirements contained in section 41 of the 1882 Act. Section T4 also inserts an
equivalent of the anti-censorship provisions from the 1868 Act info the 1282 Act,
so that licensing authorities will not be able 1o censor theatrical perfformances
under the public entertainment licensing regime within the 1882 Act.

Local Authorty resolution

B2. Folowsng the repeal of the theatre icensing provisions wathin the 1883 Act, local
authoriies may wish to consider making a public entertanment Bicensing
resolution, or vary an existing resolution, under section 9 of the 1882 Act in order
to require theatres to obtain a public entertainment bcence. This reguires local
consultation, publicity and a 9 month period of notice before having efiect. Local
authorities are familiar with setting a resolution to bring actvities wthin the scope
of public entertainment licensing as the public entertainment beensing regime is
cumentiy used for Bcensing actities such as concerts, funfairs, vanety shows
efc. Hawing the local authorty set out the scope of the public entertainment
regirne allows. for greater flexibility and local authorites will, for example, be able
to exchude (1= 1 o small audiences from the licensin
mmimnﬁnﬁ"mlﬂﬂe mWMwmmwaﬂ and proportionate. e

Commencement of licensing of theatres and sexual entertainment wvenues
B3 The Asx Weapons and Licensing (Scotiand) Act 2015 (Commencament Mo, 1)

Crder brought section 76{1) and 7&{3) mio force on 1 December 2015 for the
purpose of msertng section 454 nbo the 1882 Act, but only for the purposes of

19

Page 129



making orders under section 45A{7b) and (11) of that Act. These prowsions
enable subordinate legsiaton 1o be made under the 19682 Act

B4 The prowssions at section 74 and the outstanding provisions at seciion 7 of the
2015 Act are fully commenced by the Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act
2015 {Commencement Mo 2 and Transitional Provisions) Order 2012,

BS. In commencing the primary kegislation, careful consideration was given as to the
transitonal arangements for the repeal of existing legislaton and the
commencement of the new licensing regimes in the 2015 Act. Any necessary
comseguential changes to existing secondary legislation brought about by the
commencement of the 2015 Act provisions was also considered.

BE. The transitional arangements, and the consequential amendments to existing

l=gisiation, required as a result of the cormmencement of sections 74 and 78 of
the 2015 Act are detailed below.

Transitional ..

S=cfion 74 - Theafres

B7.To ensure a smocth transition from the mandatory theatre licensing regime under
the 1868 Act to the optional public entertainment licensing regime within the 1232
Act the amendment to the public entertainment icensing regime will be
commenced first and the repeal of the theatre licensing regime wil follow at a
later date. This will give local authorites sufficent time to consider whether to
hcence theatres the 18482 Act and for any resclution under section 2 of the
1882 Act to take effect before the: icensing regeme under the 1968 Act ends.

BE. This means that theatre licences will continue untl the repeal of the 1983 Act
prowsions but, during that tmeframe, local authortes will be able to inroduce 3
public entertainment licensing regime for theatres to take effect from the date of
repeal. This will enable bocal suthonties which wish to continue Bicensing theaires
to ensure that public entertainment licences will come imo force mmedately on
the repeal of theatre licences, keaving no penod in between where theaires are
unlicensed.

Sedtion 76 — SEV
B2, Section 458/ 1) - (3) of the 1882 Act prowades:

1) A local authority may resolve that Schedule 2 (as modified fior the purposes
of this section) is to have effect in thesr area in relation to SEV.

(Z) f a local authority passes a resolution under subsaction (1) Schedule 2 (as
so mdified) has effect in theair area from the day specified in the: resolution.

(3} The day mentioned in subsection (2) must not be befiore the expiny of the
period of one year beginning with the day on which the resolution is passed.”

20

Page 130



1000 a local authority chooses o infroduce a Beensing regime for SEV they wil
first require to pass a resolution under section 456 of the 1882 Act. Followang a
kcal authorty resolution being passed to licencs SEV, exsting SEV will require
to apply for an SEV licence but will be able to continue to trade without a icence
unid the final determination of that application. The existence of a premises
hcenoe under the 2005 Act will I:-Esll'?nﬁnmﬂ'laan SEV hicence will be
granted for those premises — the icensing regime and the alcohol hcensing
regirme regulate o different activities.

101, Local authorities may wish to be aware of court pudgements in:

. R v Ondford City Counc [2013] EWHE 1818 (admin) (28 June
20137 and

. Rl w Oford City Councll & Amnor [2014] EWCA Civ 84 (11 February
znlmme City [2014]

102 The "‘Oxford cases siressed that the grant of a Beence should not b viewsd
as a grant fior etemity and that a new bcensing committee can take a different
view of the same facts.

The Licensing Condiiens (Late Cypening Premises) (Scofiand) Requiafions 2007

103, Following a review of secondany legisiabon we noted that amendments are
required to secondary legslabion related to alcohdl licensing, namely The
Licensing Conditions {Late Opening Premises) (Scolland) Regulations
2007 (the Regulations). These aloohol regulations nclude a definition of adult
enbafanrment and a reference to theatre lcensing.

104.  The Regulations specify conditions which must b2 mposed by & Licensing
Board on the granting of an alcobol premises cence where the operating plan
specifies that the premises will, on any cccasion, be open for a continuous period
beginning on one day and ending after 1am on the following day.

105 Local authorities may wish to be aware that, as sexual entertainment
wvenues now fall to be regulated under a separate specific licensing schame
it is no longer necessary to provide a definition of "adult entertainment™ in
these alcohol Regulations. Similarly, as licensing of theatres now falls
under the optional public entertainment licensing scheme, reference to
section 12 of the Theatres Act 1968 (which has been repealed by section
T4{3) of the 2015 Act) is not required.

21

Page 131



108, The Regulations therefore will be amended in due course to remowe the
definition of “adult entertainment” in regulaton 1(2) and the reference to “adult
entertanment “in reguiaon 32 aliii); the reference at regulation 3(2)c) to
section 12 of the Theatres Act 1083 wall also be rermoved.

The Premises Licence (Scofland) Reguiafions 2007

107, Amendments are also required to The Premises Licence {Scotland)
Regulations 2007, Regulation 8 and Schedule § of these regulations provide
for an operating plan in respect of hcensed premises. Question Sie) refers to the
activity “adult entertainment” which is undefined. This will be amended to refer
to “sexual entertainment” as defined at section 434 of the 1982 Act. A
resminder will also be included that, where a local authonty has decided to beence
SEV, unless the entertainment is to talke place on no more than four cccasions in
a twelwe month period, an application for a separate SEV licence will have 1o be
made. Whether or not an SEV licence is granted will depend on the indvidual
kxcal authorty's consideration of the application in line with the resolution made.
If no resolution has been made to licence SEV then no separate icence
application will be required.

Page 132



Conslder whelher to males a resciulion 12 Boenos sl sniberiainment veniues
(ocal sulhories may wish (0 ssek the views of looal people; businesses and
Polos Scolland prior o deciding whelher i pase & resolulion)
& Licensing can iale sffect no sarfler than ons year from the dais: the
reaciulion is passad.
Mo Pesclsion Madns R Mquinsmant for SEY opersion 1 oblain &
o

I & decision is el o Boenos SEV
* Devwlop a policy sialsman in comsuliation with relevant sisleholders,
inciuding viclence againet women partrerships, child proteciion
commmilises and community counclis.
= Engage with any sxdsling SFY operaions o ansurs they ars swars of
it sclicn they will read o i

Publish the resciution and policy sisisment no lsier than 28 deys befiors the dais
ithat the resciulion comas inio effect.

Debermine and publish & et of who s i eosive & copy of an applicalion from the
BEV losnos applicant

Consider sl appilicalions recalsad by tha dals specilied in the resclulion o Ecanos
BEV under the procadurs sat out st Bohaduls 2 of the Chvic Govermemant
{(Sooliand) Act 1982. In granting or refusing BEY lcance applicallons snaurs that
the compaiting inisrests of individusls slongeids thoss of ths community hess basn
fairly considered and spproprisiely belanoed.

Pariadically review tha number of SEV deisemined, policy stalsment and el of whe
s o recshm & copy of an application.

23

Page 133




Scottish Government
Rioghaltos no h-Albo
gov.scat

o
P
© Crown copyright 2019

OGL

This publication |s licensed under the terms of the Open Covemment Licence v 3.0 exoept
where othenvise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives. gonvouk/doc open-

government licence/version/3 or write to the Information Polloy Team, The Mational
Archives, Kew, London TWS 40U, or emalt pshEnationalarchives.gsl.gov.uk

Where we have Identifled any third party copyright Information you will need to
obtaln permission from the CopyTignt holders Concermed.

This putdication |5 avaliable At Wanw.gov.soot

Amy enguiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at
The SCottish Govermiment
St Andrew's House

Edinburgh
EH1 3DG
ISBM- 078-1-78781-57 1-8 (web only)

Published by The Scottish Gowvernment, March 2019

Peodicrd For The Soottish Goversmend by APS Group Seotland, 21 Termant Srect. Edinburgh BHE SMA
PROMSSTINL [T 1)

w w w . g o v . 5 ¢ ot

Page 134




Appendix 14 — SEV Consultation — Key Dates

Initial Consultation — 8 July 2019 to 17 August 2019

Evidence Session One — 21 January 2020 — Community Groups, Residents etc

Evidence Session Two — 31 January 2020 — Licensing Enforcement, Police Scotland,
NHS Scotland

Evidence Session Three — 17 February 2020 — Trade Groups (operators, performers,
union representatives

Second Consultation - 9 April 2021 — 2 July 2021

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7.2

Regulatory Committee

2.00pm, Thursday, 31 March 2022

Short Term Lets: New Licensing Powers Consultation

Executive/routine
Wards Citywide
Council Commitments

1. Recommendations

1.1 The Regulatory Committee is asked to:

1.1.1 Note the commencement of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982
(Licensing of Short Term Lets) Order 2022 on 1 March 2022;

1.1.2 Note that as a result of the provisions of the legislation, local authorities must
open a licensing scheme for short term lets by 1 October 2022; and

1.1.3 Instruct officers to carry out a statutory consultation on the draft policy and
conditions framework for short term lets.

Paul Lawrence
Executive Director of Place
Contact: Andrew Mitchell, Head of Regulatory Services

E-mail: andrew.mitchell@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4208

*€DINBVRGH*

Page 137 THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL




Regulatory Committee

Short Term Lets: New Licensing Powers Consultation

Executive Summary

2.1

2.2

This report provides Committee with an update on the new powers which have
been given to local authorities to regulate short term lets in the form of a licensing
scheme. This follows the commencement of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act
1982 (Licensing of Sort Term Lets) Order 2022, which brings short term lets within
the scope of licensable activities covered by the statutory provisions of the Civic
Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (‘the Act’). This report details what powers are
available to the Council in relation to mandatory and discretionary controls under
the Act. It sets out the timeline for the implementation of those powers following a
period of public consultation and final Committee decision.

The report also sets out the preparatory work underway and the issues the Council
will have to consider as a result of the legislation coming into force and gives further
information on how officers intend to consult on a draft short term lets policy
statement and conditions framework, ahead of bringing proposals back to
Committee for consideration.

Background

3.1

3.2

The Council has previously called for additional regulation of the short term lets
(STLs) sector, either through changes to planning classifications or the introduction
of a licensing system. To achieve the objective of additional regulation, legislation
would have to be introduced.

As previously reported to members, complaints received regarding short term lets
cover a number of broad types and include:

3.2.1 Impact on available housing supply within the city;

3.2.2 Erosion of sense of community in areas with dense concentrations of short
term lets;

3.2.3 Short term letting is generally not suitable for tenement properties;

3.2.4 Properties which are used as short term lets may not reach the same safety
standards as other types of visitor accommodation;

Page 138



3.3

3.2.5 Noise and anti-social behaviour created by guests using short term lets; and

3.2.6 Short term lets which operate on a commercial basis may not be paying rates
or other council charges required.

On 23 February 2022, the Planning Committee approved a proposal to designate
the entire City of Edinburgh Council area as a Short Term Let Control Area
(STLCA). The proposal, if approved by Scottish Government, would mean that
residential property owners wholly letting a property as a STL, which is not their
principal home, would need to apply for planning permission for a ‘change of use’.

Main report

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

On 1 March 2022, the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (Licensing of Short
Term Lets) Order 2022 (‘the 2022 Order’) was enacted to introduce new powers for
local authorities to regulate short term lets through the introduction of a licensing
scheme under the Act.

Licensing Scheme

The 2022 Order brings Short Term Lets within the scope of the Civic Government
(Scotland) Act 1982 (‘the 1982 Act’) and enables local authorities to implement a
licensing scheme for short term lets in order to improve safety and mitigate the
impact on communities.

The licensing scheme includes a new mandatory safety requirement that will cover
every type of short term let to ensure a safe, quality experience for visitors. It will
also include a ‘fit and proper’ test to assess whether the applicant is suitable to hold
such a licence, as with all other types of licensable activities under the 1982 Act.
The Council also has the discretion to apply further appropriate conditions to
address any local concerns.

The Order sets out a timetable for the implementation of the licensing scheme,
which will take place incrementally to give hosts and operators time to comply. The
legislation contains transitional provisions which allow existing operators to continue
hosting guests whilst their application is considered and determined. Accordingly,
the timeline for local authorities to open a licensing scheme for short term lets to
applications is as follows:

4.4.1 1 October 2022 — Licensing system opens to applications;

4.4.2 By 1 April 2023 — Existing hosts or operators must have made an application
to the Council and can continue to operate whilst their application is
processed and determined. New entrants to the market will be required to
have a licence application granted before being able to operate; and

4.4.3 1 July 2024 — All short term lets to be licensed.

Page 139



4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

Proposed Consultation Process

The implementation of any discretionary powers or conditions will require the
Council to carry out a statutory consultation on whether not to adopt further powers
and their scope. If agreed, any discretionary powers would again be likely to require
a transition period to allow for compliance.

Subject to Committee approval, a two-stage consultation exercise will begin in April
2022 as set out in Appendix 1, with each stage lasting for a period of eight weeks.
An initial consultation will aim to gather a broader understanding of community and
business views in relation to what a STL licensing policy should include, and
whether the Council should adopt any discretionary powers.

Following consideration of the results from the initial consultation, a draft statement
of licensing policy and licence conditions framework will be developed. A second
consultation, again taking place over eight weeks, will ask for views on the draft
policy and conditions. The two consultation stages, lasting approximately 16 weeks
in total, should provide the Committee with a significant evidence base on which to
base future decisions.

Given the timescales involved, officers will continually monitor the responses
received in response to the consultation, in order to inform the work carried out on
the draft policy and conditions.

Preparation

The introduction of a mandatory licensing scheme and adoption of further
discretionary powers, as well as new planning regulations, will present a significant
number of issues for the Council which will require to be resolved.

Introducing a licencing regime on the scale of the short term let sector in Edinburgh
will be a significant undertaking for the Council to effectively deliver. The most
recently available figures suggest that there are approximately 10-14,000 properties
registered for short term let in the city. This will result in a substantial increase in
workload for both the Licensing & Planning Services, and will place additional
pressure on the current ICT infrastructure for processing applications. Officers are
currently assessing the effect that this will have on existing resources, and what
measures can be introduced to mitigate the impact, including on current ICT
systems.

There is also the potential for business of the Licensing Sub-Committee and
Development Management Sub-Committee to become pressured by the volume of
applications requiring Committee oversight. For example, the Licensing Sub-
Committee typically deals with existing applications under the 1982 Act which
attract public objections or requests for exemption to Council policy. A new licensing
scheme could result in a large number of objections or exemption requests being
received by the Council, which would then require Committee scrutiny.

Page 140



4.12 Consideration will need to be given to the capacity of Committee meetings and
whether changes will need to be made to processes, including amending delegated
powers and/or other business to allow for this volume.

5. Next Steps

5.1 A two-stage statutory public consultation exercise will begin in early April and
officers will seek to engage with relevant stakeholders to ensure that a wide range
of views are received.

5.2  Officers will monitor and review the comments made during the consultation
process. A further report will subsequently be brought forward detailing the
responses to the consultation and providing recommendations in relation to
agreeing a statement of licensing policy and conditions framework.

6. Financial impact

6.1  Any costs incurred by implementing the policy are, at present, funded by £150K
allocated to the Directorate as part of the 2022/23 budget.

6.2  Officers will carry out work to devise a new, cost neutral fee structure for short term
lets and will bring this back to Committee for approval.

7.  Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1  There will be a requirement to carry out a statutory consultation as part of the
process of adopting further discretionary powers and conditions and forming a short
term let policy. In developing a policy, it will be necessary to consult with a wide
range of stakeholders which should include organisations such as community
councils, local residents, local business communities, existing businesses,
trade/tourist organisations and Police Scotland.

7.2  Afull equalities impact assessment will be completed as part of the consultation.

8. Background reading/external references

8.1 The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 (Licensing of Short Term Lets) Order
2022

8.2  Short Term Letting in Edinburgh Update report to Corporate Policy and Strategy

Committee on 14 May 2019

Page 141


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2022/32/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2022/32/contents/made
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Corporate%20Policy%20and%20Strategy%20Committee/20190514/Agenda/item_72_-_short_term_lets.pdf

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix 1 — Short Term Lets Consultation Timeline

Appendix 1

Short Term Lets Consultation Timeline

Regulatory Committee Report & Consultation Approval

31 March 2022

15t CONSULTATION (April = May — 8 Weeks)

« High level consultation on broad principles of STL scheme
 Initial views on what should be included in STL policy & whether
additional conditions should be set

2"d Consultation (
June - August — 8 Weeks)
e Draft policy and conditions published
e Detailed consultation on terms of draft policy & conditions

Regulatory Committee (September 2022)

e Report to Committee presenting both consultation results
e Report to recommend policy and any conditions for approval
¢ Policy and Conditions subsequently advertised

1 October 2022

e Licensing Scheme Opens to Applications

Page 142



Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7.3

Regulatory Committee

2.00pm, Thursday, 31 March 2022

Animal Welfare Regulations

Executive/routine Executive
Wards All
Council Commitments

1. Recommendations

1.1  Regulatory Committee is asked to:
1.1.1 Note the contents of this report;

1.1.2 Agree to implement the new licensing regime and notes the fee structure
and mandatory conditions of licence as set out in Appendices 1 to 8;

1.1.3 Agree to delegate authority to the Executive Director of Place to determine
whether to grant, renew or vary any licence under the Animal Welfare
(Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland) Regulations 2021; and

1.1.4 Instruct the Chief Executive to include this additional delegation in future
drafts of the Council’'s Scheme of Delegation when submitted to Council for
approval.

Paul Lawrence
Executive Director of Place
Contact: Andrew Mitchell, Regulatory Services Manager

E-mail: andrew.mitchell@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 5822

Contact: Gordon Hunter, Regulatory Officer (Licensing)
E-mail: gordon.hunter@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 529 4042

*€DINBVRGH*

Page 145 THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL



mailto:gordon.hunter@edinburgh.gov.uk

Animal Welfare Regulations

2 Executive Summary

2.1  The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021 (the 2021 Regulations) came into force on 1 September 2021.
This new legislation introduced a revised licensing regime for some animal-related
businesses.

2.2  The purpose of the Regulations is to provide for the licensing of persons who, in
Scotland, carry on activities of:

2.2.1 Selling animals as pets;

2.2.2 Rehoming animals as pets;

2.2.3 Operating animal welfare establishments (including sanctuaries and
rehoming centres); and

2.2.4 The breeding of dogs, cats and rabbits.

2.3 This means that any pet shops, animal breeders and sanctuaries or rehoming
centres will now be required to be licensed under the new legislation, with the City
of Edinburgh Council being the Licensing Authority. Current licences will be
permitted to continue until their expiry, after which a licence must be applied for in
line with the new scheme. A licensed premises register will be made available for all
licences held under the legislation.

3 Background

3.1 Previously, legislation such as The Pet Animals Act 1951 and The Breeding of Dogs

Act 1973 ensured that activities such as the sale of animals as pets and the breeding
of dogs came under the remit of a licensing regime. This legislation became
outdated and no longer fit for purpose. While a small number of independent pet
shops and a few larger operators continue to exist, the majority of licensed sales of
puppies and kittens are now made direct from breeder to purchaser or are
completed online.

3.2 Similarly, licensing controls which already existed for dog breeders also became

outdated and no longer fit for purpose. This legislation only imposed basic conditions

Page 146



3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

4

to protect animal welfare and, as demand for puppies continues to increase, this has
resulted in an alarming increase in low-welfare breeders.

The breeding of cats and rabbits was previously an unregulated activity. This meant
that there was no oversight of these activities and no way to ensure that persons
breeding cats or rabbits had any regard to the welfare of the animals.

Prior to 2021, there were no licensing requirements for the rehoming of animals; the
operation of animal welfare establishments; or the breeding of cats and rabbits

While most animal welfare establishments and rehoming activities were well run, the
fact that it was an unregulated activity could result in animal welfare issues. There
were concerns that such activities might be undertaken by un/underqualified
individuals; that unsuitable premises might be used; that some establishments might
also be operating as a pet retailer; and that imported animals could be carrying
diseases not found in the UK.

In the Programme for Government 2017-18, the Scottish Government committed to
preparing legislation for a modern system of registration and licensing of animal
sanctuaries and rehoming activities in Scotland, and improving licensing for dog, cat
and rabbit breeding, dealing and selling so that conditions in breeding units in
Scotland could be controlled and breeders identified when advertising animals for
sale.

The above resulted in the introduction of The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities
Involving Animals) (Scotland) Regulations 2021. The 2021 Regulations replaced the
outdated licensing legislation and also extended licensing regimes to a wider range
of activities to ensure better protection of animal welfare. Under the legislation local
authorities are, with one exception, the Licensing Authority. The exception applies in
respect of any licence application made in connection with the activity of rehoming
animals as pets in Scotland by persons that neither reside in or have a place of
business in Scotland. In such circumstances the Licensing Authority is Scottish
Ministers.

Pet shops, animal breeders and sanctuaries or rehoming centres will be required to
be licensed under the 2021 Regulations, with the City of Edinburgh Council being
the Licensing Authority. Current licences will be permitted to continue until their
expiry, after which a licence must be applied for in line with the new scheme.

Main report

4.1

4.2

As the Licensing Authority, the Council has an obligation to facilitate the revised
licensing regime introduced by the 2021 Regulations.

The licensing system must include conditions of licence, an application process, an
inspection regime and a fee structure. A person may apply to the Council to grant or
renew a licence to carry out a licensable activity.

Page 147



4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

The updated mandatory conditions are attached at Appendices 1 - 7 and detail the
conditions that will be applicable across all licence types and conditions specific to
each licence type. The conditions will thereafter be applicable in respect of any
licence granted or renewed under the 2021 Regulations.

The 2021 Regulations include a provision that allows local authorities to charge a
fee for the consideration and granting of a licence for a licensable activity. The
Council can refuse to consider any application submitted for a licence if the
applicant fails to pay any fee set by the Council. The proposed fee structure is set
out at Appendix 8.

When a valid application is received, the Council should arrange for an inspection of
the premises on which the licensable activity is to be undertaken. The inspector
appointed must be suitably experienced and qualified and have a sound
understanding of animal welfare. Following an inspection, a report which includes
sufficient information to enable the Council to make an informed decision on
whether to grant a licence must be produced.

In addition to inspections carried out by Council officers, there may be occasions
where the appointment of a private veterinary surgeon is necessary. Any veterinary
fees incurred by the Council shall be charged to the applicant in addition to any fee
already set.

The Regulations require the Council to publish a register of licence holders for each
of the licensable activities on its website in order to enable the public and
prospective buyers of pet animals to quickly and easily check whether a breeder or
seller is indeed licensed by the Council to operate as such.

The Scottish Government has produced a helpful toolkit that provides additional
guidance and information for potential applicants in a simplified manner to assist
with the process.

Regulatory Committee is therefore asked to:
4.9.1 Approve the updated conditions and fee structure;

4.9.2 Agree the additional request for delegation of authority to the Executive
Director of Place to grant, renew and vary and licence as detailed in this
report where there are no objections to the application from members of the
public or the Chief Constable; and

4.9.3 Request that such delegated authority be included within the next iteration
of the Council’s Scheme of Delegation when submitted to Council for
approval.

Next Steps

5.1

If Committee approves the recommendations in this report, officers will contact all
known parties that will be affected by the changes, both existing and new.

Page 148



Financial impact

6.1

There is no financial impact arising directly from this report. Any costs implementing
policy changes will be contained within the current ring-fenced income generated
from licence application fees and the proposed fee structure.

Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

The development of policy in respect of licensing of Animal Welfare is part of a
wider place-making role for the Council. It is essential that all the strategic aims of
the Council are considered and that the revised conditions are consistent with
these.

That the city’s licensing function is modernised to ensure that it meets the needs of
customers.

That any Licensing policy adopted balances appropriate protection of citizens with
the need to ensure a minimum burden on economic development.

The revised licensing conditions and fee structure are suitable for the needs of the
city and address concerns raised with the Council.

Background reading/external references

8.1

8.2
8.3

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Reqgulations 2021 (leqgislation.gov.uk)

Regulatory Committee report - Animal Boarding Establishments - 26 June 2018

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021 Toolkit (available from Licensing on request)

Appendices

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Appendix 1 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)
(Scotland) Regulations 2021- GENERAL CONDITIONS

Appendix 2 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)
(Scotland) Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — SELLING ANIMALS AS
PETS

Appendix 3 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)
(Scotland) Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — ENGAGING IN ANIMAL
REHOMING

Appendix 4 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)

(Scotland) Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — OPERATING AN ANIMAL
WELFARE ESTABLISHMENT

Page 149


https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2021/84/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2021/84/made
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Regulatory%20Committee/20180626/Agenda/item_73_-_animal_boarding_establishments.pdf

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

Appendix 5 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)
(Scotland) Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — BREEDING DOGS

Appendix 6 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)
(Scotland) Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — BREEDING CATS

Appendix 7 - The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)
(Scotland) Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — BREEDING RABBITS

Appendix 8 — Proposed Fee Structure

Page 150



Appendix 1

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021- GENERAL CONDITIONS

General conditions

Licence display

1.—(1) A copy of the licence must be clearly and prominently displayed on any premises on which the
licensable activity is carried on.

(2) Any website operated by the licence holder in respect of the licensable activity must clearly and
prominently display—

(a) the name of the licence holder,
(b) the number of the licence holder’s licence, and

(c) the name of the licensing authority that granted the licence.

Records

2.—(1) The licence holder must ensure that all the records that the licence holder is required to keep as a
condition of the licence are either—

(a) available for inspection by an inspector in a visible and legible form at any premises specified in the
licence at which the licensable activity is carried on, or

(b) if not kept at such premises, are kept in a manner in which they can be readily made available to an
inspector.

(2) Where any records that the licence holder is required to keep as a condition of the licence are stored in
electronic form they must be stored in a form from which they can readily be produced in a visible and legible
form.

(3) The licence holder must keep all such records for at least three years beginning with the date on which
the record was created.

(4) Where records are not kept at any premises specified in the licence at which the licensable activity is
carried on, the licence holder must promptly make such records available (whether in electronic format or
otherwise) for inspection upon request by an inspector.

Number of animals

3. The total number of animals kept for the activity at any time must not exceed the maximum that is
reasonable taking into account the facilities and numbers of employed staff and volunteers on any premises
on which the licensable activity is carried on.

Staffing

4.—(1) Sufficient numbers of people who are competent for the purpose must be available to provide a level
of care that ensures that the welfare needs of all the animals are met.

(2) The licence holder or a designated manager and any staff employed to care for the animals must be
competent to identify the normal behaviour of the species for which they routinely care and to recognise signs
of, and take appropriate measures to mitigate or prevent, suffering, injury, disease or abnormal behaviour.

(3) Volunteers who assist in relation to the licensable activity must only undertake tasks for which they have
been suitably trained.

(4) The licence holder must provide and ensure the implementation of a written training policy for all staff
members and volunteers who care for the animals.

Page 151



Suitable environment

5.—(1) All areas, equipment and appliances to which the animals have access must present minimal risks
of injury, illness and escape and must be constructed in materials that are robust, safe and durable, in a good
state of repair and well maintained.

(2) If the licensable activity is carried on from premises at which animals are kept, such premises must
provide an environment suitable to their species and condition (including health status and age) with respect
to—

(a) their behavioural needs,
(b) its situation, space, air quality, cleanliness and temperature,
(c) the water quality (where relevant),
(d) noise levels,
(e) light levels,
(f) ventilation.
(3) Animals must be kept clean and comfortable.
(4) Where appropriate for the species—
(a) opportunities for toileting must be provided, and

(b) a toileting area must be provided if the licensable activity is carried on from premises at which animals
are kept.

(5) Procedures must be in place to ensure that—

(a) accommodation in any premises from which the licensable activity is carried on and in which animals are
kept is capable of being thoroughly cleaned and disinfected,

(b) any equipment within the accommodation is cleaned as often as necessary, and
(c) good hygiene standards are maintained.

(6) The animals must be transported and handled in a manner (including for example in relation to housing,
temperature, ventilation and frequency) that protects them from suffering, injury and disease.

(7) If the animals are kept in premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, all the animals must
be easily accessible to staff and for inspection and there must be sufficient light for the staff to work effectively
and observe the animals.

(8) All resources must be provided in a way (for example as regards frequency, location and access points)
that minimises competitive behaviour or the dominance of individual animals.

(9) The animals must not be left unattended in any situation or for any period likely to cause them distress.

Suitable diet

6.—(1) The animals must be provided with a suitable diet in terms of quality, quantity and frequency and
any new feeds must be introduced gradually to allow the animals to adjust to them.

(2) Feed and (where appropriate) water intake must be monitored, and any problems recorded and
addressed.

(3) Feed and drinking water provided to the animals must be unspoilt and free from contamination.
(4) Feed and drinking receptacles must be capable of being cleaned and disinfected, or disposable.

(5) If the animals are kept in premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, constant access to
fresh and clean drinking water must be provided in a suitable receptacle for the species that require it.

(6) Where feed is prepared on any premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, there must be
hygienic facilities for its preparation, including a working surface, hot and cold running water and storage.

Page 152



Enrichment and training of animals

7. If the animals are kept in premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, active and effective
environmental enrichment must be provided to the animals in inside and any outside environments.

Animal handling and interactions

8.—(1) All people responsible for the care of the animals must be competent in the appropriate handling of
each animal to protect it from suffering, injury or disease.

(2) If the animals are kept in premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, the animals must be
kept separately or in suitable compatible social groups appropriate to the species and individual animals.

(3) No animals from a social species may be isolated or separated from others of their species for any longer
than is necessary.

Protection from suffering, injury and disease
9.—(1) Written procedures must—
(a) be in place and implemented covering—
(i) feeding regimes,
(i) cleaning regimes,
(iii) transportation,
(iv) the prevention of, and control of the spread of, disease,
(v) monitoring and ensuring the health and welfare of all the animals, and
(vi) except in relation to fish, the death or escape of an animal (including the storage of carcasses),
(b) be in place covering the care of the animals—
(i) following the suspension or revocation of the licence,
(i) during an emergency, and
(iii) following an emergency.

(2) All people responsible for the care of the animals must be made fully aware of these procedures before
they attend to any animal in the course of the licensable activity.

(3) If animals are kept in premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, appropriate isolation, in
separate self-contained facilities, must be available for the care of sick, injured or potentially infectious animals.

(4) All reasonable precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread among the animals and
people of infectious diseases, pathogens and parasites.

(5) All excreta and soiled bedding for disposal must be stored and disposed of in a hygienic manner and in
accordance with any relevant legislation.

(6) Sick or injured animals must receive prompt attention from a veterinary surgeon or, in the case of any
sick or injured fish, an appropriately trained person and the advice of that veterinary surgeon or that trained
person must be followed.

(7) Where necessary, animals must receive preventative treatment by an appropriately competent person
in consultation with a veterinary surgeon.

(8) The licence holder must register with a veterinary surgeon and the contact details of that veterinary
surgeon must be readily available to all staff on any premises on which animals are kept and from which the
licensable activity is carried on.

(9) Prescribed medicines must be stored safely and securely to safeguard against unauthorised access, at
the correct temperature, and used in accordance with the instructions of the veterinary surgeon.

(10) Medicines other than prescribed medicines must be stored, used and disposed of in accordance with
the instructions of the manufacturer or veterinary surgeon.

9
Page 153



(11) Cleaning products must be suitable, safe and effective against pathogens that pose a risk to the animals
and must be used, stored and disposed of in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions and used in a
way which prevents distress or suffering of the animals.

(12) No person may euthanase an animal except a veterinary surgeon, a person acting under supervision
of a veterinary surgeon, a person who has been authorised by a veterinary surgeon as competent for such
purpose or—

(a) in the case of fish, a person who is competent for such purpose,

(b) in the case of equines and species generally regarded as farmed livestock, a person who is competent,
and who holds a licence or certificate which is relevant to the species, for such purpose,

except where the purpose of the euthanasia is to end suffering that has arisen suddenly and unexpectedly and
to arrange for such a person to euthanase the animal would prolong the suffering.

(13) All animals must be checked at least once daily and more regularly as necessary for any signs of
suffering, injury, disease or abnormal behaviour and vulnerable animals must be checked more frequently.

(14) Any signs of suffering, injury, disease or abnormal behaviour must be recorded and if necessary the
advice of a veterinary surgeon (or in the case of fish, of an appropriately competent person) must be sought
and followed.

Emergencies

10.—(2) If animals are kept in premises, other than domestic premises, from which the licensable activity is
carried on—

(a) a written emergency plan, acceptable to the licensing authority, must be in place, known and available to
all the staff on the premises, and

(b) such a plan must be followed where necessary to ensure appropriate steps are taken to protect all
animals on the premises (without risking human life) in case of fire, breakdowns of essential heating,
ventilation and aeration or filtration systems or other emergencies.

(2) Any such emergency plan must include details of the emergency measures to be taken for the extrication
of the animals should the premises become uninhabitable and an emergency telephone list that includes the
fire service and police.

(3) External doors and gates must be lockable.

(4) If animals are kept in premises from which the licensable activity is carried on, a designated key holder
with access to all animal areas must at all times be within reasonable travel distance of those premises and
available to attend in an emergency.

10
Page 154



Appendix 2

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — SELLING ANIMALS AS PETS

Specific conditions: selling animals as pets

Interpretation
1. In this schedule—
“prospective owner” means a person who seeks to purchase an animal to be kept or to be
resold as a pet,
“premises” means the premises specified in the licence and on which the licensable activity
described in paragraph 1 of schedule 1 is carried on,
“purchaser” means a person who purchases an animal to be kept or to be resold as a pet.

Records and advertisements
2. (1) A register must be maintained for all the animals or, in the case of fish or other animals

(not including dogs and cats) kept in groups where it is not practicable to keep individual

records, all the groups of such animals, on the premises which must include—

(a) the full name of the supplier of the animal,

(b )the animal’s sex (where known),

(c) (except in the case of fish) the animal’s age (where known),

(d) details of any veterinary treatment (where known),

(e) the date of birth of the animal or, if the animal was acquired by the licence holder,
the date of its acquisition,

(f) the date of the sale of the animal by the licence holder,

(9) the date of the animal’s death (if applicable), and

(h) the animal’s microchip number (if any).

(2) Where an animal is undergoing any medical treatment—

(a) this fact must be clearly indicated—
(i) in writing next to it, or
(il)(where appropriate) by labelling it accordingly, if it is on display in the premises

with the purpose of being sold, and

(b) it may only be sold to a prospective owner if—

(i) a veterinary surgeon advises that the animal is in a suitable condition to be
rehomed, and
(ii) details of, and the reasons for, the treatment are communicated to the
prospective owner prior to the sale.
(3) Any advertisement for the sale of an animal must—

(a) include the number of the licence holder’s licence,

(b) specify the local authority that issued the licence,

(c) if the animal being advertised is a dog or cat, include a recognisable photograph of
the animal,

(d)(except in the case of fish) display the age of the animal being advertised,

(e) state the country of residence of the animal from which it is being sold, and

(f) state the country of origin of the animal.

Prospective sales: pet care and advice
3. (1) Any equipment and accessories being sold with an animal must be suitable for the
animal.
(2) The purchaser must be provided with information on the appropriate care of the animal
including in relation to—
(a) feeding,
(b) housing,
(c) handling,
(d) husbandry,
(e) the life expectancy of its species,
(f) the provision of suitable accessories, and
(g) veterinary care.
(3) Appropriate reference materials on the care of all animals for sale must be—
(a) on display and available to be consulted by prospective owners in the premises, or

Page 155

11



(b) provided to prospective owners in an electronic format,
if the licensable activity is conducted in a way that involves persons attending the
premises to view animals available for sale as pets, or otherwise in relation to arranging
the purchase of animals as pets.

(4) The licence holder and all staff must have been suitably trained to advise prospective
owners about the animals being sold.

(5) The purchaser must be informed of, where known, the country of origin, age, sex and
veterinary record of the animal being sold.

Suitable Accommodation
4, (1) Animals must be kept in housing which minimises stress including from other animals
and the public.
(2) Where members of the public can view or come into contact with the animals, signage
must be in place to deter disturbance of the animals.
(3) Dangerous wild animals (if any) must be kept in secure accommodation that is lockable
and appropriate for the species.

Training and Exercise
5. (1) For species whose welfare depends partly on exercise, opportunities to exercise which
benefit the animals’ physical and mental health must be provided, unless advice from a
veterinary surgeon recommends otherwise.
(2) All immature animals must be given suitable and adequate opportunities to—
(a) learn how to interact with people, their own species and other animals where such
interaction benefits their welfare, and
(b) become habituated to noises, objects and activities associated with a domestic
environment.
(3) The animals must have at least daily opportunities to interact with people where such
interaction benefits their welfare.

Sale of Animals
6. (1) No animal of any of the following descriptions may be sold as a pet, or sold with a view
to being resold as a pet, by or on behalf of the licence holder—
(a) unweaned mammals,
(b) mammals weaned at an age at which they should not have been weaned,
(c) non-mammals that are incapable of feeding themselves,
(d) puppies, kittens, ferrets or kits, aged under 8 weeks, and
(e) puppies or kittens which were not bred by the licence holder.
(2) The sale of a dog or a cat must be completed in the presence of the purchaser on the
premises.
(3) No animals or types of animal other than those animals and types of animal specified in
the licence may be sold.
(4) No animal may be sold in any part of a road or public place or at a point of sale at a
market (unless the point of sale at the market forms part of the premises).

Protection from suffering, injury and disease
7. (1) All animals for sale must be in good health.

(2) Any animal with a condition which is likely to affect its quality of life must not be moved,
transferred or offered for sale but may be moved to an isolation facility or veterinary
care facility if required until the animal has recovered.

(3) When arranging for the receipt of animals, the licence holder must make reasonable
efforts to ensure that they will be transported in a suitable manner.

(4) When an animal is to be transported or handed to a purchaser in a container, the
container must be suitable for the species and expected duration of the journey.

12
Page 156



Appendix 3

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — ENGAGING IN ANIMAL REHOMING

Specific conditions: engaging in animal rehoming activities (other than in the course of operating
an animal welfare establishment)

Supply of animals
1. No animal of any of the following descriptions may be supplied as a pet by or on behalf of the
licence holder—
(a) unweaned mammals,
(b Ymammals weaned at an age at which they should not have been weaned,
(c) non-mammals that are incapable of feeding themselves,
(d) puppies, kittens, ferrets or kits, aged under 8 weeks, and
(e) puppies or kittens which were not bred by the licence holder.

Protection from suffering, injury and disease
2. (1) All animals supplied as pets must be in good health
(2) Any animal with a condition which is likely to affect its quality of life must not be moved,
transferred or supplied as a pet but may be moved to an isolation facility or veterinary
care facility if required until the animal has recovered.
(3) When arranging for the receipt of animals, the licence holder must make reasonable
efforts to ensure that they will be transported in a suitable manner.
(4) When an animal is transported in or handed over in a container to the person to whom
the licence holder is supplying the animal, the container must be suitable for the species
and expected duration of the journey.

Pet care and advice
3. (1) Any equipment and accessories being sold with an animal must be suitable for the
animal.
(2) The purchaser must be provided with information on the appropriate care of the animal
including in relation to—
(a) feeding,
(b) housing,
(c) handling,
(d) husbandry,
(e) the life expectancy of its species,
(f) the provision of suitable accessories, and
(g) veterinary care.
(3) A person supplied with the animal as a pet must be informed of the country of origin of
the animal and the species, and where known, the age, sex and veterinary record of the
animal.

Return of animals
4. The licence holder must accept return of any live animal that the licence holder has supplied
to a person in the course of the licensable activity, and arrange for the collection of the
animal to facilitate the return if requested by the person supplied, if—
(a) the person supplied notifies the licence holder of the intention to return the animal
within the 10 days following the date the animal was supplied, and
(b) the animal is in a fit state to be transported.

13
Page 157



Appendix 4

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)

Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — OPERATING AN ANIMAL WELFARE
ESTABLISHMENT

Specific conditions: operating an animal welfare establishment

Interpretation
1. In this schedule—

“animal welfare establishment” means the place or places within the areas of the local
authority at which the licensable activity of operating an animal welfare establishment is
carried on,

“prospective keeper” means a person who seeks to become the keeper of the animal (or,

where it is proposed that there be more than one keeper of the animal, one of such
persons).

Records and advertisements

2. (1) A register must be maintained for all the animals or, in the case of animals (not including
dogs and cats) kept in groups where it is not practicable to keep individual records, all
the groups of such animals, in the animal welfare establishment which must include—

(a) the species of the animal (where known),

(b) the animal’s sex (where known),

(c) (except in the case of fish) the animal's age (where known),

(d) details of any veterinary treatment (where known),

(e) the date on which the animal was received by the licence holder,

(f) the date on which the animal was rehomed or otherwise released from the animal
welfare establishment (if applicable),

(9) the site of the animal’s release into the wild (if the animal is so released), and

(h) the date of the animal’'s death (if applicable).

(2) Where an animal is undergoing any medical treatment it may only be supplied as a pet
to a prospective keeper if—

(a) details of, and the reasons for, the treatment are communicated to the prospective
keeper of the animal prior to any agreement being concluded with that person for
the supply of that animal, and

(b) a veterinary surgeon advises that the animal is in a suitable condition to be supplied
to a person as a pet from the animal welfare establishment.

(3) Any advertisement for the rehoming of an animal must—

(a) include the number of the licence holder’s licence,

(b) specify the local authority that issued the licence,

(c) if the animal being advertised is a dog, cat or horse, include a recognisable
photograph of the animal, and

(d) (except in the case of fish) display the age of the animal being advertised (where
known).

Rehoming: pet care and advice
3. (1) Any equipment and accessories being sold with an animal must be suitable for the
animal.
(2) Prospective keepers must be provided with information on the appropriate care of the
animal including in relation to—
(a) feeding,
(b) housing,
(c) handling,
(d) husbandry,
(e) the life expectancy of its species,
(f) the provision of suitable accessories, and
(9) veterinary care.
(3) A suitably trained person must be available to provide advice to prospective keepers
about the animals made available for rehoming.

14
Page 158



(4) Any new keeper (or at least one new keeper where there is more than one new keeper
of the animal) to whom an animal is being rehomed must be informed of, where known,
the age, sex and veterinary record of the animal.

Release of animals into the wild
4, (1) An animal that has been kept at the animal welfare establishment must only be released
into the wild in an area that is suitable for its species.
(2) An animal that has been kept at the animal welfare establishment must only be released
into the wild if it is able to feed and fend for itself.

Dangerous wild animals: duty to notify
5. The licence holder must notify the licensing authority of any dangerous wild animals held in
the animal welfare establishment.

Suitable accommodation
6 (1) Animals must be kept in housing which minimises stress including from other animals
and the public.
(2) Where members of the public can view or come into contact with the animals, signage
must be in place to deter disturbance of the animals.
(3) Dangerous wild animals (if any) must be kept in secure accommodation that is lockable
and appropriate for the species.

Page 159

15



Appendix 5

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — BREEDING DOGS

Specific conditions: breeding dogs

Interpretation
1. In this schedule—
“adult dog” means a dog aged 6 months or more,
“breeding procedure” means a procedure involving—
(a) artificial insemination of semen into the vagina or uterus, or
(b) the placement of one or more embryos into the uterus, with the purpose of
establishing pregnancy,
“microchipped” means microchipped in accordance with regulation 6(5) of the
Microchipping of Dogs (Scotland) Regulations 2016(1),
“prospective purchaser’” means a person who seeks to purchase a puppy,
“sleeping area” means a fully-enclosed indoor area in which a dog can rest and sleep.

Advertisements and sales
2. (1) A dog must not be advertised or offered for sale—

(a) which was not bred by the licence holder,

(b) from any place other than the premises where it was born and reared under the
licence, unless the dog is over the age of 12 months and was procured by the licence
holder for breeding purposes.

(2) Any advertisement for the sale of a dog must—

(a) include the number of the licence holder’s licence,

(b) specify the local authority that issued the licence,

(c) include a recognisable photograph of the dog being advertised, and

(d) display the age of the dog being advertised.

(3) Any equipment and accessories being sold with a dog must be suitable for it.

(4) The purchaser must be informed of the age, sex and veterinary record of the dog being
sold.

(5) No puppy aged under 8 weeks may be—
(a) sold, or
(b) permanently separated from its biological mother.

(6) A puppy may only be shown to a prospective purchaser if it is together with its biological
mother.

(7) Sub-paragraphs (5)(b) and (6) do not apply in relation to a puppy if—

(a)separation of the puppy from its biological mother is necessary for the health or

welfare of the puppy, other puppies from the same litter or its biological mother, or

(b) the puppy’s biological mother is deceased.

(8) A dog may only be sold if the name, and an address, of the licence holder are disclosed
to the purchaser.

Number of breeding bitches and litters produced

3. (1) The number of breeding bitches kept in relation to the licensable activity of breeding
dogs at any time on the premises specified in the licence and on which the licensable
activity is carried on must not exceed the maximum number specified by the local
authority in the licence.

(2) The number of litters produced on the premises during each consecutive 12 month
period commencing with the date on which the licence was granted or, as the case may
be, renewed must not exceed the maximum number of breeding bitches specified in the
licence.

Suitable environment
4, (1) Each dog must have access to—
(a) a clean, dry and warm sleeping area with comfortable bedding and which is free from
draughts, and
(b) an exercise area.
(2) Each dog must be provided with sufficient space to—

16
Page 160



(a) stand upright on its hind legs,

(b) lie down fully stretched out,

(c) wag its tail,

(d) walk, and

(e) turn around,

without touching another dog or the walls of the sleeping area.

(3) The exercise area must not be used as a sleeping area unless the dog chooses to do so.

(4) There must be a separate whelping area for each breeding bitch to whelp in which
contains a suitable bed for whelping.

(5) Each whelping area must be maintained at an appropriate temperature and include an
area which allows the breeding bitch to move away from heat spots and from her young
if she chooses to do so.

(6) Each dog must be provided with constant access to a sleeping area.

(7) A separate bed or area with bedding must be provided for each adult dog.

(8) No puppy aged under 8 weeks may be transported without its biological mother
except—

(a) if a veterinary surgeon agrees for health or welfare reasons that it may be so
transported, or
(b) in an emergency.

(9) No pregnant breeding bitch may be transported later than 54 days after the date of
successful mating or breeding procedure except to a veterinary surgeon.

(10) No breeding bitch may be transported earlier than 48 hours after whelping except to a
veterinary surgeon where it is not otherwise practicable or appropriate for that person
to attend to the bitch.

(11) In this paragraph, “exercise area” means a secure area where dogs may exercise and

play.

Suitable diet

5.

(1) Each puppy must be provided with the opportunity to start weaning as soon as it is
capable of ingesting feed on its own.

(2) Each adult dog must be provided with feed appropriate to its needs.

(3) Each puppy must be provided with feed appropriate for its stage of development.

(4) Reasonable efforts must be made so that each puppy ingests the correct share of the
feed provided.

Monitoring of behaviour, exercise and training

6.

(1) The licence holder must implement and be able to demonstrate use of a documented
socialisation and habituation programme for the puppies.
(2) All puppies must be given suitable and adequate opportunities to—
(a) learn how to interact with people, dogs and other animals where such
interaction benefits their welfare, and
(b) become habituated to noises, objects and activities associated with a domestic
environment.
(3) Each dog must be provided with toys or feeding enrichment (or both) unless advised
otherwise by a veterinary surgeon.
(4) All adult dogs must be exercised at least twice daily away from their sleeping area unless
advised otherwise by a veterinary surgeon.
(5) Where a veterinary surgeon has advised against exercising a dog, the dog must be
provided with alternative forms of mental stimulation or environmental enrichment.
(6) All adult dogs must have at least daily opportunities to interact with people where such
interaction benefits their welfare.

Housing with or apart from other dogs

7.

(1) Each adult dog must be provided with opportunities for social contact with other dogs
where such contact benefits the dog’s welfare.

(2) Each adult dog must be given suitable and adequate opportunities to become
habituated to handling by people.

(3) There must be an area within each sleeping area in which dogs can avoid seeing people
and other dogs outside the sleeping area if they so choose.

Protection from suffering, injury and disease

8.

(1) All dogs for sale must be in good health.

Page 161

17



(2) Any dog with a condition which materially affects, or is likely to materially affect, its

quality of life must not be—

(a) transferred in ownership,

(b) offered for sale, or

(c) moved from the premises specified in the licence and on which the licensable activity
is carried on, other than to an isolation facility or veterinary care facility where the
animal is in need of isolation or treatment,

until it has recovered, ceased to require isolation or, where there is no need for the

animal to be isolated, been certified by a veterinary surgeon as being in a condition that

is suitable for such transfer, sale or movement.

(3) The licence holder must ensure that no bitch—

(a) is mated or undergoes a breeding procedure if aged less than 12 months,
(b) gives birth to more than one litter of puppies in a 12-month period,
(c) gives birth to more than 6 litters of puppies in her lifetime,
(d) is mated or undergoes a breeding procedure if she has had—
(i) two litters delivered by caesarean section, or
(i) one litter delivered by caesarean section if the need for the caesarean section was
due to the conformation of the bitch or her offspring.
(e) is mated or undergoes a breeding procedure if aged 8 or more years.
(4) Each puppy must be microchipped and registered to the licence holder before it is sold.
(5) No dog may be kept for breeding if it can reasonably be expected, on the basis of its
genotype, conformation, behaviour or state of health, that breeding from it could have a
detrimental effect on its health or welfare or the health or welfare of its offspring.

(6) Each dog must be checked in person at least two times per day.

(7) Breeding bitches must be adequately supervised during whelping and the licence holder

must keep a record of—

(a) the date of birth of each puppy,

(b) each puppy’s sex and colour,

(c) the number of puppies in the litter, and

(d) any other significant events.

(8) The licence holder must keep a record of each puppy sale including—

(a) the microchip number of the puppy,

(b) the date of the sale, and

(c) the age of the puppy on that date.

(9) The licence holder must keep a record of the following in relation to each breeding

dog—

(a) its name,

(b) its sex,

(c) its microchip and database details,

(d) its date of birth,

(e) the postal address where it normally resides,

(f) its breed or type,

(g) the date or dates of any matings and breeding procedures (whether or not any such
mating or procedure is successful),

(h) details of its biological parents,

(i) details of any veterinary treatment it has received, and

(j) the date and cause of its death (where applicable).

(10) In addition to the matters mentioned in sub-paragraph (9), the licence holder must
keep a record of the following in relation to each breeding bitch—
(a) the number of matings and breeding procedures,

(b)its age at the time of each mating and breeding procedure,
(c) the total number of its litters,

(d) the date or dates on which it has given birth, and

(e) the caesarean sections it has had, if any, and their cause.

(11) Any preventative healthcare plan agreed with the veterinary surgeon with whom the
licence holder has registered under the condition specified in paragraph 9(8) of the
general conditions must be implemented.

(12) The licence holder must keep a record of any preventative or curative healthcare (or
both) given to each dog.

13) Where any other activity involving animals is undertaken on the premises on which the
licensable activity of breeding dogs is carried on, it must be kept entirely separate from
the area where that licensable activity is carried on.

18
Page 162



Appendix 6

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — BREEDING CATS

Specific conditions: breeding cats

Interpretation
1. In this schedule—
“adult cat” means a cat aged 6 months or more,
“sleeping area” means a fully-enclosed indoor area in which a cat can rest and sleep.

Advertisements and sales
2. (1) A cat must not be advertised or offered for sale—

(a) which was not bred by the licence holder,

(b) from any place other than the premises where it was born and reared under the
licence, unless the cat is over the age of 12 months and was procured by the licence
holder for breeding purposes.

(2) Any advertisement for the sale of a cat must—

(a) include the number of the licence holder’s licence,

(b) specify the local authority that issued the licence,

(c) display the age of the cat being advertised.

(3) Any equipment and accessories being sold with a cat must be suitable for it.

(4) The purchaser must be informed of the age, sex and veterinary record of the cat being
sold.

(5) No kitten aged under 8 weeks may be—
(a) sold, or
(b) permanently separated from its biological mother.

(6) Sub-paragraph (5)(b) does not apply in relation to a kitten if—
(a) separation of the kitten from its biological mother is necessary for the health or

welfare of the kitten, other kittens from the same litter or its biological mother, or

(b) the kitten’s biological mother is deceased.

(7) A cat may only be sold if the name, and an address, of the licence holder are disclosed
to the purchaser.

Number of breeding female cats and litters produced

3. (1) The number of breeding female cats kept in relation to the licensable activity of
breeding cats at any time on the premises specified in the licence and on which the
licensable activity is carried on must not exceed the maximum number specified by the
local authority in the licence.

(2) The number of litters produced on the premises during each consecutive 12 month
period commencing with the date on which the licence was granted or, as the case may
be, renewed must not exceed the maximum number of breeding female cats specified in
the licence.

Suitable environment
4. (1) Each cat must have access to—
(a) a clean, dry and warm sleeping area with comfortable bedding and which is free from
draughts, and
(b) an exercise area.
(2) Each cat must be provided with sufficient space to—
(a) stand upright on its hind legs,
(b) lie down fully stretched out,
(c) walk, and
(d) turn around,
without touching another cat or the walls of the sleeping area.
(3) The exercise area must not be used as a sleeping area unless the cat chooses to do so.
(4) There must be a separate birthing area for each breeding female cat to birth in which
contains a suitable bed for giving birth.

19
Page 163



(5) Each birthing area must be maintained at an appropriate temperature and include an
area which allows the breeding female cat to move away from heat spots and from her
young if she chooses to do so.

(6) Each cat must be provided with constant access to a sleeping area.

(7) No kitten aged under 8 weeks may be transported without its biological mother
except—

(a) if a veterinary surgeon agrees for health or welfare reasons that it may be so
transported, or
(b) in an emergency.

(9) No pregnant breeding female cat may be transported later than 54 days after the date
of successful mating or artificial insemination except to a veterinary surgeon.

(10) In this paragraph, “exercise area” means a secure area where cats may exercise and

play.

Suitable diet

5.

(1) Each kitten must be provided with the opportunity to start weaning as soon as it is
capable of ingesting feed on its own.

(2) Each adult cat must be provided with feed appropriate to its needs.

(3) Each kitten must be provided with feed appropriate for its stage of development.

(4) Reasonable efforts must be made so that each kitten ingests the correct share of the feed
provided.

Training and exercise

6.

(1) Opportunities to exercise which benefit the cats’ physical and mental health must be
provided, unless advice from a veterinarian suggests otherwise.
(2) All kittens must be given suitable and adequate opportunities to—
(a) learn how to interact with people, cats and other animals where such
interaction benefits their welfare, and
(b) become habituated to noises, objects and activities associated with a domestic
environment.
(3) All adult cats must have at least daily opportunities to interact with people where such
interaction benefits their welfare.

Housing with or apart from other cats

7.

(1) Each adult cat must be given suitable and adequate opportunities to become
habituated to handling by people.

Protection from suffering, injury and disease

8.

(1) All cats for sale must be in good health.

(2) Any cat with a condition which materially affects, or is likely to materially affect, its
quality of life must not be—

(a) transferred in ownership,

(b) offered for sale, or

(c) moved from the premises specified in the licence and on which the licensable activity
is carried on, other than to an isolation facility or veterinary care facility where the
animal is in need of isolation or treatment,

until it has recovered, ceased to require isolation or, where there is no need for the

cat to be isolated, been certified by a veterinary surgeon as being in a condition that

is suitable for such transfer, sale or movement.

(3) The licence holder must ensure that no female cat—

(a) is mated or undergoes a breeding procedure if aged less than 10 months,

(b) gives birth to more than two litters of kittens in a 12-month period,

(c) gives birth to more than 8 litters of kittens in her lifetime,

(d) is mated or artificially inseminated if aged 8 or more years,

(e) is mated or artificially inseminated after she has delivered one litter of kittens by
caesarean section.

(4) No cat may be kept for breeding if it can reasonably be expected, on the basis of its
genotype, conformation, behaviour or state of health, that breeding from it could have a
detrimental effect on its health or welfare or the health or welfare of its offspring.

(5) Breeding female cats must be supervised with minimal disturbance during birthing and
the licence holder must keep a record of—

(a) the date of birth of each kitten,

Page 164

20



(b) each kitten’s sex and colour,
(c) the number of kittens in the litter, and
(d) any other significant events.

(6) The licence holder must keep a record of each kitten sale including—

(a) the microchip number of the kitten (if any),
(b) the date of the sale, and
(c) the age of the kitten on that date.

(7) The licence holder must keep a record of the following in relation to each breeding

cat—

(a) its name,

(b) its sex,

(c) its microchip and database details,

(d) its date of birth,

(e) the postal address where it normally resides,

(f) its breed or type,

(g) its description,

(h) details of its biological parents (to the extent known),
(i) details of any veterinary treatment it has received, and
() the date and cause of its death (where applicable).

(8) In addition to the matters mentioned in sub-paragraph (7), the licence holder must
keep a record of the following in relation to each breeding female cat—
(a) the number of any known pregnancies,

(b) thednumber of its litters,
(d) the date or dates on which it has given birth, and
(e) the caesarean sections it has had, if any.

(9) Any preventative healthcare plan agreed with the veterinary surgeon with whom the
licence holder has registered under the condition specified in paragraph 9(8) of the
general conditions must be implemented.

(10) The licence holder must keep a record of any preventative or curative healthcare (or
both) given to each cat.

(11) Where any other activity involving animals is undertaken on the premises on which the
licensable activity of breeding cats is carried on, it must be kept entirely separate from
the area where that licensable activity is carried on.

Page 165

21



Appendix 7

The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) (Scotland)
Regulations 2021- SPECIFIC CONDITIONS — BREEDING RABBITS

Specific conditions: breeding rabbits

Interpretation
1. In this schedule—
“adult rabbit” means a rabbit aged 3 months or more,
“nesting box” means a fully-enclosed indoor area in which a rabbit can rest and sleep.

Advertisements and sales
2. (1) No kit aged under 8 weeks may be—
(a) sold, or
(b) permanently separated from its biological mother.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply in relation to a kit if—
(a) separation of the kit from its biological mother is necessary for the health or
welfare of the kit, other kits from the same litter or its biological mother, or
(b) the kit’s biological mother is deceased.
(3) Any advertisement for the sale of a rabbit must—
(a) include the number of the licence holder’s licence, and
(b )specify the local authority that issued the licence.

Number of breeding female rabbits

3. (1) The number of breeding female rabbits kept in relation to the licensable activity of
breeding rabbits at any time on the premises specified in the licence and on which the
licensable activity is carried on must not exceed the maximum number specified by the
local authority in the licence.

Suitable environment
4, (1) Each rabbit must have access to—
(a) a clean, dry and warm sleeping area which is free from draughts, and
(b) an exercise area.
(2) Each rabbit must be provided with sufficient space in the sleeping area to—
(a) lie down fully stretched out,
(c) hop, and
(d) turn around,
without touching another rabbit or the walls of the sleeping area.
(3) The exercise area must not be used as a sleeping area unless the rabbit chooses to do
So.
(4) For each breeding female rabbit, there must be—
(i) a nesting box to give birth in and which is lined with suitable nesting material such as
dust-free wood shavings or grass hay, or
(i) a plentiful supply of such nesting material available to the rabbit.
(5) The nesting box must not be accessible to other rabbits when being used by a breeding
female rabbit to give birth in.
(6) In this paragraph, “exercise area” means a secure area where rabbits can hop, scratch,
forage and stretch to their full height.

Training and exercise
5. (1) Opportunities to exercise which benefit the rabbits’ physical and mental health must be
provided, unless advice from a veterinarian suggests otherwise.
(2) All kits must be given suitable and adequate opportunities to—
(a) learn how to interact with people, rabbits and other animals where such
interaction benefits their welfare, and
(b) become habituated to noises, objects and activities associated with a domestic
environment.

22
Page 166



(3) All rabbits must have at least daily opportunities to interact with people where such
interaction benefits their welfare.

Suitable diet

6. (1) All adult rabbits must have continuous access to clean and safe drinking water.
(2) Each adult rabbit must be provided with feed appropriate to its needs.
(3) Each kit must be provided with feed appropriate for its stage of development.

Protection from suffering, injury and disease
7. (1) All rabbits for sale must be in good health.

(2) Any rabbit with a condition which materially affects, or is likely to materially affect, its

quality of life must not be—

(a) transferred in ownership,

(b) offered for sale, or

(c) moved from the premises specified in the licence and on which the licensable activity
is carried on, other than to an isolation facility or veterinary care facility where the
animal is in need of isolation or treatment,

until it has recovered, ceased to require isolation or, where there is no need for the

rabbit to be isolated, been certified by a veterinary surgeon as being in a condition that

is suitable for such transfer, sale or movement.

(3) The licence holder must ensure that no female rabbit—

(a) is mated or artificially inseminated if aged less than 5 months,
(b) gives birth to more than 4 litters of kits within 12 months,

(c) gives birth to more than 16 litters of kits in her lifetime,

(d) is mated or artificially inseminated if aged 6 or more years,

(4) No rabbit may be kept for breeding if it can reasonably be expected, on the basis of its
genotype, conformation, behaviour or state of health, that breeding from it could have a
detrimental effect on its health or welfare or the health or welfare of its offspring.

(5) Where any other activity involving animals is undertaken on the premises on which the
licensable activity of breeding rabbits is carried on, it must be kept entirely separate
from the area where that licensable activity is carried on.

(6) No adult rabbit may be isolated or separated from others rabbits for longer than is
necessary.

Page 167



Appendix 8

Proposed Fee Structure

OTHER LICENCE TYPES

ANIMAL BOARDING

Commercial Kennels* £372 — 1 year
que Boarding or Dog Day Care (1-10 £173 — 1 year
animals) *

Home Boarding or Dog Day Care (>10

animals) £372 — 1 year

*any application that involves a vet inspection will be charged the full cost of that inspection in
addition to the licence application fee

ANIMAL WELFARE

Breeding of animals - dogs, cats and

New & Renewal rabbits * £372 — 1 year

animal rehoming activities (other than in
the course of operating an animal welfare |£173 — 1 year
establishment) (1 -10 animals) *

animal rehoming activities (other than in
the course of operating an animal welfare |£372 — 1 year
establishment) (>10 animals)

animal rehoming activities (animal welfare

establishment) £436 — 1 year

Sale of animals as pets (Pet shops etc)
£436 — 1 year

other than a capacity increases i.e. change

£118
of manager

Variation of Licence

*any application that involves a vet inspection will be charged the full cost of that inspection in
addition to the licence application fee

Breeding of animals - any person breeding three or more litters of kittens or puppies or six or
dogs, cats and rabbits |more litters of kits in any 12 month period must be licensed.

24
Page 168



Engaging in animal engaging in animal rehoming activities.

rehoming activities Under the Regulations “engaging in animal rehoming activities” means
supplying an animal to a person in Scotland to be kept as a pet,
regardless of the country of origin of the animal, provided that the:

e animalis not a fish

e animal was not bred by the supplier

e person being supplied takes receipt of the animal in Scotland
from the supplier of the animal or a person delivering the
animal on behalf of the supplier

Sale of animals as pets |Under the Regulations any person selling animals as pets in the
course of a business, selling animals with the expectation that they
will be resold as pets in the course of a business, keeping animals in
the course of a business with a view to them being sold as pets, or
keeping animals in the course of a business with a view them being
resold as pets must be licensed

25
Page 169




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 7.4

Regulatory Committee

2.00pm, Thursday 31 March 2022

Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance
Indicators as at 26 January 2022 —referral from the
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee

Executive/routine Executive
Wards
Council Commitments

1. For Decision/Action

1.1 The Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee has referred the attached report
to the Regulatory Committee for ongoing scrutiny of relevant overdue management
actions.

Richard Carr
Interim Executive Director of Corporate Services

Contact: Rachel Gentleman, Committee Officer

Legal and Assurance Division, Corporate Services
E-mail: rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk

Page 171 *€DINBVRGH?*

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL




Referral Report

Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance
Indicators as at 26 January 2022 —referral from the
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee

Terms of Referral

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

On 8 March 2022, the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee considered a
report on Internal Audit Overdue Findings and Key Performance Indicators as at 26
January 2022.

The Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee agreed:

2.2.1 To note the status of the overdue Internal Audit findings as at 26 January
2022;

2.2.2 To note the status of IA Key Performance Indicators for audits that were
either completed or in progress as at 26 January 2022;

2.2.3 To refer the report to the relevant Council committees for ongoing scrutiny of
their relevant overdue management actions;

2.2.4 To refer the report to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Audit and
Assurance Committee for information in relation to the current Health and
Social Care Partnership position.

Following requests for clarification on the specific Internal Audit overdue findings
that parent executive committees should focus on, an exercise has been completed
that maps the findings included in this report to the specific committee based on
their responsibilities detailed in the Council’s committee terms of reference.

This exercise has identified an anomaly as there is currently no linear relationship
between individual audit reports and committees, as it is possible for scrutiny of the
actions in one Internal Audit report to be allocated across a number of Committees.
For example, a review of Planning or Licensing could potentially result in
operational service delivery actions being allocated to the Planning Committee
and/or Regulatory Committee, with actions that relate to the ICT arrangements that
these teams use being allocated to the Finance and Resources Committee.

As part of preparations for the new Council following the May 2022 Local
Government elections, we will complete further work on this area to determine

Regulatory Committee — 31 March 2022 Page 172



whether there is a more effective way of ensuring a more linear allocation of
responsibility for executive committee and oversight of overdue IA actions.

2.6 Inthe meantime, the information provided to each committee is based upon the
allocation of agreed management actions in line with each committee’s current
terms of reference. A copy of the full report is also available online, with a link
include in the background section of this referred report for reference.

3. Background Reading/ External References

3.1  Minute of the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8 March 2022

3.2  Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8 March 2022 webcast

3.3 Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance Indicators as at 26 January
2023 — full report to GRBV Committee

4.  Appendices

Appendix 1 — report by the Chief Internal Auditor

Regulatory Committee — 31 March 2022 Page 173


https://edinburgh.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcast_interactive/653161
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s43203/8.1%20-%20Internal%20Audit%20Overdue%20Findings%20and%20Key%20Performance%20Indicators%20as%20at%2026%20January%202022.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s43203/8.1%20-%20Internal%20Audit%20Overdue%20Findings%20and%20Key%20Performance%20Indicators%20as%20at%2026%20January%202022.pdf

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee

10:00am, Tuesday, 8 March 2022

Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance
Indicators as at 26 January 2022

Iltem number

Executive/routine Executive
Wards

Council Commitments

1. Recommendations

1.1 It is recommended that the Committee:

1.1.1 notes the status of the overdue Internal Audit (1A) findings as at 26 January
2022;

1.1.2 notes the status of IA Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for audits that are
either completed or in progress as at 26 January 2022;

1.1.3 refers this paper to the relevant Council Executive committees for ongoing
scrutiny of their relevant overdue management actions; and,

1.1.4 refers this paper to the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Audit and
Assurance Committee for information in relation to the current Health and
Social Care Partnership position.

Lesley Newdall
Chief Internal Auditor
Legal and Assurance Division, Corporate Services Directorate

E-mail: lesley.newdall@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 0131 469 3216

*€DINBVRGH*

THE CITY OF EDINBURGH COUNCIL

Page 174


mailto:lesley.newdall@edinburgh.gov.uk

Report

Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance
Indicators as at 26 January 2022

Executive Summary

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

Progress with Closure of Open and overdue Internal Audit findings

The overall progress status for closure of overdue IA findings is currently red
(adverse trend with action required) as at 26 January 2022, based on the average
position across the last three months.

Whilst the total number of open and overdue IA findings and associated
management actions is decreasing (which is mainly attributable to delayed
completion of the 2021/22 IA annual plan), increasing trends in the proportion of
open IA findings that are overdue (KPI 3 in Appendix 1); the proportion of high rated
overdue findings (KPI 7); and the proportion of findings that are less than 90 days
overdue (KPI 8) are evident across the last three months, together with an increase
in the number of overdue management actions (KPI 14).

These increasing trends in the last month are partially offset by improvement in the
proportion of IA findings that are between three and six months overdue (KPI 10).

These outcomes confirm that further sustained focus is required on closure of
overdue findings, with action required to ensure that open findings that are not
overdue are closed by their originally agreed implementation dates.

Increased focus on closure of agreed management actions is evident following the
secondment of two IA team members into the Place Directorate and Health and
Social Care Partnership in October 2021. This is evident from increased levels of
discussion and engagement on both open and overdue actions, and an increase in
the volume of actions proposed for closure. However, as a number of the actions
are historic and also complex to resolve, the full impact should be more apparent in
the position at the end of February, with further progress evident by March

2022. Both secondments are currently scheduled to complete by 31 March 2022.

A reallocation of open and overdue findings and associated management actions
has been performed across directorates and services to ensure alignment with the
Council’'s refreshed organisational structure. This has resulted in an increased
number of findings and actions for the Place Directorate.

Page 2

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8|J_¥Iarch 20
age 175



2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

2.11

2.12

Further detail on the monthly trends in open and overdue findings is included at
Appendix 1.

Current position as at 26 January 2022

A total of 91 open IA findings remain to be addressed across the Council as 26
January 2022. This excludes open and overdue Internal Audit findings for the
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and the Lothian Pension Fund.

Of the 91 currently open IA findings:
29.1 a total of 42 (46%) are open, but not yet overdue;

2.9.2 49 (54%) are currently reported as overdue as they have missed the final
agreed implementation dates. This reflects an increase of 3% in
comparison to the November 2021 position (51%).

2.9.3 69% of the overdue findings are more than six months overdue, which
remains aligned with the November 2021 position (69%), with 18% aged
between six months and one year, and 51% more than one year overdue.

2.9.4 evidence in relation to 5 of the 49 overdue findings is currently being
reviewed by IA to confirm that it is sufficient to support closure; and,

2.9.5 44 overdue findings still require to be addressed.

The number of overdue management actions associated with open and overdue
findings where completion dates have been revised more than once since July 2018
is 39, reflecting a decrease of 5 when compared to the November 2021 position
(44). This excludes the two completion date extensions applied to reflect ongoing
Covid-19 impacts across the Council.

Annual Plan Delivery and Key Performance Indicators

IA Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to support effective delivery of the 2021/22 1A
annual plan confirm that action is required to ensure that services have greater
awareness of the KPIs that apply to the audit process (these are included as an
Appendix with each terms of reference) and engage proactively with A to ensure
that any potential impacts that could cause delays are identified and effectively
managed. Four IA training sessions were delivered during December that covered
these areas.

The KPIs also highlight areas where IA has not achieved their delivery timeframes.
Some delays have been experienced, and these are mainly attributable to the time
required to establish backfill support for IA secondments into Directorates, and
unplanned sickness absence within the team.

Background

Open and Overdue IA Findings and Agreed Management Actions

Page 3

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committe?:)— 8 Mar 2
age 176



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

Overdue findings arising from IA reports are reported monthly to the Corporate
Leadership Team (CLT) and quarterly to the GRBV Committee.

This report specifically excludes open and overdue findings that relate to the
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB) and the Lothian Pension Fund (LPF).
These are reported separately to the EIJB Audit and Assurance Committee and the
Pensions Audit Sub-Committee respectively.

Findings raised by IA in audit reports typically include more than one agreed
management action to address the risks identified. IA methodology requires all
agreed management actions to be closed in order to close the finding.

The IA definition of an overdue finding is any finding where all agreed management
actions have not been evidenced as implemented by management and validated as
closed by IA by the date agreed by management and IA and recorded in relevant IA
reports.

The IA definition of an overdue management action is any agreed management
action supporting an open IA finding that is either open or overdue, where the
individual action has not been evidenced as implemented by management and
validated as closed by IA by the agreed date.

Where management considers that actions are complete and sufficient evidence is
available to support IA review and confirm closure, the action is marked as
‘implemented’ by management on the IA follow-up system. When IA has reviewed
the evidence provided, the management action will either be ‘closed’ or will remain
open and returned to the relevant owner with supporting rationale provided to
explain what further evidence is required to enable closure.

A ‘started’ status recorded by management confirms that the agreed management
action remains open and that implementation progress ongoing.

A ‘pending’ status recorded by management confirms that the agreed management
action remains open with no implementation progress evident to date.

An operational dashboard has been designed to track progress against the key
performance indicators included in the 1A Journey Map and Key Performance
Indicators document that was designed to monitor progress of both management
and Internal Audit with delivery of the Internal Audit annual plan. The dashboard is
provided monthly to the Corporate Leadership Team and quarterly to the
Committee to highlight any significant delays that could potentially impact on
delivery of the annual plan.

Key Performance Indicator Dashboard

The IA key performance indicator dashboard has been reinstated for 2021/22 to
support delivery of the annual plan by both services and the 1A team; and prevent
delays in completion of audits and finalisation of the IA annual opinion.

Reintroduction of the KPIs supported by monthly reporting to the Corporate
Leadership Team and quarterly to the Committee will highlight any significant

Page 4

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8|J_¥Iarch 20
age £77



delays that could potentially impact on delivery of the annual plan, and is aligned
with the requirements of both the motion and addendum agreed at Committee in
August 2021 requesting that audits will be carried out in line with the timescales set
out in the agreed audit plan.

4. Main report
4.1  As at 26 January 2022, there are a total of 91 open IA findings across the Council
with 49 findings (54%) now overdue.
4.2  The movement in open and overdue IA findings during the period 5 November 2021
to 26 January 2022 is as follows:
Analysis of changes between 11/08/2021 and 05/11/2021
Position at Position at
os/11/21 | Added | Closed 26/01/22
Open 108 0 17 91
Overdue 55 9 15 49
Overdue Findings
4.3  The 49 overdue findings comprise 18 High; 27 Medium; and 4 Low rated findings.
4.4  However, IA is currently reviewing evidence to support closure of 5 of these findings
(2 High; 2 Medium; and 1 Low), leaving a balance of 44 overdue findings (16 High;
25 Medium; and 3 Low) still to be addressed.
Overdue findings ageing analysis
4.5 Figure 1 illustrates the ageing profile of all 49 overdue findings by rating across

directorates as at 26 January 2022.

Page 5

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committe?:)— 8 Mar 2
age 7%



Figl: Aged Overdue Findings by Ratings across
Directorates

Health & Social Care

9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
o N [ ] [
¢ & ¢ g 9 L g 2 L g & g
© S 5 o ke ® ke, 9 ® 9 ® 9 S
a c 2 a 2 a b > [ s o > £
& g & & & & 8 =
[J] o (0] Q [J] (] (] 6 O
) Y = = += ) hur} [
© 9] © © © © © T O
— — o o — s o c 'S
o = o o o o o © <
o () o Q <% <% Q o]
o o o o o o c n
o o o o o o o
o o o ] ] o s
o
=]
kel
w
0-30 days 30-60 days 60-90 days 180-365 days 365+ days

B High ® Medium B Low

4.6  The analysis of the ageing of the 49 overdue findings outlined below highlights that
Directorates made good progress last quarter with resolving findings between three

and six months overdue, as the proportion of these findings has decreased.

However, this is offset by limited improvement in the proportion of findings that are

more than six months overdue; and a significant increase in the proportion of
findings that are less than three months overdue.

e 13 (27%) are less than 3 months (90 days) overdue, in comparison to 13% as at

November 2021;

e 2 (4%) are between 3 and 6 months (90 and 180 days) overdue, in comparison

to 18% as at November 2021;

e 9 (18%) are between 6 months and one year (180 and 365 days) overdue, in

comparison to 16% as at November 2021; and

e 25 (51%) are more than one year overdue, in comparison to 53% as at
November 2021.

Agreed Management Actions Closed Based on Management’s Risk
Acceptance

4.7  During the period 6 November 2021 to 26 January 2022, three medium rated
management actions were closed on the basis that management has

retrospectively accepted either the full or residual elements of the risks highlighted

by IA in the original audit report.

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — SalgéheZOf% 9

Page 6



4.7.1 Council Wide Brexit Impacts Supply Chain Management — Divisional
and Directorate Supply Chain Management Risks (medium) — whilst
evidence has been provided confirming that work to identify critical suppliers
and supply chain risks and implement alternative supplier arrangements
(where required) has been completed for the majority of the Education and
Children’s Services directorate, the Estates and Operational Support division
has been unable to provide evidence to support implementation due to
operational constraints. This service area has now transitioned from
Education and Children’s Services into the Place Sustainable Development
division, who have confirmed that they are comfortable with this approach.

4.7.2 Cyber Security — Pubic Sector Action Plan — Cyber Essentials
Accreditation (medium) - management has accepted the risk that whilst
vulnerability scanning has now been implemented across all three Council
networks, it is not currently possible to confirm that vulnerabilities identified
are being effectively addressed by CGI.

Digital Services has not yet been able to provide evidence from CGI of
actions taken to address a sample of vulnerabilities identified, and is currently
relying on CGI updates included in reports provided to the Security Working
Group that vulnerabilities identified are being effectively remediated.

Management is also comfortable that the independent testing performed to
achieve Cyber Essentials plus accreditation provides adequate assurance on
network security, however this provides only ‘point in time’ assurance and
currently covers only the Corporate, and not the Learning and Teaching or
Peoples networks.

This remaining point will now be carried forward into the Technology and
Vulnerability Management audit included in the 2021/22 1A annual plan that is
currently in progress.

4.7.3 First Line Project Governance — Directorate Project Portfolio
Governance (medium) — this action included four points and three have
been fully completed.

Whilst a tiered governance approach that is proportionate to project values
and/or risks will be introduced across Directorates, with high profile projects
that do not meet the criteria for inclusion in the major projects portfolio
subject to governance at Directorate level; mid-tier projects by Heads of
Divisions; and low tier projects by Service Managers level; management has
risk accepted the risks associated with not establishing formal governance
forums to support ongoing oversight of these projects.

Agreed Management Actions Analysis

4.8 The 91 open IA findings are supported by a total of 218 agreed management
actions. Of these, 132 (61%) are overdue as the completion timeframe agreed with

Page 7
Governance, Risk and Best Value Committe?:)— 8 Mar 2
age ik o]



4.9

4.10

411

4.12

management when the report was finalised has not been achieved. This reflects a
7% decrease from the November 2021 position (54%).

Of the 132 overdue management actions, 23 have a status of ‘implemented’ and
are currently with 1A for review to confirm whether they can be closed, leaving a
balance of 109 to be addressed.

Appendix 2 provides an analysis of the 132 overdue management actions
highlighting their current status as at 26 January 2022 with:

. 23 implemented actions where management believe the action has been
completed and it is now with IA for validation;

« 94 started where the action is open, and implementation is ongoing; and

. 15 pending where the action is open with no implementation progress evident to
date.

. 3linstances (23%) where the latest implementation date has been missed and
not revised; and,

. 39 instances (30%) where the implementation date has been revised more than
once.

Figure 2 illustrates the allocation of the 132 overdue management actions across
Directorates, and the 23 that have been passed to IA for review to confirm whether
they can be closed.

Figure 2: Overdue and Implemented Management
Actions by Directorate

50

40

;

10 V-
0

. . Ay Overdue

A A A Implemented
Place Corporate Education Health & Chief
Services and Social Care Executive
Children's
Services
Implemented 2 20 0 1 0
W Overdue 50 37 16 26 3

IA Review of Agreed Management Actions

A total of five findings supported by 23 agreed management actions had been
proposed for closure as at 26 January 2022 and are currently with IA for review to
confirm whether they can be closed. Of these:

. 4 were proposed for closure in January 2022 and are currently being reviewed,;

. 4 were proposed for closure between 14 and 31 December and are currently
being reviewed by IA following return from Christmas leave.

Page 8

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8|J_¥Iarch 20
age 81



4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16
4.17

. 6 relate to either the Risk Management audit (completed by Azets) and the
GRBV Committee Effectiveness review (completed by the Institute of Internal
Auditors), and closure will be confirmed by these external organisations.

. Of the remaining 8, there are 2 where further action is required by IA. One
requires final IA management review and, an update to the service is due for
the remaining action.

With these two exceptions, IA has continued to achieve its established KPI for
reviewing all implemented management actions within four weeks of the date they
are proposed for closure by management. Consequently, this KPI has been
assessed as green (refer KPI18 in Appendix 1).

Where implementation dates longer than four weeks occur, these are supported by
feedback to management requesting either additional evidence or a discussion to
explain the context of the evidence provided. Where this is not provided by services
within a further four weeks, the status of the action is reverted to ‘started’ until the
further information requested is provided.

More Than One Revised Implementation Date

Figure 3 illustrates that there are currently 39 open management actions (including
those that are overdue) across directorates where completion dates have been
revised between two and six times since July 2018. This number excludes the two
automatic extensions applied by IA to reflect the impact of Covid-19.

This reflects a decrease of 9 in comparison to the position at November 2021 (48).

Of these 39 management actions, 23 are associated with High rated findings, and
16 Medium, with the majority of date revisions in the Place directorate.

Figure 3 - management actions with more than
one revised completion date since July 2018

OFRLrNWAUIOYN0 WO

Place Corporate Services Education and Children's Health & Social Care
Services

W High ™ Medium M Low

Page 9

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committeib— a{SgMéUTé&ZZ



4.18

Key Performance Themes Identified from the IA Dashboard

The dashboard included at Appendix 3 reflects the current status for the 2
completed audits and the 20 audits in progress where terms of reference detailing
the scope of the planned reviews have been issued. This highlights that:

4.18.1 Services are consistently taking longer than the 5-day KPI for feedback on
draft 1A terms of reference, with feedback received within the 5 days for
only 7 of the 22 audits.

4.18.2 Executive Directors are generally providing feedback on draft terms of
reference within the agreed 5-day response times. For Council wide audits
responses are not consistently received from all Executive Directors.

4.18.3 Delays with final agreement on terms of reference often result in audit
work commencing before the final terms of reference has been agreed
and issued to ensure ongoing plan delivery.

4.18.4 Internal Audit reporting delays for the Planning and Performance
Framework and Health and Safety audits were highlighted in the report
presented to Committee in September.

4.18.5 There have been significant delays in agreeing management responses
for the Planning and Performance Framework Design; Implementation of
Asbestos Recommendations; and Parking and Traffic Regulations draft
audit reports. 1A engaging with management to finalise these responses is
ongoing. It is acknowledged that some of these delays have been
attributable to handovers within the IA team following the secondment of
IA team members into directorates, and unplanned sickness absence
within the 1A team.

4.18.6 Completion of the Council Tax and Business Rates and Management and
Allocation of Covid-19 grant funding has been delayed reflecting service
capacity challenges caused by the introduction of new Scottish
Government Covid business grants.

5. Next Steps

5.1 1A will continue to monitor the open and overdues findings position and delivery
against key performance indicators, providing monthly updates to the CLT and
guarterly updates to the GRBVY Committee.

6. Financial impact

6.1 There are no direct financial impacts arising from this report, although failure to

close findings and address the associated risks in a timely manner may have some
inherent financial impact.

Page 10

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8|J_¥Iarch 20
age 183



7. Stakeholder/Community Impact

7.1  If agreed management actions supporting closure of Internal Audit findings are not
implemented, the Council will be exposed to the service delivery risks set out in the
relevant Internal Audit reports. Internal Audit findings are raised as a result of
control gaps or deficiencies identified during reviews therefore overdue items
inherently impact upon effective risk management, compliance and governance.

8. Background reading/external references

8.1 Internal Audit Overdue Findings and Key Performance Indicators as at 11 August
2021 — Paper 8.1

8.2  Capacity to Deliver the 2021/22 1A Annual Plan — Paper 8.3

8.3 Internal Audit Journey Map and Key Performance Indicators - Paper 7.6 Appendix 3

9. Appendices

9.1 Appendix 1 — Monthly Trend Analysis of IA Overdue Findings and Management
Actions

9.2  Appendix 2 — Internal Audit Overdue Management Actions as at 26 January 2022

9.3  Appendix 3 — Internal Audit Key Performance Indicators as at 26 January 2021

Page 11

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committeib— afngearTéﬂ_zz


https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=6131&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=6131&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=6132&Ver=4
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=138&MeetingId=2455&DF=15%2f01%2f2019&Ver=2

Appendix 1 - Monthly Trend Analysis of IA Overdue Findings and Management Actions

Key Performance Indicator Trend
(KPI) 07/07/2021 11/08/2021 23/09/2021 05/11/2021 06/12/2021 26/01/2022 -
IA Findings
1 Open findings 85 | 100% 96 | 100% 113 100% 108 | 100% 104 100% 91 | 100% | Not applicable
2 Not yet due 32| 38% 45 | 47% 64 57% 53| 49% 53 51% 42 | 46% | Not applicable
3 Overdue findings 53| 62% 51| 53% 49 43% 55| 51% 51 49% 49 | 54%
4 Overdue - IA reviewing 8| 15% 3 6% 9 18% 5 9% 6 12% 51 10%
5 High Overdue 18 | 34% 17 | 33% 16 33% 17 | 31% 16 31% 18 | 37%
6 Medium Overdue 29 | 55% 28 | 55% 29 59% 31| 56% 29 57% 27 | 55%
7 Low Overdue 6| 11% 6| 12% 4 8% 7| 13% 6 12% 4 8%
8 <90 days overdue 9| 17% 9| 18% 6 12% 7| 13% 8 16% 13 | 27%
9 90-180 days overdue 3 6% 2 4% 6 12% 10| 18% 5 10% 2 4%
10 | 180-365 days overdue 15 | 28% 13 | 25% 11 22% 9| 16% 12 24% 9| 18%
11 | >365 days overdue 26 | 49% 27 | 53% 26 53% 29| 53% 26 51% 25| 51%
Management Actions
12¢30pen actions 218 | 100% 233 | 100% 277 | 100% 259 | 100% 245 100% 218 | 100% | Not applicable
13 |_:\Not yet due 83| 38% 103 | 44% 154 56% 118 | 46% 117 48% 86 | 39% | Not applicable
14 EQOverdue actions 135 | 62% 130 | 56% 123 44% 141 | 54% 128 52% 132 | 61%
15 | Overdue - IA reviewing 28 | 21% 17 | 13% 35 28% 28 | 20% 18 14% 23| 17%
16 | Latest date missed 43 | 32% 70 | 54% 52 42% 34| 24% 35 27% 31| 23%
17 | Date revised > once 51| 38% 48 | 37% 46 37% 44 | 31% 45 35% 39| 30%
18 | IA 4 week response time N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Trend Analysis - key

Adverse trend - action required

Stable with limited change

‘ Positive trend with progress evident
No trend analysis is performed on open findings and findings not yet due as these numbers will naturally increase when new IA reports are finalised.




Appendix 2 - Internal Audt Overdue Management Actions as at 6 December 2021

Glossary of Terms

Executive Committee — This is the relevant Executive Committee that should have oversight of completion of agreed management actions

Project Name - This is the name of the audit report.

Issue Type — This is the priority of the audit finding, categorised as Critical; High; Medium; or Low
Issue Title - this is the titel of the issue in the Origina IA Report

Recommendation Title - this is the title of the recommendation in the original IA report
. Agreed Management action — This is the action agreed between Internal Audit and Management to address the finding.

1
2
3
3
4.  Owner — The Executive Director responsible for implementation of the action.
5
6
7

. Status — This is the current status of the management action. These are categorised as:
Pending (the action is open and there has been no progress towards implementation),
Started (the action is open, and work is ongoing to implement the management action), and
Implemented (the service area believes the action has been Implemented and this is with Internal Audit for validation).

8. Estimated date — the original agreed implementation date.

9. Revised date — the current revised date. Red formatting in the dates field indicates the last revised date is overdue.
10. Number of revisions — the number of times the date has been revised since July 2018. Amber formatting in this field highlights where the date has been revised more than once.
11. Contributor — Officers involved in implementation of an agreed management action.

It should be noted that measure are in place to ensure that no application is progressed without the required fee
being reconciled. This reflects the statutory process and the need to ensure that the Council treats applications
for a renewal lawfully unless the reconciliation process can evidence a payment has not been made. There is
no evidence from directorate monitoring the level of income from HMOs licence applications which would
demonstrate that fees are not being collected. Any unmatched fee not identified will in effect contribute to the
Council’s general revenue account and therefore there is no financial loss to the Council. The Internal Audit
Regulatory . . . PL1803 Issue 2 - Collection and |Paul Lawrence, Executive |PL1803 Issue 2.1 BACs |[recommendation outlined above is not accepted as it not believed to be achievable. Therefore Licencing;
27 ) HMO Licensing High . ) ) X . o . . . . . . ) Started 30/03/20
Committee processing of HMO licence fees |Director of Place payment reference Customer; and Finance will investigate potential solutions re the BACS issue, (including any potential scope for
a technology solution) to address this risk. These options will be reviewed with Internal Audit and a longer term
solution identified and implemented. It has been agreed with Internal Audit that (once the solution has been
identified) another audit finding will be raised that will monitor implementation of the solution to confirm that it is
o operating effectively. In the meantime, a statement will be added to the Licencing pages on the Council's
) external website and application forms advising customers of what reference must be used to successfully
R make a BACs payment.
9]
[SRY The Regulatory Committee were previously advised that HMO performance data would be excluded whilst the
Qo PL1803 Issue 3.6 HMO [Licencing introduced the significant change of moving towards a three-year licensing system. Performance
28 Negulatory HMO Licensin Medium PL1803 Issue 3 - Operational Paul Lawrence, Executive |Key Performance reports therefore only included Civic and Taxi data in the period 2015-2018. Licencing will be reporting to Started 31/01/20
Committee 9 Performance and Reporting Director of Place Indicators and Regulatory Committee on the first cycle of three-year licencing for HMO'’s prior to the setting of Licensing Fees
Performance Reporting [for 2020/21 in early 2020. The Directorate will include within that report relevant performance data and make
recommendations for approval for performance targets ongoing performance targets.
The Licensing Service processes approximately 21,000 applications per annum and the Internal Audit sample
CW1803 Rec. 4.1 - reviewed represents approximately 1% of the overall number of applications.Internal procedures will be
CW1803 Payments and Charges . - h ) . - ) -
Regulatory . R . Paul Lawrence, Executive |Procedures supporting |reviewed to ensure that that they adequately cover the issues raised and all staff will receive refresher training
45 . Payments and Charges Medium |Issue 4: Processing and . . } ) : s L Started 20/12/19
Committee . - ) Director of Place processing and to reinforce the importance of consistent application of the procedures.Longer term upgrades to the APP Civica
recording Licensing Fees T . . - L : - .
recording licencing fees [Licensing system should also offer enhanced capability with mandatory sections for each licence type
processed.
PL2003
. . PL2003 Issue 1: Refresh and . Recpmmendatlon L4 A review of 26 current Standard Operating and Administration Procedures is underway and is expected to by
Regulatory Registration and . S L Paul Lawrence, Executive |Review of Bereavement o . L . p .
63 . ) Medium |application of Policies and : : ) complete within 6 months. Once complete all Standard Operating and Administration Procedures will be Pending 31/12/21
Committee Bereavement Services Director of Place Services Operating and . .
Procedures e : reviewed on a three-year basis.
Administration
Procedures

31/03/22

Alison Coburn
Andrew Mitchell
David Givan
George Gaunt
Grace McCabe
Isla Burton
Matthew MacArthur
Peter Watton
Ross Murray

Alison Coburn
Andrew Mitchell
David Givan
George Gaunt
Grace McCabe
Isla Burton
Matthew MacArthur
Peter Watton

Ross Murray

Alison Coburn
Andrew Mitchell
David Givan
Gavin Brown
George Gaunt
Matthew MacArthur
Nicky Brown

Peter Watton

Ross Murray
Sandra Harrison

Alison Coburn
Gareth Barwell
Jane Matheson
Matthew MacArthur
Rik Corrigan
Robbie Beattie
Ross Murray




Directorate

Corporate Services

Corporate Services

Corporate Services

Corporate Services

Corporate Services
Corporate Services

Corporate Services
Corporate Services
Corporate Services

Co rporat@e rvices

Q
Council We
Council .@e
Council W’rJe

Council Wide
Council Wide

Council Wide

Education &
Childrens Svs

Education &
Childrens Svs

Place
Place
Place

Place

Appendix 3 - Internal Audit Key Performance Indicators as at 26 January 2022

Date
Audit Title Audit Report Workshop Mgt

Progress

Termsof Termsof Close out
Reference Reference meeting
<=5days I1A<=10 after
Response <= Response after days post report
5 days post <=5days fieldwork close out issued

n issue - post |sst= completﬂ meetlnn -

Complete

Service Director agreed <=

workshop

Elections in Covid Environment - design review

Design of the Scottish Local Government Living Wage

Complete
Requirements P

Council Tax and Business Rates Fieldwork

Cyber Security - technology vulnerability management = Planning

CGI performance reporting Planning

Capital Budget Setting and Management
Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard
Compliance

Planning
Planning

Employee Lifecycle Data and

. i Reportin
Compensation and Benefits Processes 2 g

Planning and Performance Framework design review | Reporting

r
Digital and Smart City Strategy Reporting

v

Fraud and Serious Organised Crime Fieldwork
v
Impl tati f Whistleblowi d Child
mp emAen ation o is -e owing an i Fieldwork
Protection Recommendations
r
Employee wellbeing Planning
r
Complaints Management Planning

r
Management and Allocation of Covid-19 grant funding | Planning
r
Reporting

4

Health and Safety - Implementation of asbestos
recommendations

Criminal Justice Fieldwork

Early Years Education and Alignment with End Poverty i
Delivery Plan

Planning - householder applications and use of

Uniform system

Planning
Fieldwork

The Management of Development Funding Fieldwork

Housing Property Services Repairs Management Planning Not yet due 0 0 0 0 0 0

_ °

Parking and Traffic Regulations

days post
5 days post management
response

<= 3 days
from
receipt

- approvﬁ

n/a

n/a

<=5 days
post
director

Final Draft to Director Final report Team Central
issued by <=5 days responses Directors <=5 approval issued by IA updated by
IA <=5 days

Comments

Final report issued 31.5.21

Final report issued on 28.10.21.

Fieldwork extended reflecting current resouring impacts on the
Custmer team

Delayed response on ToR was due to Christmas leave

Fieldwork ongoing - awaiting information from HR

Ongoing Engagement with Head of Service and Exec Direct on
management responses.

Currently finalising management responses with the service.

Not all areas responded on draft ToR. Fieldwork delayed due to
sickeness absence in key team.

In fieldwork

Fieldwork completion will be delayed reflecting pressures on
Customer with Business Grants

No response received from Exec Direct Place on ToR. Ongoing
engagement with services on mgt responses.

In fieldwork

Reminder sent 17/1/22 for ToR issued 7 December

Final ToR issued on 13.01.22. Delays with receipt of information
from service due to sickness absence.

Responses on Terms of Reference due 28/1/22

Ongoing engagement with service re management responses

Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee — 8 March 2022

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4.1 Minute of 28.02.22
	7.1 Air Weapons and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2015 – Sexual Entertainment Venues – Proposed Resolution, Policy and Conditions – Update
	7.2 Short Term Lets: New Licensing Powers Consultation
	7.3 Animal Welfare Regulations
	7.4 Internal Audit: Overdue Findings and Key Performance Indicators as at 26 January 2022 - Referral from the Governance, Risk and Best Value Committee
	Appendices Regulatory.pdf
	Report & App 1.pdf
	20210209_CLT_GRBV IA Open and Overdues as at 260122_Approved
	20220209_CLT_GRBV Appendix 2 IA Open and Overdue Actions






